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PUBLISHER’S NOTE

We had the honour of presenting to the public Netaji Subhas
Chandra Bose’s autobiography, ‘‘An Indian Pilgrim’’ on the
occasion of his 52nd Birth Anniversary, i.e. 28rd January, 1948.
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of the oppressed peoples of South-East Asia and especially of the
Indians there against Imperialism and for Freedom and Democracy.
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““The Indian Struggle”.

““The Indian Struggle’ has a stormy past. It was written by
Netaji in Europe during his exile. He was forced to complete it
hurriedly in the latter part of November, 1984 when he decided
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at the bedside of his dying father. When on the 8rd December,
1984 he touched the Karachi Airport he was taken into custody
and the original manuscript of the book, which he was carrying
with him, seized. The book, however, was published in London
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Romain Rolland’s Appreciation

Villeneuve (Vaud),Villa Olga,
February 22,1935,

Dear Mr. Subhas C. Bose,

I duly received your volume ‘‘The Indian
Struggle 1920-34'’, which you were good enough
to send me. I thank you for it and congratulate
on it heartily. So interesting seemed the book
to us that I ordered another copy so that my
wife and sister should have one each. It is an
indispensable work for the history of the Indian
Movement. In it you show the best qualities of
the historian : lucidity and high equity of
mind. Rarely it happens that a man of action
as you are is apt to judge without party spirit.

. . We, the men of thought, must each of
us fight against the temptation, that befalls us
in moments of fatigue and unsettledness, of
repairing to a world beyond the battle called
either God, or Art, or independence of Spirit,
or those distant regions of the mystic soul.
But fight we must, our duty lies on this side of
the ocean, on the battle-ground of men. . .

1 sincerely wish that your health will
speedily recover for the good of India that is

in need of you and 1 beg you to believe in my
cordial sympathy.






PREFACE

Many are the defects that will be found in this book.
It was written in great haste and at a time when my
health was far from satisfactory. As a matter of fact,
owing to reasons of ill-health, the completion of the
manuscript was delayed beyond all anticipation.

Difficulty in getting necessary papers and books of
reference was a serious handicap to me. If I had been
in India or even in England, at the time of writing, my
task would have been much easier. In the circum-
stances, I had no option but to draw largely from my
memory. After the completion of the manuscript
some interesting developments have taken place—for
example, the meeting of the plenary Session of the Con-
gress at Bombay towards the end of October, 1984,
elections to the Indian Legislative Assembly, the
publication of the Report of the Joint Parliamentary
Committee, etc. While revising the proofs, I have
attempted to make certain additions, with a view to
bringing the book up to date.

A further misfortune has been that even the finish-
ing touches to the book could not be given at leisure.
While engaged in this task I have had to rush through
my work in order to start for India at once, owing to
urgent private reasons. .

This book has been written by one who has played
an intimate part in the struggle which he has narrated
and who is expected to continue the same work. It is
therefore to be hoped that the narrative will prove to
be interesting and will incidentally help to interpret
the Indian struggle to the foreign observer. If this
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purpose is achieved in however small a measure, my
labours will not prove to be in vain.

In conclusion, I have to express my thanks to
Friulein E. Schenkl, who assisted me in writing this
book and to all those friends who have been of help to
me in many ways.

Hotel de France,
Vienna.

November 29th, 1984.
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INTRODUCTION
8§ 1. TaE BackGrounDp oF INDIAN PoLiTy

It is only during the last three decades that attempts
have been made to give a true picture of the history
of India since the earliest times. Prior to that it was
customary for British historians to ignore the pre-
British era of Indian history. Since they were the first
to interpret political India to modern Europe, it was
but natural that modern Europe should think of India
asa land where independent ruling chiefs had been
fighting perpetually among themselves until the British
arrived and after conquering the land, proceeded to
establish peace and order and bring the country under
one political administration.

In order to understand India, however, it is essen-
tial to bear in mind at the outset two important facts.
Firstly, the history of India has to be reckoned not in
decades or in centuries, but in thousands of years.
Secondly, it is only under British rule that India for
the first time in her history has begun to feel that she
has been conquered. Owing to her long history and
to the vastness of her territory, India has passed
through various vicissitudes of fortune. Neither for the
individual nor for the nation is it possible to have an un-
interrupted career of progress and prosperity. Conse-
quently there have been in the course of India’s history
periods of progress and prosperity followed by intervals
of decay and even chaos and the former have been always
characterised by a very high level of culture and civilisa-
tion. Only through ignorance or through prejudice
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could one assert that under British rule India began
to experience for the first time what political unity was.
As a matter of fact, though for reasons of expediency
India has been brought under one political administra-
tion by Great Britain and English has been enforced on
the people everywhere as the state language, no pains
have been spared to divide the people more and more.
If there is nevertheless a powerful nationalist move-
ment in the country today and a strong sense of unity,
it is due entirely to the fact that the people have for
the first time in their history begun to feel that they
have been conquered and simultaneously they have
begun to realise the deplorable effects—both cultural
and material—which follow in the wake of political
servitude.

Though geographically, ethnologically and histori-
cally India presents an endless diversity to any observer
—there is none the less a fundamental unity underlying
this diversity. But as Mr. Vincent A. Smith has
said : ‘European writers as a rule have been more
conscious of the diversity than of the unity of India. . . .
India beyond all doubt possesses a deep underlying
fundamental unity, far more profound than that pro-
duced either by geographical isolation or by political
suzerainty. That unity transcends the innumerable
diversities of blood, colour, language, dress, manners
and sect.”’ Geographically, India seems to be cut out
from the rest of the world as a self-contained unit.
Bounded on the north by the mighty Himalayas and
surrounded on both sides by the endless ocean, India
affords the best example of a geographical unit. The
ethnic diversity of India has never been a problem—for

! Vincent A. Smith, The Oxford History of India, Introduction p. 10.
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throughout her history she has been able to absorb dif-
ferent races and impose on them one common culture
and tradition. The most important cementing factor
has been the Hindu religion. North or South, East or
West, wherever you may travel, you will find the same
religious ideas, the same culture and the same tradi-
tion. All Hindus look upon India as the Holy Land.
The sacred rivers like the sacred cities are distributed
all over the country. If as a pious Hindu you have to
complete your round of pilgrimage, you will have to
travel to Setubandha-Rameswara in the extreme south
and to Badrinath in the bosom of the snow-capped
Himalayas in the north. The great teachers who want-
ed to convert the country to their faith had always to
tour the whole of India and one of the greatest of them,
Shankaracharya, who flourished in the eigthth century
A.D., built four ‘Ashramas’ (monasteries) in four corn-
ers of India, which flourish to this day. Everywhere
the same scriptures are read and followed and the epics,
the Mahabharata and the Ramayana, are equally popu-
lar wherever you may travel. With the advent of the
Mohammedans, a new synthesis was gradually worked
out. Though they did not accept the religion of the
Hindus, they made India their home and shared in the
common social life of the people—their joys and their
sorrows. Through mutual co-operation, a new art and
a new culture was evolved which was different from the
old but which nevertheless was distinctly Indian. In
architecture, painting, music—new creations were made
which represented the happy blending of the two
streams of culture. Moreover, the administration of
the Mohammedan rulers left untouched the daily life

! These and other facts and arguments will be found in Prof. Radha
Kumud Mookherji’s The Fundamental Unity of India (Longmans, 1914),
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of the people and did not interfere with local self-govern-
ment based on the old system of village communities.
With British rule, however, there came a new religion,
a new culture and a new civilisation which did not want
to blend with the old but desired to dominate the
country completely. The British people, unlike the
invaders of old, did not make India their home. They
regarded themselves as birds of passage and looked upon
India as the source of raw materials and as the market
for finished goods. Moreover, they endeavoured to imi-
tate the autocracy of the Mohammedan rulers without
following their wise policy of complete non-interference
in local affairs. The result of this was that the Indian
people began to feel for the first time in their history
that they were being dominated culturally, politically
and economically by a people who were quite alien to
them and with whom they had nothing whatsoever in
common. Hence the magnitude of the revolt against
the British domination of India.

In order to study the present political movement in
India with the proper perspective, it is necessary to
make a brief survey of the development of political
thought and of political institutions in the past. The
civilisation of India dates back to 8000 B.C., if not
earlier, and since then, there has been on the whole a re-
markable continuity of culture and civilisation. This
undisturbed continuity is the most significant feature
of Indian history and it incidentally explains the vitality
of the people and of their culture and civilisation. The
latest archzological excavations at Mohenjodaro and
Harappa in North-Western India prove unmistakably
that India had reached a high level of civilisation as early
as 8000 B.C., if not earlier. This was probably before
the Aryan conquest of India. It is too early to say
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what light these excavations throw on contemporary
political history, but since the Aryan conquest of India,
more facts and historical materials are available. In
the earliest Vedic literature there is reference to non-
monarchical forms of government. Where these existed,
tribal democracy prevailed. In those days, ‘Grama’
(or village) was the smallest and ‘Jana’ (or tribe) was
the highest social and political organisation among the
Vedic communities.” In the later Epic literature, the
Mahabharata for example, there is clear reference to re-
publican forms of government.” 'There is also evidence
that since the earliest times popular assemblies used to
be held in connection with public administration.
Throughout the Vedic literature one finds reference to
two kinds of assembly—the Sabha and the Samiti (also
called Samgati or Samgrama). The ‘Sabha’ has been
interpreted to mean the advisory council of the selected
few, while ‘Samiti’ has been interpreted as a gathering
of the entire community. The ‘Samiti’ met on impor-
tant occasions like royal coronations, times of war or
national calamity, ete.’

In the next stage of political development one
notices a distinct tendency towards the growth of
monarchical power following the expansion of Aryan
influence and domination in India. At this time there
would be frequent wars between the independent states
flourishing in Northern India, with a view to obtaining
supremacy. The issue of these wars would be not

! Development of Hindu Polity and Political Theories by Narayan Chandra
Bandyopadhyaya, p. 60, published by Chuckerverty Chatterjee & Co. Ltd.,
15 College Square, Calcutta.

*K. P. Jayaswal, Republics in the Mahabharata (J. O. and B. Res.
Soc., Vol. 1, pp. 178-8).

3 Development of Hindu Polity and Political Theories by Narayan
Chandra Bandyopadhyaya, pp. 115-118.
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political annexation but acceptance of the overlordship
of the victor by the vanquished parties. The victorious
king would be called ‘Chakravartin’ or ‘Mandaleswara,’
and elaborate ceremonies—‘Rajasuya’ or ‘Vajapeya’ or
‘Aswamedha’—would be held to celebrate such vic-
tories. This tendency towards the centralisation of
authority grew stronger during the Vedic and Epic
periods of Indian history till from the sixth century
B.C. the movement for the political unification of India
took definite shape. This movement reached its fulfil-
ment during the next era—namely the Buddhistic or
Maurya period—when the Maurya emperors were able
to unify India politically for the first time and estab-
lish an empire.

After the retreat of Alexander the Great from India,
Chandragupta Maurya founded his empire in 322 B.C.
About this time and also later on, there were many re-
publics in India. The Malavas, Kshudrakas, Lichchha-
vis and other tribes had republican constitutions. Mr.
K. P. Jawaswal in his book Hindu Polity gives a long
list of such republics. There is no doubt that when
India was unified politically under one emperor, these
republics continued to flourish as autonomous states
recognising the suzerainty of one emperor. Besides,
the popular assembly was a well-established institution
during this period of Indian history. The greatest of
the Maurya emperors was Asoka, the grandson of
Chandragupta, who ascended the throne about 278
B.C. Asoka’s empire embraced not only modern
India but also Afghanistan, Beluchistan and a portion
of Persia. Under the Maurya emperors, public ad-
ministration reached a high level of efficiency. The
military organisation was perfect for that age. The
government was divided into separate departments



INTRODUCTION 15

under different ministers. The municipal administra-
tion of the capital, Pataliputra, near modern Patna, was
also creditable. In short, the whole country was poli-
tically unified for the first time under one sound adminis-
tration. And when Asoka accepted Buddhism, the
entire state machinery became the handmaid of the-
Buddhistic faith. Not being contented with political
sovereignty or with propagating Buddhism within the
limits of his empire, Asoka sent missionaries to all parts
of Asia—from Japan on one side to Turkey on the
other—to preach the lofty tenets of Buddhism. This
period has been regarded by many people as the Golden
Age of Indian history, when there was a uniform and
all-round progress in every department of life.

After some time decay set in and there was an inter-
val of chaos—religious, cultural and political. Largely
because of its exaggerated asceticism, Buddhism lost its
hold on the Indian people and there was a revival of
Brahmanical Hinduism. On the philosophical side, the
Vedanta philosophy which was first propounded in the
Upanishads, was restored to its pride of place. Social-
ly, there was a revival of the caste-system and a new
breath of realism took the place of the morbid asceticism
of the later-day Buddhists. Political anarchy was end-
ed through the rise of the Gupta Empire which flourish-
ed in the fourth and fifth centuries A.D. The greatest
of the Gupta emperors was Samudragupta who ascend-
ed the throne in A.D. 880. During the Gupta period,
the country was not only unified politically but art, liter-
ature and science flourished® and once again reached the

! An impartial observer like the Greek Megasthenes bears testimony
to the above facts.

? Impartial testimony is borne ‘this time by the Chinese piligrim and
traveller Fa-hien.
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high-water mark of excellence. This renaissance took
place under the influence of Brahmanical Hinduism and
this period is therefore regarded by orthodox Hindus as
a more glorious age than the preceding Buddhistic
period. As under the Maurya emperors, India once
‘again had active contact, both cultural and com-
mercial, with Asia and also with some countries in
Europe, like Rome. After the fifth century the pol-
tical power of the Gupta emperors came to an end
but the cultural renaissance continued unabated till
once again it reached its peak in A.D. 640, when
under King Harsha the country was once again unified
politically.

This did not last very long and after some time, once
again signs of decline appeared. Then there appeared
a new element in Indian history—the Mohammedan
invaders. Their raids into the heart of India began as
early as the tenth century A.D. but it took them some
time ta conquer the country. Mohammed Bin Tugh-
lak succeeded for the first time in bringing a large por-
tion of the country under one rule in the fourteenth
century but it was reserved for the Moghul kings to
unify the country and usher in a new era of all-round
progress. During the sixteenth and seventeenth cen-
tury under the rule of the Moghul emperors, India once
again reached the pinnacle of progress and prosperity.
The greatest of them was Akbar, who ruled in the latter
half of the sixteenth century. The great merit of
Akbar was not only the political unification of the
country, but what was perhaps more important, the
working out of a new cultural synthesis—in order to
reconcile the new stream of culture with the old—and

! Sindh was conquered in the eightli century but this remained ‘as an
isolated phenomenon.
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evolve a new culture. The state machinery which he
built up was also based on the whole-hearted co-opera-
tion of the Hindu and Mohammedan communities.
The last great emperor among the Moghuls was
Aurangzeb who died in 1707 and after his death the
empire began slowly to break up.

From the above historical narrative it will be evident
that democratic republican forms of government existed
in India in the ancient times. They were usually based
on a homogeneous tribe or caste. In the Mahabharata
these tribal democracies are known as ‘Ganas’.” Besides
these full-fledged republics, in monarchical states also,
the people enjoyed a large measure of liberty, as the
king was virtually a constitutional monarch. This fact
which has been consistently ignored by British
historians has now been fully established through the
researches of Indian historians. Besides political mat-
ters, in other matters also, the people enjoyed a large
measure of liberty.

Indian literature from the earliest times abounds in
references to public bodies called ‘Paura’ and ‘Jana-
pada’. The former correspond to our modern munici-
palities—while the latter probably mean non-urban
public bodies of some sort. Moreover, owing to the
existence of caste, the people were self-governing in
social matters, through a system of caste-democracy
under the control of a ‘Panchayat’.® There were popu-
lar ‘Panchayats’ in India since the oldest times, not

! Akbar even attempted to bring about a synthesis of religions. He
evolved a new religion on an eclectic basis and called it ‘Din Ilahi’. He
had many supporters during his lifetime but after his death the new reli-
gion lost all following.

3 As late as 1927 the writer has personally seen such institutions flourish-
ing among the Khasi tribe in Assam in North-East India.

3 Panchayat, which literally means a committee of five, is a very ancient
institution.
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only for carrying on the village administration—but also
for administering the caste-regulations and maintaining
discipline within the caste. Throughout the succeed-
ing Buddhistic period the people enjoyed large self-
governing powers. During this period, the ‘assembly’
and the ‘vote’ were popular institutions. The advent
of Maurya imperialism did not encroach on these powers
nor did it destroy the republics which still continued to
flourish. The Empire of the Guptas and of Harsha
proceeded on the same lines. Under the Mohammedan
rulers, though there was unbridled autocracy, the Cen-
tral Government rarely interfered in provincial or local
affairs. The governor of a ‘Suba’ or a province was of
course appointed by the Emperor, but as long as reve-
nue was regularly sent into the imperial coffers, the pro-
vincial administration was not interfered with in any
way. Though occasionally a fanatical ruler would at-
tempt proselytisation, on the whole the people enjoyed
complete freedom in religious, cultural and social affairs,
no matter who occupied the throne at Delhi. British
historians are without exception guilty of overlooking
this fact and when they loosely talk of despotism to
which orientals are accustomed, they forget that behind
this cloak of despotism, the people enjoyed a large mea-
sure of real liberty, which they have been denied under
British rule. Both before and after the Aryan con-
quest of India, autonomous village institutions have
_been a consistent feature of the public life of India. This
is true as much of the Aryan kingdoms of the north of
the Tamil kingdoms of the south. But under British
rule these institutions have been destroyed and the long
arm of the bureaucracy stretches into the remotest

' In this connmection it is worth while studying the Chola Kingdom of
South India of the tenth and twelfth century A. D.
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villages. There is not one square foot of land where the
people feel that they are free to manage their own
affairs. With regard to political literature also, ancient
India has much to boast of. The Mahabharata is a
storehouse of knowledge and information for the student
of political science. The IDharma Sastras also, with
a mass of subsidiary literature, are of immense value.
But most interesting of all is Arthashastra of Kautilya
which probably belongs to the fourth century B.C.
To resume the thread of our narrative, with the gra-
dual disruption of the Moghul Empire, the question
arose as to which power would take its place. About
this time, two indigenous powers made a bid for
supremacy—the Mahratta power from Central India
and the Sikh power from the north-west. The Mahra-
tta power was consolidated by Sivaji (1627-80) who
was great as a general and great also as a ruler. After his
death the Mahratta power flourished till the end of the
eighteenth century. Its expansion was checked in
1761 A.D. at the third battle of Panipat, where the
Mahrattas were defeated, and it was finally overthrown
in 1818 by the British. Though Mahratta rule was
based on benevolent despotism it could boast of a highly
efficient army and an excellent civil administration.
The Sikh power was consolidated by Maharaja Ranjit
Singh (1780-1889), who during his lifetime built up a
fine army and an excellent civil administration. But
after his death, no one with equal ability could take’his
place and when war broke out between the Sikhs and
the British, the former were overthrown. Unfortun-
ately for India, while she was going through a period
of political anarchy and was attempting to evolve a new
social and political order, she became the sport of the
European powers. The Portuguese, the Dutch, the
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French and the British came in succession. Each of
them, not content with carrying on trade or preaching
religion, tried to wrest political power from the warring
chieftains. In the long run a lively struggle took place
between the French and the British. Luck favoured
the latter. Moreover, British diplomacy was more
astute and their strategy more clever—while their Home
Government gave them greater support than did France
to her nationals. The French made South India the
base of their operations and attempted to dominate
India from the south. The British following historical
precedent operated from the north, after seizing
Bengal, and were more successful than the French.

After going through the pages of Indian history,
chapter by chapt.:r, we can draw the following general
conclusions :

(1) A period of rise has been followed by a
period of decline, to be followed again by a
new upheaval.

(2) The decline is the result chiefly of physical
and intellectual fatigue.

(8) Progress and fresh consolidation has been
brought about by an influx of new ideas and
sometimes an infusion of fresh blood.

(4) Every new epoch has been heralded by
people possessing greater intellectual power
and superior military skill.

(5) Throughout Indian history all foreign ele-
ments have always been slowly absorbed by
Indian society. The British are the first
and the only exception to this.

(6) In spite of changes in the Central Govern-
ment, the people have all along been accus-
tomed to a large measure of real liberty.
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§ II. LanpMmMArRes IN BriTisH Rure IN INpiA

England first obtained her foothold in India through
the East India Company. This company received a
Royal Charter which conferred large powers in the mat-
ter of trade monopoly, acquisition of territory, etc. The
East India Company succeeded in establishing itself in
India towards the beginning of the seventeenth century
as a trading concern. Gradually friction arose between
the Company and the local Indian rulers of the day.
And this led in some places, as Bengal, to armed con-
flict. During the course of one of these conflicts the
then ruler of Bengal, Nawab Sirajudowla, was defeated
by the combined forces of the Company and the Indian
renegades who conspired against him. This was prac-
tically the beginning of the political conquest of India.
A few years later, in 1765, the Emperor Shah Alam of
Delhi, who was then the nominal ruler of India, granted
the Dewani of Bengal, Bihar and Orissa to the East
India Company. The grant of the Dewani meant that
the entire revenue and financial administration of these
areas passed into the hands of the Company. Thus the
East India Company, while being a trading concern,
became an administrative body as well. During the
course of the next few years, there were complaints
about the corruption and maladministration of the Com-
pany’s officials. In 1778, therefore, an Act was passed,
called Lord North’s Regulation Act, which provided for
governmental control over the policy and administration
of the East India Company. The principal administra-
tive change introduced with the passing of the Act
was that the three Presidencies of Bengal, Bombay and
Madras, which had been independent of one another,
were brought under a Governor-General who with the
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help of four councillors was to rule over all the territories,
his headquarters being in Bengal. There were mani-
fold defects in the new system introduced and in addi-
tion to that, there were serious complaints of corruption
against the administration of the Governor-General,
Warren Hastings. After some time, therefore, another
Act called Pitt’s India Act was passed in 1784
which provided for a Board of Control. There were
cabinet ministers on this board and the entire operations
of the East India Company were brought under its con-
trol. The appointment of a Board of Control, compos-
ed partly of cabinet ministers, eventually led to the
establishment of the supremacy of the British Parlia-
ment over India.

The East India Company had to renew its charter
from time to time. The Charter Act of 1838 introduc-
ed a remarkable change in the status and function of
the Company. With the passing of this Act, the East
India Company ceased to exist as a trading concern and
became a purely political and administrative body, gov-
erning India on behalf of the British Crown. According
to the provisions of the Act, the direction of the entire
civil and military administration and the sole power of
legislation were vested in the Governor-General in Coun-
cil. Twenty years later, that is in 1853, when the Charter
Act was renewed, the Control of the Government over
the Company was further strengthened. The Act re-
quired that one-third of the members of the Court of
Directors of the Company should be nominated by the
Crown. So far as India was concerned, further admi-
nistrative changes were made. Bengal was made a
separate province under a Lieutenant-Governor and the
Government of India was thereby separated from the
provincial governments. The Act also provided for a
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Legislative Council for India consisting of twelve
members, all of whom were, however, to be officials.
During the discussions in the House of Commons in
connection with the renewal of the Charter in 1853,
John Bright spoke strongly against the Company’s
administration, which he said had ‘introduced an incre-
dible amount of disorder and corruption into the state
and poverty and wretchedness among the people’. He
demanded that the Crown should assume direct respon-
sibility for the administration in India. The advice was
not heeded and a few years later the revolution (called
by English historians the *Sepoy Mutiny’ and by Indian
Nationalists the ‘First War of Independence’) broke
out. After the suppression of the revolt, a new Act
was passed called the Government of India Act, 1858.
By this Act the Crown took over from the East India
Company the entire administration of India. With the
introduction of this Act, Queen Victoria issued a
Royal Proclamation, which was read out by the Govern-
or-General, Lord Canning, on November 1st, 1858,
at Allahabad. In view of the responsibility of the Bri-
tish Cabinet to the British Parliament, the latter be-
came the virtual arbiter of India’s political destiny.

The next important step was taken in 1861 when the
Indian Councils Act was passed. The Act provided for
the Governor-General’s Legislative Council which was
to have not more than twelve and not less than six mem-
bers, half of whom were to be non-officials. Besides the
Central Legislative Council, Provincial Councils con-
sisting partly of non-official members appointed by the
Government were also introduced. Thus Bengal got
a Provincial Legislative Council in 1862 and the North-
West Provinces and Oudh (now called the United Pro-
vinces) in 1886.
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The failure of the revolution of 1857 was followed by
a period of reaction and during this period all anti-
British movements in India were ruthlessly suppressed,
while the people at large were completely disarmed. By
the eighties of the last century the political depression
was over and the public began to raise their head once
again. This time the policy and the tactics of the liberty-
loving and progressive Indians were quite different from
those of 1857. An armed revolution being out of the
question, constitutional agitation was substituted in its
place. Thus in 1885, the Indian National Congress was
founded for striving for self-government for India by
constitutional means. The agitation conducted by the
Indian National Congress made the Government of
India feel that a further political advance was necessary.
So in 1892 another Act was passed called the Indian
Councils Act of 1892. Under this Act the Legislative
Councils were given the right to put questions and
to discuss the Budget, though voting on the Budget
was not allowed. Further, provision was made in
the Legislatures for a non-official element to be ap-
pointed by the Government. The Governor-General’s
Legislative Council was also increased by sixteen
members. N

With the dawn of the present century there was a
national awakening in India on a large scale and Bengal,
which had suffered longest from the British yoke, was
the pioneer in the new movement. In 1905 the Vice-
roy, Lord Curzon, ordered the partition of that pro-
vince. The official reason given for this action was one
of administrative exigency—but the people felt that the
object was to cripple the new renaissance in Bengal. A
stormy agitation against the partition was set in motion
in Bengal and this was accompanied by a powerful
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movement all over the country, in the course of which
attempts were made to boycott British goods as
a retaliatory measure against the Government. The
pressure of these events forced the Government to
make another meagre concession to popular clamour
and so the Morley-Minto Reforms followed. Lord
Morley was then the Secretary of State for India
and Lord Minto the Viceroy of India. The Morley-
Minto scheme of reforms was first announced in
December 1906, and was finally passed into law as the
Indian Councils Act of 1909. As a result of official in-
spiration, a few months before the announcement was
made, a deputation of Mohammedan leaders led by the
Aga Khan waited on the Viceroy on October 1st, 1906.
In connection with the impending reforms they
demanded that the Mohammedan community should
have a certain number of seats reserved for them and
that these seats should be voted for, not by the general
body of Indian voters, but only by Mohammedan
voters. This demand by the Mohammedan leaders of
what is known in India as ‘separate electorate’ was
granted in the Indian Councils Act of 1909. This Act
provided for enlarged legislative councils both in the pro-
vinces as well as at the centre. Additional powers were
given to the members in the matter of putting supple-
mentary questions, moving resolutions, discussing the
budget, etc. The method of election was however in-
direct and the Act was therefore regarded by many
Indians as a retrograde measure in some respects, as
compared with the Indian Councils Act of 1892. The
constituencies were very small, the largest of them hav-
ing only 650 voters.

! This seems to be the view expressed by Sir Surendranath Bannerji in
his book A Nation In Making, pp. 123-25.
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After the introduction of the Morley-Minto Re-
forms, an Indian was for the first time appointed as
member of the Viceroy’s Executive Council and Sir
(later Lord) S. P. Sinha was the first recipient of this
honour. This was followed by the visit to India of King
George V who was crowned at Delhi as Emperor—fol-
lowing the ancient Indian precedent. It was the Vice-
roy, Lord Hardinge, who was largely responsible for this
arrangement, as also for the transfer of the capital of
India from Calcutta to Delhi. Lord Hardinge had a
wonderful historic sense and he thought that by these
measures British rule would be more firmly installed in
India. Others, like Lord Curzon, the former Viceroy,
were opposed to these innovations and they felt on the
contrary that Delhi had been the grave of many empires.
However, the visit of the King Kmperor in December
1911, and the annulment of the partition helped to
assuage public feelings and anti-governemnt agitation
subsided to a large extent. Within the Indian National
Congress a split had occurred in 1907 leading to the ex-
pulsion of the *Nationalists’ (or ‘Extremists’) from that
body. Moreover, many of the leaders of the Congress
Left Wing disappeared from the political arena for the
time being—through imprisonment, as in the case of
Lokamanya B. G. Tilak of Poona, or voluntary exile,
as in the case of Sri Aurobindo Ghosh of Bengal. Things
were therefore quiet till the Great War broke out, when
the revolutionary party which had been born during the
first decade of this century became very active. During
the Great War public opinion in India demanded an
announcement from the British Government regarding
the policy of British rule in India. This demand was
made all the more because Britain gave out that she
was fighting for the freedom of small nations and of
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suppressed nationalities. To placate Indian opinion an
announcement was made on August 20th, 1917, by Mr.
K. S. Montagu, Secretary of State for India, that the
policy of His Majesty’s Government was that of ‘the in-
creasing association of Indians in every branch of the
administration and the gradual development of self-
governing institutions with a view to the progressive
realisation of responsible government in India as an
integral part of the British Empire.” In order to follow
up this announcement, Mr. Montagu visited India and
a joint report was made by the Secretary of State for
India and the then Viceroy, Lord Chelmsford, on the
question of the Indian constitutional reforms. The re-
forms proposed in the Montagu-Chelmsford report,
were embodied in the Government of India Act, 1919.
The most important innovation made in this Act was
the system of government, called dyarchy. In the pro-
vinces the government was to be composed of two sec-
tions, called ‘transferred’ and ‘reserved’. The trans-
ferred departments like Education, Agriculture, Excise
and Local Self-Government were to be administered by
ministers who must be elected members of the Legisla-
tive Council and who would be removable by a vote of
that council. The reserved departments like Police,
Justice and Finance were to be administered by mem-
bers of the Governor’s Executive Council, who would be
appointed by His Majesty’s Government and who would
be independent of the vote of the Legislative Council.
The Governor’s Cabinet was thus to be composed of
ministers administering ‘transferred’ departments and
of members of the Fxecutive Council administering
‘reserved’ departments. In the Central Government
there was to be no dyarchy. All the departments would
be administered by members of the Executive Council
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fact that the majority of the foreigners were either
peaceful missionaries or traders further served to dis-
arm opposition. They were given facilities and even
allowed to.acquire territory for carrying on their peace-
ful avocation. Even when the foreigners took part in
any political strife, they were always careful to side with
a section of the people, so that they would never get the
entire people against them. In this respect the diplo-
macy of the British was by far the best. The question
crops up here as to why a section of the Indian people
sought the help of the foreigners in their own internal
disputes. The reply to that has been given already
above. As contrasted with India, neighbouring coun-
tries like Afghanistan, Tibet and Nepal, have still re-
mained comparatively independent, because people in
these countries have been always suspicious of and hostile
towards foreigners. Besides their diplomacy there was
one other factor which accounted for the success of the
Europeans. That was their superior military skill.
Unfortunately for India, though up to the sixteenth and
seventeenth centuries she kept abreast of the modern
world in her knowledge of the science and art of warfare,
during the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries she was
no longer up to date. Her geographical position had
kept her isolated from modern Europe. The wars of
the seventeenth, eighteenth and nineteenth centuries in
Europe had effected a considerable improvement in the
science and art of fighting and this knowledge was at
the disposal of the European races, when they went over
to the East. 'The first physical conflict between Indians
and Europeans showed that the former were at a
disadvantage in the matter of military skill. It is
significant that before the British conquest of India, the
Indian rulers had Europeans in their service in the army
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as well as in the navy and many of them occupied high
positions.

The first important success of the British in India
happened in Bengal. The ruler was a young man,
Sirajudowla, who was still in his twenties. Neverthe-
less, it must be said to his credit that he was the only
man in the province who realised what a great menace
the British were and he was determined to try his level
best to throw them out of the country. If only he had
had as much diplomacy as he had patriotism, he might
have been able to alter the course of Indian history.
In order to overthrow him, the English won over to their
side the influential Mir Jaffar, by giving him a promise
of the throne, and their combined forces were more than
a match for Sirajudowla. It did not however take
Mir Jaffar long to realise that he had been used as a tool
by the British and that what they were really aiming
at was political mastery for themselves. Sirajudowla
was overthrown in 1757 but many decades were to pass
before they could extend their supremacy to different
parts of the country. In the meantime the rest of India,
which was still independent, hardly realised the danger
of British conquest. Being practically the first portion
of India to come under British rule—the consolidation
of British power naturally began first in Bengal. The
overthrow of the old regime was naturally followed by
a period of disorder and it took the British several years
to put things in order. By the end of the eighteenth
century, order had been established and the Government
then had to face the question of building up their
administration on a sound and permanent basis. In
order to administer a big country the Government had
naturally to educate on their own lines a new class of
people who would be able to work as their agents. The
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British commercial houses also wanted Indians educated
and trained on British lines. In the meantime British
missionaries had been active in trying to impart their
culture and their religion to the Indian people. Out
of these different sources there arose a consciousness on
the part of the Britisher of a cultural or civilising mission
in India. It was this which produced the first revolt
among the Indians. As long as the Britishers were
merely trading, no one thought of them since they were
petty traders. As long as they were merely ruling,
people did not care, for Indians had in the past gone
through many political vicissitudes and a change in
government had never meant a change in their daily
life—because no government in the past had interfered
with local self-government. Out of the consciousness of
a civilising mission there came the attempt on the part
of Britain to ‘anglicise’ every sphere of the life of the
Indian people. The missionaries became very active in
propagating their religion, and educational institutions
on the British model were founded by them, as well as
by the state, in different parts of Bengal. The entire
educational system was built up on the British model
and English was made the medium of instruction, not
only in the University but also in the secondary schools.
In art and architecture also, British models were imposed
on the country. In fact, in inaugurating the new
educational system, the Government deliberately stated
that their object was to train up a nation who would
be English in everything, except in race., In the new
schools, students began to think, to talk, to dress and
to eat as Englishmen would. The new generation
turned out by these schools was quite different from the

old. They were no longer Indians in their equipment
but English.
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Faced with the menace of being swallowed up by a
new religion and a new culture, the soul of the people
revolted. The first visible embodiment of this revolt
was Raja Ram Mohon Roy and the movement of which
he was the father was the Brahmo Samaj movement.
Ram Mohon Roy stood out as the apostle of a religious
revival. He urged a return to the original principles
of Vedantism and for a total rejection of all the religions
and social impurities that had crept into Hinduism in
later times. He also advocated an all-round regenera-
tion of the social and national life and the acceptance
of all that is usctul and beneficial in the modern life of
Kurope. Raja Ram Mohon Roy therefore stands out
against the dawn of the new awakening in India as the
prophet of the new age. The Raja was succeeded by
Debendranath Tagore, father of the poet Rabindranath
Tagore, as the head of the Brahmo Samaj. In apprecia-
tion of the pure life that he lived, which reminded one
of the Rishis or saints of old, Debendranath Tagore was
given the title of Maharshi (a great saint) by the people.
His successor was Keshav Chandra Sen, one of the most
prominent Indian personalities in the latter half of the
nincteenth century. During the earlier portion of his
life, Keshav Chandra Sen seemed to be inspired more
by the sayings and teachings of Christ and in his public
life he laid great emphasis on social reform. So
vigorous was his personality and so enthusiastic was he
in giving effect to his ideas that a split took place in
the Brahmo Samaj. The older generation who were
less radical called themselves the Adi or original
Brahmo Samaj. Among the rest of the members a
further split took place. The followers of Keshav
Chandra Sen called themselves the Naba Bidhan, or the
New Dispensation, while the rest called themselves the

8
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Sadharan (or generfl body) Brahmo Samaj. All
branches of the Brahmo Samaj had however some
principles in common. They all took their stand on the
original doctrines of the Vedanta philosophy. They all
condemned the use of images in religious worship and
they all advocated the abolition of caste in society. The
Brahmo Samaj movement spread all over India and in
some places it was known by a different name—for
instance, in Bombay Presidency it was known as the
Prarthana Samayj.

The Brahmo Samaj had considerable influence on
the new generation of English-educated Indians and
even those who did not become converts to the Brahmo
Samaj accepted the spirit of reform and progress for
which it stood. But the ultra-modern ideas of the
Samaj caused a revulsion of feeling among the old-
fashioned Pandits, who attempted to justify all that
there was in Hindu religion and in Hindu society. But
this reactionary movement could not make any appeal
to the new generation of youths. About this time, in
the eighties of the last century, two prominent religious
personalities appeared before the public who were
destined to have a great influence on the future
course of the new awakening. They were Ramakrishna
Paramahansa, the saint, and his disciple Swami Viveka-
nanda. Ramakrishna, the master, was brought up in the
orthodox Hindu fashion, but his disciple was a young
man educated at the university who was an agnostic
before he met the former. Ramakrishna preached the
gospel of the unity of all religions and urged the cessation
of inter-religious strife. He emphasised the necessity
of renunciation, celibacy and asceticism in order to live
a truly spiritual life. As against the Brahmo Samaj, he
advocated the necessity of symbolism in religious worship
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and condemned the ultra-modern imitative tendency of
the Samaj. Before he died, he charged his disciple with
the task of propagating his religious teachings in India
and abroad and of bringing about an awakening among
his countrymen. Swami Vivekananda therefore founded
the Ramakrishna Mission, an order of monks, to live and
preach the Hindu religion in its purest form in India
and abroad, especially in America, and he took an active
part in inspiring every form of healthy national activity.
W ith him religion was the inspirer of nationalism. He
tried to infuse into the new generation a sense of pride
in India’s past, of faith in India’s future and a spirit of
self-confidence and self-respect. Though the Swami
never gave any political message, everyone who came
into contact with him or his writings developed a spirit
of patriotism and a political mentality. So far at least
as Bengal is concerned, Swami Vivekananda may be
regarded as the spiritual father of the modern nationalist
movement. He died very young in 1902, but since his
death his influence has been even greater. About the
time that Ramakrishna Paramahansa flourished in
Bengal, another prominent religious personality flourish-
ed in North-Western India. He was Swami Dayananda
Saraswati, the founder of the Arya Samaj. The Arya
Samaj movement had the largest following in the Punjab
and the United Provinces. Like the Brahmo Samaj it
advocated a return to the early Hindu scriptures and it
condemned all later-day accretions and impurities.
Like the Brahmo Samaj it also advocated the abolition
of the caste-system which did not exist in the oldest
times. In short, according to Swami Dayananda
Saraswati, people were to go back to the pure Arya reli-
gion and live the life of the Aryas of old. His charac-
teristic slogan was: ‘Back to the Vedas.” Both the
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Brahmo Samaj and the Arya Samaj attempted prosely-
tisation but the Ramakrishna Mission never made any
such attempt, for Ramakrishna was against the creation
of a new sect. But while the Brahmo Samaj was in-
fluenced to some extent by Western culture and Chris-
tianity, the Arya Samaj derived all its inspiration from
indigenous sources. None of the three societies had any
political mission, nevertheless whoever came under their
influence rapidly developed a sense of self-respect and a
spirit of patriotism.

The Brahmo Samaj was founded in 1828. By that
time British rule in India had spread through a large
portion of the country and people had begun to realise
slowly that the new invaders were different from the old.
They had come not merely to make money or to preach
religion, but to conquer and to rule—and unlike the in-
vaders of old they were not going to make India their
home but were going to rule as foreigners. The realisa-
tion of this national menace quickly roused the masses to
a sense of the danger that threatened them. Thus
occurred the revolution of 1857. It was by no means
merely a revolt of the troops—a sepoy mutiny—as
English historians are wont to say—but a real national
revolution. It was a revolution in which both Hindus
and Mohammedans joined and they all fought under
the flag of a Mohammedan. At that moment it looked
as if the English would be thrown out of the country.
But through sheer luck they won by the skin of their
teeth. The failure of the revolution was due among
other causes to lack of support from some quarters,
viz., the Sikhs of the Punjab and to hostility on the
part of the Gurkhas of Nepal. When the revolution
was crushed, a reign of terror followed and the country
was disarmed from end to end. The reaction lasted
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for a long time and no one dared to raise his head
during that period. By the eighties of the last cen-
tury a change set in. People began to recover their
courage, and armed with the knowledge of the modern
world, they began to devise new means of coping with
the foreigners. Thus in 1885 was born the Indian
National Congress, the object of which was not to
organise another revolution but to fight for Home Rule
along constitutional lines.

The renaissance in Western India, unlike that in
Northern India, appeared more in the form of a move-
ment for educational and social reform than as a reli-
gious movement. The father of this awakening was
Justice M. ;. Ranade who, later on, found a worthy
disciple in Mr. G. K. Gokhale. In 1884, Mr. B. G.
Tilak, Mr. G. G. Agarkar and Mr. V. S. Apte, found-
cd the Dececan Education Society. Soon after, Mr.
Gokhale joined the Society. Later on there arose dif-
ferences between Lokamanya Tilak and Mr. Gokhale.
The former was not interested in social reform like the
latter and he belonged to the ‘extremist’ school of poli-
tics, while the latter was one of the outstanding
‘moderate’ leaders. In 1905, Mr. Gokhale founded
the Servants of India Society, the object of which was
to train ‘national missionaries for the service of India
and to promote by all constitutional means the true
interests of the Indian people’. Among the different
measures adopted by Lokamanya Tilak to rouse the
people was the revival of the Ganapati festival—which
was a religious festival given a natienal interpretation
by him—and the Shivaji festival held every year on the
birthday anniversary of Shivaji, the great hero of
Maharashtra.

In South India the Theosophical Society was
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founded at Adyar near Madras in 1886 by Madame
Blavatsky and Col. Olcott, played an important réle
in social and public life. Mrs. Besant joined the
society in India in 1898 and became the President in
1907, which office she continued to hold till her death
in 1988. Mrs. Besant became the great champion of
Hinduism against all attacks. Even the errors and
abuses of Hinduism she would explain away, rather
than attack. Thereby she helped to bring back into
the hearts of the people faith in their own culture and
civilisation which had been badly shaken as a result of
the impact of the West. The large following which she
managed to gather round herself through her religious
and educational work, was of great value and strength
to her when in 1916-17 she took an active part in poli-
tics and carried on a raging and tearing campaign for
demanding Home Rule for India.

By the beginning of the present century, the
toreign government was able to strike its roots deeper
into the soil of India. The political administration
was no longer a centralised government with autonomy
in the branches as in former times. It was a highly-
complicated system with its ramifications in every town
and village of the country and with a bureaucracy
ruling with a firm hand under orders from the centre.
People began to feel for the first time in their history
what foreign rule really meant. The beginning of the
twentieth century found the Boers of South Africa
fighting against the British for their freedom, the
newly-awakened Japanese fighting the Russians for
their existence and safety, and the Russian masses
fighting the all-powerful Tsar for their bread and their
liberty. About this time the pride and the haughti-
ness of the rulers reached its limit and signs of serious
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political unrest appeared in Bengal and in order to nip
it in the bud, the then Viceroy, Lord Curzon, ordered
the dismemberment of the province. This was the
signal for a country-wide revolt and people everywhere
began to feel that constitutional agitation was not
enough. The partition of Bengal was taken as a
challenge by the people and as a reply, for the first time
in British Indian history, a movement was launched for
the boycott of British goods. The political agitation
gave a strong impetus to the growth of national art,
national literature and national industry. Simultane-
ously, institutions were started where national educa-
tion could be imparted and young men could be trained
as scientists and engineers for organising new indus-
tries. The Government naturally did not like the new
novement and steps were taken to put it down. As

reply to official repression, young men took to the
omb and revolver and the first explosion took place in
907. This was the beginning of the revolutionary
novement of the twentieth century and in order to sup-
ress it the Government issued a notification in 1909,
leclaring as illegal many of the institutions for impart-
ng physical training to the youths in Bengal. Simul-
aneously with the appearance of the revolutionary
novement, there was a split within the ranks of the
ndian National Congress. The Left Wing leaders,
Lokamanya Tilak of Poona and Sri Aurobindo Ghosh
ind Mr. B. C. Pal of Bengal, wanted to adopt the boy-
ott of British goods as a part of the Congress plan,
ind they were not content with the goal of self-govern-
ment within the British Empire. The Right Wing
leaders, Sir Pherozshah Mehta of Bombay, Mr. G. K.
Gokhale of Poona and Mr. (later on Sir) Surendranath
Bannerji of Bengal, stood for a more moderate policy.
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Lala Lajpat Rai of the Punjab occupied a middle posi-
tion in this fight. An open rupture took place in the
Surat Congress in 1907 when the Left Wing (also
called ‘Nationalists’ or ‘Extremists’) were defeated and
the Congress organization passed into the hands of the
Right Wing (also called ‘Moderates’ or ‘Liberals’).
Not long after this, Lokamanya Tilak was sentenced to
six years’ imprisonment for sedition, Sri Aurobindo
Ghosh was forced into exile, while Mr. B. C. Pal gave
up extremist politics. Driven out of the Congress,
persecuted by the Government and deprived of their
leaders, the Left Wingers (or the Extremists) had
a bad time up to 1915 and the Moderates were the
masters of the show. The Morley-Minto Reforms of
1909 which were welcomed by the Moderates and con-
demned by the Extremists, served as a temporary sop
to the political agitators. With the outbreak of the
Great War and the return of Lokamanya Tilak from
imprisonment, there was a decided improvement in
the political situation from the Indian point of view. In
1916 at the Lucknow session of the Indian National
Congress, a compromise was effected between the two
wings of the Congress and once again Extremists and
Moderates appeared on the same platform. A further
compromise was effected between the Congress and the
All-India Moslem League at Lucknow. The upshot
of this rapprochement was that the Congress and the
Moslem League put forward the same demand for self-
government and agreed about the representation to be
given to Moslems in the legislatures under the reform-
ed constitution, on the basis of ‘separate electorate’.
About this time a new factor appeared in Indian poli-
tics in the person of Mr. M. K. Gandhi who had re-
turned to India from South Africa in December 1914,
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after winning laurels for himself in the passive-resist-
ance movement against the South African Govern-
ment. After the Lucknow Congress, an intensive
campaign was started by Lokamanya Tilak, Mrs.
Annie Besant and Mr. M. A. Jinna for demanding
Home Rule for India. Mrs. Besant was interned by
the Government in this connection in 1917, but was
released some months later, owing to the pressure of
public agitation. The Extremists wanted to make
Mrs. Besant the President of the next session of the
Indian National Congress in Calcutta, but the
Moderates were opposed to it. At the eleventh hour
an agreement was reached and Mrs. Besant became
President with the support of both parties. That was
however the last Congress attended by the Moderates,
for, the next year, they broke away and formed a
separate organisation of their own, called the All-India
Liberal Federation. In 1917, a statement was made
by the Secretary of State for India, Mr. Montagu, on
behalf of the British Govirnment to the effect that the
progressive realisation of responsible government was
the goal of British rule in India. Soon after this Mr.
Montagu came to India and together with the Viceroy,
Lord Chelmsford, made a report on the coming re-
forms, called Montagu-Chelmsford report. This
report was considered by a special session of the Con-
gress held at Bombay, presided over by the late Mr.
Hassan Imam, a distinguished advocate of Patna and
ex-Judge of the High Court and was rejected by the
Congress as unacceptable. On the basis of the
Montagu-Chelmsford report, a new constitution was
drawn up and passed by the British Governmernt, called
the Government of India Act, 1919. This constitu-
tion was regarded as inadequate and unsatisfactory by
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nationalist opinion in India. While attempts were
made on the one hand to put India on the road to self-
government, the Government of India forged fresh fet-
ters for the people. A new Act was passed by the Gov-
ernment in the teeth of popular opposition, whereby
people could be imprisoned without trial on political
grounds for an indefinite period. A country-wide
agitation was raised against this Act and it was led by
Mahatma Gandhi. In the attempt to suppress the agi-
tation in the Punjab, terrible massacres were commit-
ted by the troops in Amritsar under General Dyer.
The Amritsar massacre caused an unparalleled indigna-
tion not only in India but also among all fair-minded
people in England. After the Amritsar incident, two
enquiry committees were appointed, onc by the Con-
gress and the other by the Government. Both the
committees strongly condemned the action of the mili-
tary, though the Congress Enquiry Committee went
much further in its condemnation. But the steps taken
by the Government to compensate the sufferers and to
punish the wrong-doers were extremely inadequate.
The Amritsar Congress, in December 1919, had decid-
ed to work the new constitution in spite of its unsatis-
factory character, but when the attitude of the Govern-
ment towards the Amritsar massacre was made known,
there was a revulsion of popular feeling. Meanwhile
the attempt of the Allied Powers to dismempber Tur-
key produced discontent and resentment among the
Indian Moslems who turned against the Government.
In defence of the Sultan of Turkey who was also the
‘Khalifa’ or head of the Islamic Church, a movement
was started by the Indian Moslems under the name of
the Khilafat movement. At this stage an alliance was
struck between the Khilafat leaders and Mr. Gandhi,
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the Congress leader. In September 1920, a special
session of the Congress was held in Calcutta to deter-
mine the attitude of the Congress towards the reforms
and particularly towards the elections to be held that
year under the new Constitution. At the instance of
Mr. Gandhi, the Congress decided to adopt a policy of
non-co-operation towards the new Constitution. Three
factors accounted for this decision—the atrocities
in the Punjab, the attitude of Great Britain towards
Turkey, and the inadequacy of the new constitutional
reforms.

Lord Irwin, the ex-Viceroy of India, holds the view
that every step in England and in the Dominions to-
wards the development of responsible government has
been accompanied at a greater or lesser interval by a
corresponding advance in India. As examples he has
mentioned that the Charter Act of 1838, the Indian
Councils Act of 1861, the Indian Councils Act of 1892
and the Indian Councils Act of 1909, have followed
popular movements in England or in other parts of the
British Empire. There is considerable force in what Lord
Irwin says. But one should go further and say that the
Indian movement is organically connected with the
world movement for liberty. In India, as elsewhere,
the beginning of the nineteenth century was an impor-
tant landmark. The revolution of 1857 followed in the
wake of World revolution of 1848. The birth of the
Indian National Congress took place at a time when
there was a similar upheaval in other parts of the world.
The movement of 1905 closely followed the Boer War
in South Africa and was contemporaneous with the
Russian Revolution of 1905. The attempted revolu-
tion during the Great War was a phenomenon visible
all over the world, at about the same time. Last
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not least, the movement of 1920-21 was contemporane-
ous with the Sinn Fein Revolution in Ireland, with the
fight of the Turks for their independence, and it closely
followed revolutions which brought freedom to
countries like Poland and Czechoslovakia. There is no
doubt, therefore, that the awakening in India is organ-
ically connected with the upheaval all over the world
during the last and the present century.

§ IV. ORGANISATIONS, PARTIES AND
PERSONALITIES

To understand properly a narrative about the Indian
struggle for freedom, it is necessary to have some idea
of the different organisations, parties and personalities
in India.

The most important party or organisation in India
is the Indian National Congress, founded in 1885. It
has its branches all over India. There is a central
committee for the whole country called the All-India
Congress Committee, which consists of about 850
members. This committee elects an executive com-
mittee for the year, called the Working Committee.
Each province has a Provincial Congress Committee and
under this committee there are district, sub-divisional
(or tahsil or taluka), union and village Congress Com-
mittees. The different Congress Committees are all
formed on the elective principle. The aim of the
Congress is the ‘attainment of complete independence
by all peaceful and legitimate means’. 'The leader® of

! The President of the Congress is not the real leader. Whoever pre-
sides at a plenary session of the Congress continues as Congress President
till the next session. The Congress President is elected as a result of nomi-
nation by the different Provincial Congress Committees.
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the Congress is Mahatma Gandhi—who is the virtual
dictator. The Working Committee since 1929 has
been elected according to his dictation and no one can
find a place on that committee who is not thoroughly
submissive to him and his policy.

Within the Congress there is a strong Left Wing
who hold radical views on social and economic questions,
i.e., questions relating to caste, to landlord versus
peasant and to capital versus labour. This group also
advocate a more vigorous and activist policy for
the achievement of political freedom. On all such
problems, Mahatma Gandhi holds a more compromising
position. A few years ago the prominent members of
the Left Wing were Mr. Srinivasa Iyengar, ex-
Advocate-General of Madras and ex-President of the
Congress, Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru of Allahabad,
formerly an advocate by profession and son of the late
Pandit Motilal Nehru, Dr. Mohammed Alam, an
outstanding Moslem leader of Liahore and an Advocate,
and Mr. K. F. Nariman of Bombay, a Parsi gentleman
and an Advocate by profession, Dr. S. Kitchlew,
a Moslem nationalist leader of Lahore, also an Advocate,
and the present writer. But since 1930, Mr. Srinivasa
Iyengar has retired from the Congress and with
the exception of Dr. Kitchlew and the writer," the
others have been won over by the Mahatma. Neverthe-
less, even without many prominent leaders the Left
Wing is fairly strong. The position of Pandit
Jawaharlal Nehru in this connection is an interesting
one. His ideas and views are of a radical nature and
he calls himself a full-blooded socialist—but in practice
he is a loyal follower of the Mahatma. It would

! Swami Govindanand of Karachi has also consistently taken up a Left
Wing position.
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probably be correct to say that while his brain is with
the Left Wingers, his heart is with Mahatma Gandhi.

Among the other leaders, Khan Abdul Ghaffar
Khan (popularly called the Frontier Gandhi), a Moslem
leader of the Frontier Province, is at present exceed-
ingly popular, but it is too early to describe his exact
political complexion. Mr. P. D. Tandon, and other
Congress leaders of the United Provinces, are followers
of Pandit J. L. Nehru, though they are inclined towards
the Left Wing. The Central Provinces leaders, Seth
Govindh Das and Pandit Dwarka Prasad Misra, are also
inclined towards the Left Wing. Among those who
played a prominent part in the National Movement
prior to 1920, Lokamanya Tilak of Poona, Mr. B. C.
Pal of Calcutta, Sir S. N. Banerjea of Calcutta, Mr.
G. K. Gokhale of Poona and Sir Pherozshah Mehta of
Bombay, are dead. The first two belonged to the Left
Wing, while the rest belonged to the Right Wing. Of
those who played an important part since 1920, the
following leaders are now dead : Lala Lajpat Rai of
Lahore, Deshabandhu C. R. Das of Calcutta, Pandit
Motilal Nehru of Allahabad, Mr. J. M. Sengupta of
Calcutta and Mr. Vithalbhai Patel of Bombay. Among
the prominent leaders who retired from the Congress,
but who are still alive, are Sri Aurobindo Ghosh
of Calcutta who has been living a religious life in French
Pondicherry since 1909, and Mr. Srinivasa Iyengar of
Madras who retired from active politics in 1930.

Since May 1934, many of the Left Wingers have
combined to form an All-India Congress Socialist
Party. This party has so far found the largest support
in the United Provinces and Bombay—but support is
also forthcoming from all over the country. It is too
early to say how this party will grow in future, because
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many of those who may play an important réle are either
in prison or out of India at the moment. At present
a reshuffling of parties is going on and a realignment in
politics will shortly take place.

Within the Indian National Congress there is an
important and influential Moslem group and this group
has its representatives in the Congress Cabinet—that
is, the Working Committee. In this group are
Moulana' Abul Kalam Azad of Calcutta, Dr. M. A.
Ansari of Delhi, and Dr. Mohammed Alam of Lahore.?
Among the Hindu leaders of the Congress there are
some who are more inclined towards the Hindu Maha-
sabha—for instance Pandit Madan Mohon Malaviya of
Benares and Mr. M. S. Aney of Berar.

Before 1918, the Congress had two groups—the
Extremists (or Nationalists) and the Moderates (or
Liberals). In 1907 the Extremists were driven out of
the Congress, but in 1916 at the Lucknow Congress, a
rapprochement was effected. In 1918, the Moderates
being outnumbered by the Extremists, seceded from the
Congress and started the All-India Liberal Federation.
The present leaders of the Liberal Party are Sir Te)
Bahadur Sapru of Allahabad, Sir Chimanlal Setalvad
and Sir Pheroze Sethna of Bombay, the Right Hon.
V. Srinivasa Sastri and Sir Sivaswami Iyer of Madras,
Mr. Chintamani of Allahabad, and Mr. J. N. Basu of
Calcutta. Among the present-day Congress leaders
who are loyal supporters of the Mahatma, are Sardar
Vallabhai Patel of Gujerat, Dr. M. A. Ansari of

! Moulana implies a learned Moslem divine, just as Pandit implies a
learned Brahmin. But the word Pandit is used loosely in some parts of
India. as Kashmir, in reference to all Brahmins, regardless of their learning.

2 Mr. Sherwani of Allahabad, Mr. Asaf Ali of Delhi and Mr. Khali-
quzzaman of Lucknow also belong to this group. The first two have been
elected to the Assembly in the elections of November 1984.
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Delhi, Dr. Rajendra Prasad of Patna, Dr. Mohammed
Alam and Sardar Sardul Singh of Lahore, Pandit
Jawaharlal Nehru of Allahabad, Mr. Rajagopalachari
of Madras, Mrs. Sarojini Naidu, the celebrated poetess,
Moulana Abul Kalam Azad of Calcutta, Mr. Abhyankar
of Nagpur, Mr. Jairamdas Daulatram of Karachi and
Dr. B. C. Roy of Calcutta. Among them Pandit
Jawaharlal Nehru’s popularity is, by general consent,
the highest.

Besides the above political parties comprising
members of all communities, there are communal
organisations whose avowed object is to secure the
loaves and fishes for members of their own community.
Among the Moslems, the All-India Moslem League is
the most important organisation, having been started as
early as 1906. During 1920 and 1924, the Moslem
League was eclipsed by the All-India Khilafat Com-
mittee. But after the abolition of the Khalifate in 1924,
the Khilafat movement in India collapsed, and the
Moslem League regained its former importance.
Besides the Moslem League, there are other organisa-
tions of recent growth, like the All-India Moslem
Conference. The prominent communal Moslem leaders
are the Aga Khan, Mr. M. A. Jinnah (who was a
Congress leader up to 1920), Sir Mohammed Ikbal of
Lahore, Sir Mohammed Yakub of the United Provinces
and Mr. Shafi Daudi of Patna. Moulana Shaukat Ali,
once a prominent Congress and Khilafat leader, has, on
several occasions, identified himself with the communal
Mohammedans. Sir Abdur Rahim occupies a position
between the communal leaders on the one side and the
Nationalist Moslem leaders on the other.

As a counterblast to the All-India Moslem League,
the Hindu Mahasabha has come into existence for the
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avowed object of protecting the rights of the Hindus.
It has influential support in some parts of India.
Among the prominent leaders are Mr. Ramananda
Chatterji of Calcutta (Editor of the Modern Review),
Dr. B. S. Moonjee of Nagpur, Bhai Parmanand
of Lahore, Mr. N. C. Kelkar of Poona. Pandit
Madan Mohon Malaviya though intimately connected
with the Congress also plays an important part in the
Hindu Mahasabha. Besides the Moslem League and
the Hindu Mahasabha there are other communal
parties. For instance, the Anglo-Indians, the Indian
Christians, the Sikhs (of the Punjab) and the depressed
classes among the Hindus have their own parties
to safeguard their own interests, that is, to secure as
much of thé loaves and fishes as possible. Of these
parties there is onc which has played a comparatively
important réle—namely the Justice Party of Madras.
The Justice Party of Madras has till recently been com-
posed of non-Brahmins and its policy is pro-government,
as compared with the Indian National Congress.
Among the depressed classes, everywhere in India there
is a strong nationalist bloc, working hand in hand with
the Congress. The Sikhs of the Punjab are on the
whole strongly nationalist.

While the political parties we first dealt with have
a political programme and carry on some sort of agita-
tion against, or opposition towards the Government,
the communal parties are more concerned with dividing
amongst themselves such of the crumbs that are thrown
at them from the official tables. In accordance with
the time-worn policy of divide et impera, the
Government greatly encourage these parties—just to
spite the Indian Nationalist Congress and try to weaken
its influence. This was clearly exhibited in 1930 and
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later, when the Indian representatives to the Round
Table Conference ysere not selected by a vote of the
Indian people—but were nominated by the British
Government and in making these nominations, the
communal parties, who have no concern with the fight
for political freedom, were given exaggerated impor-
tance. As a matter of fact, whenever the occasion
demands, leaders are created overnight by the British
Government and, thanks to the British Press, their
names are made known to the whole world. When the
Government of India Act, 1919, was under considera-
tion, the late Dr. T. M. Nair of Madras, was made a
leader in London, in opposition to the Congress
leaders at the time. In 1980 and after, Dr. Ambedkar
has had leadership thrust upon him by a b&nign British
Government, because his services were necessary to
embarrass the nationalist leaders.

Next in importance to the Indian National Congress
are the labour and peasant parties. Labour organisa-
tion has, however, made more headway than the
peasants’ organisation. The All-India Trade Union
Congress was first started in 1920 and Mr. N. M. Joshi
was one of the founders of that organisation. Since
then the Trade Union Congress has had a stormy
career. In 1929 at the Nagpur session, presided over
by Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru, a split took place, the
Right Wing represented by Mr. N. M. Joshi, Mr. V.
V. Giri, Mr. Shiva Rao, Mr. R. R. Bakhale, and
others, breaking away from the Congress and starting
another body called the Trade Union Federation. The
Trade Union Federation now works hand in hand with
the British Trades Union Congress and is affiliated to
the International Federation of Trade Unions of
Amsterdam. The politics of this body is closely allied
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to the politics of the Liberal Party. In 1981, at the
Calcutta session of the Trade Union Congress, presid-
ed over by the writer, a further split took place, as a
result of which the extreme section broke away and
started the Red Trade Union Congress. This section
is alleged to work under the inspiration of the Commu-
nist International, but their organisation has not
exhibited much activity ever since its birth. The pre-
sent Trade Union Congress, to which the writer
belongs, holds a middle position between the Trade
Union Federation and the Red Trade Union Con-
gress. In other words, it is definitely socialist but is
opposed to the policy and tactics of the Third Inter-
national. But neither is it affiliated to the Second
International at Zurich or to the International Feder-
ation of Trade Unions at Amsterdam. Unlike the
Trade Union Federation, the Trade Union Congress
has no faith whatsoever in the British Trades Union
Congress and in Indian politics, the Trade Union Con-
gress has more in common with the Indian National
Congress than with the Liberal Federation. The Presi-
dent of the Congress now is Pandit Harihar Nath
Sastri of Cawnpore and the Secretary is Mr. Shib Nath
Bannerji of Calcutta. It is interesting to speculate
what part Mr. M. N. Roy, formerly of the Commu-
nist International, will play in future in the workers’
movement in India and also in the political movement.
Though he is still regarded as a communist by many,
in view of his past activities, associations and writings—
the Communists themselves call him a counter-revo-
lutionary. He is now serving a term of six years’ im-
prisonment in India for his former activities, but mean-
while his followers in the workers’ organisations in
Bombay are working in the Trade Union Congress
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and in opposition to the® Red Trade Union Congress,
which is alleged by many to be a Communist body.
Since Mr. M. N. Roy severed his connection with the
Communist International, a split has taken place
among those workers’ leaders who were formerly
alleged to be Communists. The group headed by Mr.
Dange of Bombay, have declared for Mr. M. N. Roy,
while the other group denounce him as a counter-revo-
lutionary.

Since 1920, a peasants’ awakening has taken place
all over India and the Indian National Congress has
been indirectly responsible for its birth. But up till
now no All-India organisation has been formed. The
peasants’ movement is very strong in the United Pro-
vinces and has been organised there in the name of the
Kishan (Peasant) League. The Left Wing Con-
gressmen of the province are intimately connected with
the peasants’ movement and their general outlook is
radical. In Gujerat, too, where Mahatma Gandhi’s
influence is greatest, there is a strong peasants’ move-
ment—but this movement is entirely under Congress
influence and the right-hand man of the Mahatma,
Sardar Patel, is the leader of the peasants. The pea-
sants’ movement in Gujerat has not so far been deve-
loped on a class-conscious basis, but a radical turn in
the movement is bound to come before long. In the
Punjab the Kirti (Workers) Kishan (Peasant) Party is
influential and some elements in the party seem to be
under the influence of communistic ideas. The party
would have made more rapid progress if it had a promi-
nent personality at its head. In Bengal, the peasants’
movement has made much progress and has been
organised under the name of Krishak (Peasant) Sami-
ties (Societies)—but it has been handicapped by want
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of sufficient honest and able leaders. So far, the poli-
tical movement in Bengal has drawn the best and
ablest workers, but in view of the new alignment that is
going to take place in Indian politics before long, it is
not likely that there will be a dearth of workers in the
peasants’ movement in future. In Central India, too,
the peasants’ movement is fairly strong but in South
India—in the Madras Presidency—it is rather back-
ward. Only in some parts of the northern portion of
Madras Presidency, called Andhra, is the movement
strong.

There is an independent movement among the
students and also among the youth in India. From
time to time, All-India Congresses of students and of
youths are held—Dbut there is no permanent All-India
Committee to co-ordinate these activities. These two
movements are generally conducted on a provincial
basis. In Bengal, of all the provinces, the students’
movement is the strongest. The last All-India Con-
gress of students was held at Lahore in December 1929.
The youth movement is organised in different provinces
under different names. In Bengal the name ‘Yuba
Samity’ or ‘Tarun Sangha’ is popular. In the Punjab
and the United Provinces, the name ‘Naujawan Bharat
Sabha’ is more in vogue. The first Congress of Youths
was held in Calcutta in December 1928, and was pre-
sided over by Mr. Nariman, the Congress leader of
Bombay. The second and the last Congress was held
in Karachi in March 1981, and was presided over by the
writer. The students’ and youth organisations work
in close co-operation with the Indian National Con-
gress, though they have a more radical outlook and
programme.

Last but not least, the women’s movement is an
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important factor in the public life of India today. This
movement has advanced by rapid strides during the
last fourteen years. One of the miracles for which the
Mahatma is responsible to a very large extent, is this
awakening. This movement has been intimately con-
nected with the Indian National Congress, nevertheless,
independent women’s committees have come into exist-
ence all over the country. The movement is, generally
speaking, organised on a provincial basis and in many
provinces—as in Bengal—provincial Congresses are held
from time to time. In all the Congress Committees in
India, women now have an honoured place and in the
Supreme Executive of the Congress—the Working
Committee—there is at least one woman representative.
Two of the recent annual sessions of the Indian National
Congress have been presided over by women—by Mrs.
Besant in 1917 and Mrs. Sarojini Naidu, the poetess, in
1925.

Besides the political organisations of women referred
to above, there are other organisations working solely
with social and educational aims. These organisations
are conducted on an All-India basis and All-India Con-
ferences are held from time to time. Among these:
organisations is the All-India Women’s Conference
which held its last session in Calcutta towards the end
of 1938.

To sum wup, the most important organisation in
India today is the Indian National Congress. It stands
for the whole country and for all communities. It
strives for political freedom for India—but it also aims
for an all-round development of national life and for
the amelioration of all social evils. With the excep-
tion of the communal parties all the other organisations
or parties in the country are on the whole friendly
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towards the Congress, and work in close co-operation
with it. The undisputed leader of the Congress today
is Mahatma Gandhi—but within the Congress there is
a powerful radical Left Wing.* The Mahatma has so
far maintained a middle position on all such questions
as capital and labour, landlord and peasant, as well as
the social question of caste. The Left Wing, how-
ever, is working for a more radical and uncompromising
policy on social and economic issues and it is not unlike-
ly that before long the Congress will adopt its views.

! The present writer belongs to this wing.






CHAPTER ONE
THE CLOUDS GATHER (1920)

The annual session of the Indian National Congress
met at Amritsar in the Punjab in December 1919,
under the shadow of the atrocities perpetrated there
earlier in the year. In spite of the opposition of Mr.
C. R. Das, Mr. B. C. Pal and Mr. B. Chakravarti, the
Bengal leaders, a resolution was passed in favour of
working the New Constitution (called the Government
of India Act, 1919) and thanking the Secretary of State
for India, Mr. Montagu, who had played so important
a part in launching it. Mr. Gandhi, who had been
largely responsible for the decision arrived at by the
Amritsar Congress, welcomed the Royal proclamation
announcing the assent to the Government of India Act,
1919, and in his weekly paper, Young India, he
wrote on December 81st, 1919: ‘The reforms Act
coupled with the proclamation is an earnest of the inten-
tion of the British people to do justice to India and it
ought to remove suspicion on that score . . . . Our
duty therefore is not to subject the Reforms to carping
criticism but to settle down quietly to work so as to make
them a success.’

But during the next nine months events moved with
dramatic suddenness. What actually happened can
best be described in the words of Mr. Gandhi himself.
When he was tried by a British Judge, Mr. Broomfield,
in March 1922, for writing seditious articles in his paper,
Mr. Gandhi made a remarkable statement in the course
of which he explained why after having co-operated
with the British Government all his life, he was
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ultimately forced to turn against it. Therein he said :
‘The first shock came in the shape of Rowlatt Act, a
law designed to rob the people of all real freedom. 1
felt called upon to lead an intensive agitation against it.
Then followed the Punjab horrors beginning with the
massacre at Jallianwalla Bagh (in Amritsar) and culmi-
nating in crawling orders, public floggings and other
indescribable humiliations. I discovered, too, that the
plighted word of the Prime Minister to the Mussalmans
of India regarding the integrity of Turkey and the holy
places of Islam was not likely to be fulfilled. But in
spite of the foreboding and the grave warnings of
friends, at the Amritsar Congress in 1919, I fought for
co-operation and working the Montagu-Chelmsford
Reforms, hoping the Prime Minister would redeem his
promise to the Indian Mussalmans, that the Punjab
wound would be healed and that the Reforms, inade-
quate and unsatisfactory though they were, marked a
new era of hope in the life of India. But all that hope
was shattered. The Khilafat promise was not to be
redeemed. The Punjab crime was whitewashed and
most culprits were not only unpunished but remained
in service and some continued to draw pensions from
the Indian revenue, and in some cases were even reward-
ed. 1 saw, too, that not only did the reforms not mark
a change of heart, but they were only a method of fur-
ther draining India of her wealth and of prolonging her
servitude.’

As already indicated in Section IIT of the Introduc-
tion on ‘The New Awakening in India,” the new
legislation, popularly known as the Rowlatt Act,’ was

! According to Sir Surendranath Bannerji, ‘the Rowlatt Act was the
parent of the Non-co-operation movement’. (A Nation in Making,
London, 1927, p. 800).
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enacted on March 18th, 1919, for conferring perma-
nently on the Government of India extraordinary powers
for the arrest of individuals and their imprisonment
without trial, when the war-time emergency ordinances
lapsed. In February, 1919, Mr. Gandhi started an
agitation against the Rowlatt (or ‘Black’) Bill when it
was introduced in the Impeiial Legislative Council. In
trying to suppress this agitation in the Punjab, indes-
cribable atrocities were perpetrated by the forces of the
Crown. At Jallianwalla Bagh in Amritsar on April
13th, there was a massacre of unarmed men, women
and children who had gathered on the occasion of a public
meeting. This was followed by a reign of terror under
Martial Law, in the course of which many people were
publicly flogged, while others were forced to crawl on
their bellies when passing along certain streets. Two
committees were appointed to inquire into these inci-
dents and submit a report—a non-official committee
appointed by the Indian National Congress and an
official committee appointed by the Government of
India, called the Hunter Committee. The Congress
Enquiry Committee published unimpeachable evidence
of the most brutal atrocities committed by the forces of
the Crown, including outrages on helpless women. The
findings of the Hunter Committee did not go as far as
those of the Congress Enquiry Committee, nevertheless,
they were sufficiently damaging for any government.
After the publication of these two reports the public
naturally expected that in view of the new era to be
ushered in by the Constitutional Reforms, the Govern-
ment of India would take courage in both hands and
punish the wrong-doers, while granting adequate

1 Now called the Indian Legislative Assembly.



60 THE INDIAN STRUGGLE

compensation for all those who had been killed or
injured or had been otherwise made to suffer.

By the middle of 1920 it was clear, however, that
the Government of India did not propose to take any
such action.’ The attitude and conduct of the Govern-
ment appeared to the public eye as tantamount to
condoning all the inhuman atrocities that had been
perpetrated. This created a revulsion of feeling all over
the country, even in circles favourably disposed towards
the Government and the New Constitution. There can
be little doubt that if the Government of Lord
Chelmsford, the then Viceroy and Governor-General of
India, had in 1920 taken drastic action against the
authors of the Punjab atrocities, the confirmed ‘Co-
operator’, Mr. Gandhi, would not have been forced to
the path of non-co-operation, nor would the Indian
National Congress have set aside the resolution adopted
at the Amritsar Session in December 1919. Thus, on
the rock of Jallianwalla Bagh was wrecked the ship of
co-operation built by the Secretary of State for India,
Mr. Montagu, through his sympathetic gestures and his
elaborate intrigues during his visit to India in 1917-18.

It is an open secret that while Mr. Montagu and
Lord Chelmsford were touring India with a view to pre-
paring their joint memorandum on the new constitu-
tional reforms, the former was engaged in rallying public

' In the Imperial Legislative Council an Indemnity Act was passed in
order to protect all the officers who had taken part in the Punjab atrocities.
Besides the Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab, Sir Michael O’Dwyer, was
untouched, and General Dyer, who was responsible for the Jallianwalla
Bagh massacre and for the administration of Martial Law, was merely
declared unfit for future service in India. Even the meagre action taken
by the Government was disapproved by the House of Lords and unpre-
cedented public subscriptions were raised in Fngland for the authors of
the Punjab tragedy.
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support in favour of working the New Constitution.
Before he left India in 1918, Mr. Montagu succeeded
in definitely winning over the Moderate section in the
Indian National Congress. When the Indian National
Congress met at a special session in Bombay in 1918 to
consider the Montagu-Chelmsford Report, the Moderate
Congressmen who were then being led by Sir Surendra-
nath Bannerji and Mr. Srinivasa Sastri, absented
themselves and soon after they seceded from the Con-
gress and formed a separate political party under the
name of All-India Liberal Federation, pledged to work
the New Reforms. The Special Congress at Bombay
in 1918 pronounced the Montagu-Chelmsford Report as
unacceptable. Nevertheless, in December 1919, the
Amritsar Congress resolved to work the constitution
drafted on the basis of that report and also thanked
Mr. Montagu. Thus, in spite of all the unfortunate
events of 1919, Mr. Montagu was able through his per-
sonal influence, to keep the Congress back from the path
of opposition. It was only the Government of India’s
attitude towards the Punjab atrocities that proved to
be the preverbial last straw.

A British politician in 1984 will naturally inquire
why attempts were not made in 1920 to win over the
Moslem Community when it was apparent that the
Indian National Congress was heading towards an oppo-
sitionist policy. On this point, Mr. Montagu was not
inactive and he did his level best to influence the British
Cabinet, but the odds were against him. During the
Great War, Indian Mohammedans had expressed their
uneasiness as to what the policy of Britain towards
Turkey would be when the time came for discussing
peace-terms. To placate them the British Prime
Minister, Mr. Lloyd George, had made a conciliatory
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statement on January 5th, 1918, in which he said,
among other things, that Great Britain would not pur-
sue a vindictive policy and had no intention of depriving
the Turks of the rich lands of Asia Minor and Thrace
which were predominantly Turkish. At the end of the
war, however, when it was clear that the allies were
aiming at nothing less than the complete dismember-
ment of Turkey, a deputation of Indian Moslems was
sent to Europe in March 1920, to plead the cause of the
Turks. This deputation which was led by Moulana
Mohammad Ali, the younger of the Ali brothers,
failed to achieve anything in spite of the best efforts
of Mr. Montagu, the Secretary of State for India.
By the middle of 1920, Indian Moslems began to feel
that in all probability Turkey would cease to exist as an
independent state—that the head of the Islamic Church,
the Khalifa, who was also the Sultan of Turkey, would
be deprived of his territories in Europe and in Asia and
that the Holy Places of Islam would pass into non-
Moslem hands. The realisation of this unavoidable
calamity produced a blaze of resentment among every
section of the Moslem Community in India. But how-
ever deep their resentment might be, they were not in
a position to take up arms against the victorious British
Government. Therefore all that they could think of
doing was to oppose the working of the New Consti-
tution.

About the middle of 1920, anti-British feeling was
stronger among the Moslems than among the rest of
the Indian population. Mr. Montagu had been able to
divide the nationalist forces but he had failed to win over
any section of the Moslems, though he had left no stone
unturned in his efforts to placate them and had ultimate-
ly to resign from the Cabinet for ventilating their
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grievances." An organisation was set up by the Mos-
lems under the name of the All-India Khilafat Com-
mittee with the object of restoring to the ‘Khalifa’, the
head of the Islamic Church, the temporal power which
he had enjoyed as Sultan of Turkey before the Great
War. The leadership of this Khilafat movement was
assumed by the Ali Brothers, Moulana Mohammad Ali,
the younger but more influential, and Moulana Shaukat
Ali, the elder. Both of them were Oxford graduates.
Moulana Mohammad Ali had been a journalist and
Moulana Shaukat Ali a highly-paid officer in the Excise
Department of the Government of India. During the
war both of them had been interned for carrying on pro-
paganda against the British Government and in favour
of the Turks. The agitation following in the wake of
their incarceration had made them prominent in the
public eye and when the Khilafat movement began, it
was natural that they should be invested with the crown
of leadership. Moreover, their dress and mode of life,
shaped according to orthodox Moslem ideas, made a
strong appeal to the Moslem masses and served to make
them tremendously popular.

The Punjab atrocities and their sequel made a rebel
of the once loyal Mr. Gandhi. He who had pleaded for
co-operation at Amritsar in December 1919, and had
succeeded in carrying the Congress with him, was in
1920 collecting his forces for leading a revolt against the
British Government. Before he returned to India in

! In 1922 the Government of India urged on the British Cabinet that
the Indian demand for the revision of the Treaty of Sévres should be made
public. The chief items of that demand werc—restoration of Asia Minor
and Thrace to the Turks ; suzerainty of the Sultan over the Holy Places
and the evacuation of Constantinople by the Allied troops. Mr. Montagu
thought that he had been authorised by the Cabinet to give publicity to
the demand—but as the Cabinet disowned him, he had to resign.
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1914, he had tried the method of passive resistance in
South Africa, in his fight for the rights of Indians
against the South African Government and had found
it extremely helpful. In February, 1919, before the
Rowlatt Bills became law, he had started an agitation
on the same lines, called the ‘Satyagraha’® movement,
against the Bills—but the agitation had proved to be
abortive for the time being, because of the outbreak of
violence. He was, however, fully prepared to use the
same method once again in organising a non-violent
revolt against the British Government. He had disci-
plined his body and mind for a life of suffering. He had,
moreover, brought with him a group of loyal followers
from South Africa and during his six years’ stay in
India, had won many supporters for his cause. He
only wanted more allies in order to be able to capture
the leadership of the Indian National Congress. About
this time the Ali Brothers and other Moslem leaders were
preparing to launch Khilafat movement and they, too,
were looking out for allies. Nothing could please them
more than to find that the premier nationalist organisa-
tion of the country would take up the cause of Turkey.
So an alliance was at once struck between Mr. Gandhi
and the Ali Brothers on the basis of two issues, viz.,
the Punjab atrocities and the Khilafat grievances. The
Ali brothers and their followers while keeping up a sepa-
rate organisation—the All-India Khilafat Committee—

! ‘Satyagraha’ means literally ‘persistence in truth’. It has been trans-
lated variously as non-co-operation, passive resistance, civil-disobedience,
civil-resistance. The Satyagraha pledge was first taken at a public meeting
in Johannesburg in South Africa, on September 11th, 1906, against the
Asiatic Law Amendment Ordinance. According to Mr. Gandhi, Satyagraha
eschews the use of violence in every form and has not the remotest idea
of injuring the opponent. Mr. Gandhi states in his praface to Satyagraha

in South Africa that before 1919 he had occasion to experiment with
Satyagraha five times in India.
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would join the Indian National Congress and agitate
for the redress of the Punjab and Khilafat wrongs and
for the attainment of political freedom, which was the
only guarantee against such wrongs in future. On the
other hand, the Indian National Congress would lend
its full support to the Khilafat organisations in the
country and agitate for the redress of the Khilafat or
Turkish grievances.!

The elections to the legislatures under the new
Constitution—called the Government of India Act,
1919—were due in November 1920. The Amritsar
Congress had resolved in December 1919, to work this
Constitution but in the meantime public opinion had
changed considerably. A special session of the Congress
was therefore summoned in Calcutta in September
1920, under the Presidency of Lala Lajpat Rai, the well-
known Punjab leader. Mr. Gandhi was fully aware that
his new policy of opposition to the reformed constitution
would not be accepted by an influential section in the
Congress. He had, therefore, strengthened himself by
an alliance with the Moslem leaders and the All-India
Khilafat Committee. In fact, he was sure of his posi-
tion in the country that if the Congress had rejected his
plan of non-violent non-co-operation, he could have
launched his campaign with the support of the Khilafat
organisations. Matters did not, however, come to such
a pass. Besides the Moslem leaders, Mr. Gandhi had a

! In November 1919, a Khilafat Conference was held in Delhi composed
of both Hindus and Moslems under the guidance of Mr. Gandhi, to con-
sider what steps should be taken to help the cause of the Khalifa (who
was also the Sultan of Turkey). At this conference, Moulana Hasrat
Mohani, an influential Moslem, suggested the boycott of British goods
while Mr. Gandhi proposed non-co-operation with the Government. It
was not till 1920, however, that the Khilafat Movement was actually
launched.
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powerful ally in Pandit Motilal Nehru, the leading
advocate of Allahabad and the leader of the United
Provinces. The opposition to Mr. Gandhi’s plan was
sponsored by Mr.-C. R. Das, the leading advocate of
Calcutta and the leader of Bengal and Pandit Malaviya
and Mrs. Besant, both ex-Presidents of the Congress,
who had influential support from many provinces.
Shortly before the Calcutta Congress, Lokamanya
Tilak died. He was the only possible rival of Mr.
Gandhi and at the time of his death, one could not say
definitely what attitude he would take up if he were to
attend the Calcutta Congress. At the Amritsar Con-
gress he had taken up a middle position between
Mr. Gandhi’s proposal of co-operation and Mr. B. C.
Pal, Mr. B. Chakravarti, and Mr. C. R. Das’s proposal
of opposition. Lokamanya Tilak held that the proper
attitude should be one of responsive co-operation. In
other words, the Congress should accept and work what
was useful and beneficial in the New Constitution and
reject what was useless or harmful. The closest fol-
lowers of Lokamanya Tilak have declared since his death
that he adhered to this view till the time of his death.
Throughout his public career Lokamanya Tilak had
been the leader of the Left Wing of the Indian National
Congress, called the Extremists or Nationalists—as
opposed to the Right Wing, called the Moderates or
Liberals. He was a man of profound erudition and
unbounded courage and sacrifice. His six years’ in-
carceration in a far-off Burma prison had brought him
additional lustre and popularity and if he had pitted
himself against Mr. Gandhi at the Calcutta Congress.
the position of the latter would have been a difficult one.
With Lokamanya Tilak’s death, however, it was smooth
sailing for Mr. Gandhi. He moved the adoption of a
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policy of progressive non-violent non-co-operation which
would begin with the renunciation of titles bestowed by
the Government and with the triple boycott (namely,
boycott of legislatures, law-courts, and educational insti-
tutions) and would end in non-payment of taxes. This
resolution was carried by a large majority, 1,855 votes
out of 2,728 being in his favour.

The resolution of the Special Congress at Calcutta
came up for consideration at the regular annual session
held at Nagpur in December, 1920, under the presi-
dency of the veteran Congress leader from Madras,
Mr. Vijayaraghavachariar. Mr. Das and his followers
mustered strong at Nagpur hoping to cross swords with
Mr. Gandhi once again. But through the latter’s tact-
ful handling of the situation an understanding was
arrived at between him and Mr. Das. The boycott of
the legislatures, to which Mr. Das was chiefly opposed,
was no longer a live issue, as the elections had already
taken place. It was, therefore, possible to persuade
Mr. Das to come to an agreement. W hen this was done,
the non-co-operation resolution was ratified with practi-
cal unanimity, though Pandit Malaviya, Mrs. Besant,
Mr. Jinnah and Mr. B. C. Pal remained irreconcilable.

Besides ratifying the resolution on progressive non-
co-operation, including the boycott of legislatures, law-
courts and educational institutions, the Nagpur Congress
took a very important step in altering the Constitution
of the Indian National Congress. Hitherto, the goal of
the Congress, as defined in the Constitution, had been
‘Self-Government within the British Empire’. This
had antagonised all those Congressmen who believed in
the severance of the British connection or who refused
to be tied down to the Empire. To enable the Left-
Wingers to return to the Congress fold, the goal of the
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Congress was declared to be ‘Swaraj)’ (which means
literally self-rule) and it was left to individual Congress-
men, to define ‘Swaraj’ in their own way. Mr. Gandhi,
however, defined ‘Swaraj’ to mean ‘Self-Government

within the Empire, if possible—and outside, if neces-
b

sary’.

Before the Nagpur Congress the machinery of the
Congress had been a loose one. There were branches
only in the big cities and throughout the year, no work
was done according to a systematic plan. At Nagpur,
it was decided to re-organise the Congress on a country-
wide basis. The smallest unit would be the Village
Congress Committee. Several such Committees would
combine to form a Union Congress Committee. Then
there would be formed in succession—sub-divisional
(also called Taluka or Tahsil), district, provincial and
All-India Congress Committees. The All-India Con-
gress Committee would be a body of about 350 members
consisting of representatives from the different pro-
vinces. This Committee would elect a Working Com-
mittee of 15 members which would be the Supreme
Executive of the Congress for the whole country. Fur-
ther, the provinces were re-organised on a linguistic
basis. For instance, the Madras Presidency was divided
into Andhra, which is Telegu-speaking and Tamil-Nadu,
which is Tamil-speaking. The basis of the new Congress
Constitution was of a democratic and parliamentary
character. Besides setting up a new Constitution, the
Nagpur Congress laid down a definite plan of work for
the coming year.

Regarding the means to be followed by the Congress
for attaining Swaraj, a change was made in the Consti-
tution. Hitherto the Congress had been tied down to
‘constitutional’ means, but in future the Congress could
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adopt ‘all peaceful and legitimate’ means. This change
had to be made in order to enable the Congress to re-
sort to non-co-operation, which could be regarded as
unconstitutional. Regarding both the goal and the
means, the decision of the Nagpur Congress represented
the golden means between the views of the Right-Wing-
ers, like Pandit Malaviya and Mr. Jinnah and the youth-
ful Left-Wingers who swamped the Congress for the
first time in 1920. The latter desired the goal of the Con-
gress to be complete independence to be attained by all
possible means. It was Mr. Gandhi, however, who by
virtue of his tremendous influence and popularity was
able to keep the Left-Wingers at bay. The Constitu-
tion that was adopted at Nagpur and which holds good
even today, was practically his own draft. A year be-
fore, at Amritsar, he had been authorised by the Con-
gress to revise the existing Constitution of that body.

Among the other resolutions adopted were those
relating to the revival of hand-spinning and hand-weav-
ing, removing of untouchability’ among the Hindus and
the collection of a fund of ten million rupees in memory
of the late Lokamanya Tilak. (The idea of bringing
back into use the ancient spinning-wheel in order to pro-
duce cloth as a cottage industry had struck Mr. Gandhi
a year before.) While the above resolutions were all of
a useful or beneficial character, there was one resolution
which must be regarded as a great blunder. That was
the decision to wind up the British Branch of the Indian
National Congress and stop publication of its organ,
the paper India. With the carrying into effect of
this resolution, the only centre of propaganda which the
Congress had outside India was shut down.

* This is explained later on.
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The Nagpur Congress, like the Calcutta Congress,
was a great triumph for Mr. Gandhi. It was his Consti-
tution and his plan of work that was adopted there. The
gathering was an unprecedented one, twenty thousand
people attending the Congress. Public enthusiasm was
at a very high pitch and among the distinguished visitors
were two Labour members of the British Parliament,
Mr. Ben Spoor and Col. Wedgwood. The Nagpur
Congress was an important landmark in the history of
the Indian Nationalist Movement. It stood for a com-
plete break with the Moderates, but it did not represent
a complete victory for the Extremists. The latter, as
we shall see subsequently, would have to work for many
vears before they could bring the Congress round to their
point of view.

Considered objectively, the plan which Mr. Gandhi
placed before the Congress and the country was not
something altogether new in the recent history of India.
The fight which the people of Bengal had waged against
the Government as a protest against the partition of
their province in 1905 by the then Viceroy, Lord
Curzon, had many features in common with the war of
non-violent non-co-operation started in 1920 under the
leadership of Mr. Gandhi. .In 1905, Bengal had resort-
ed to the boycott of British goods and of state-owned
educational institutions and there had simultaneously
been a revival of national industries and a growth of
national schools and colleges, free from the state inter-
ference of every kind. Moreover, leaders like Mr. B. C.
Pal had refused to give evidence before British law-
courts on the ground that they refused to recognise their
jurisdiction. Sri Arabindo Ghosh, the leader of the Ex-
tremist section of the Nationalist Movement in Bengal
in those days, had compared this policy with the policy
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of the Irish Sinn. Fein Party. Several decades earlier,
the country had witnessed another movement which
could also be regarded as a precursor of Mr. Gandhi’s
non-co-operation. Before scientists in Europe learnt to
produce synthetic indigo, Bengal was an important sup-
plier of indigo. The indigo plantations in those days
were owned by Britishers and these foreign landlords
were oppressive and brutal in their behaviour towards
the tenants. When their brutality became unbearable,
the tenants in Jessore and Nadia took the law into their
own hands. They refused to pay rent, stopped culti-
vating indigo and made it impossible for the British land-
lords to live there'and terrorise them. (A graphic des-
cription of these incidents can be found in the
book Nil-Darpan of the well-known Bengali writer,
Dinabandhu Mitra.) Thus the people had already
learnt to rid themselves of oppression through their own
exertions, where they found that the Government
neglected its duty.

It is a well-known fact that Mr. Gandhi had in his
earlier life been considerably influenced by the teachings
of Jesus Christ and the ideas of Leo Tolstoy. It cannot
therefore be claimed that he was altogether original in
his ideas or novel in his practice. But his real merit was
a twofold one. He translated the teachings of Christ
and the ideas of Tolstoy and Thoreau into actual practice
and demonstrated that it was possible to fight for liberty
without resorting to violence. Firstly, he used ‘non-
co-operation’ not for remedying local grievances, but for
winning national freedom and he well-nigh demonstrat-
ed that it was possible to paralyse the civil administration
of a foreign Government thereby and bring the Govern-
ment to its knees. A happy combination of factors
helped to bring Mr. Gandhi to the forefront in 1920.



72 THE INDIAN STRUGGLE

The attempted revolution during the Great War had
failed and the Revolutionary Party had been crushed.
There was consequently no possibility of another
revolution in 1920. Nevertheless, the country wanted a
bold and vigorous policy on the part of the Congress and
the only alternative was a movement like the one which
Mr. Gandhi started. Secondly, the death of Lokamanya
Tilak on the eve of the Calcutta Congress removed from
the field the only possible rival of Mr. Gandhi. Thirdly,
as a result of his long and careful preparation, Mr.
Gandhi was fully prepared to assume the undisputed
leadership of the Indian National Congress in 1920.
Through ascetic discipline he had equipped himself for
a life of suffering and during the period of his appren-
ticeship in Indian politics, from 1914 to 1920, he had
been able to gather round him a band of loyal and trust-
ed followers. Fourthly, he had acquired experience in
the use of the weapon of ‘Satyagraha’. Though his
movement against the Rowlatt Bills in 1919 had proved
to be abortive, he had won considerable success in South
Africa. Before 1919 he had occasion, moreover, to
make use of Satyagraha five times in India with very
good results. Last but not least, he had gathered
round his head a halo of saintliness which was of inestim-
able value to him in a country where the people revere
the saint more than the millionaire or the Governor.
~ In spite of the democratic constitution of the Indian
National Congress, at Nagpur, Mr. Gandhi emerged as
the virtual Dictator of the Congress. He was, more-
over, spontaneously acclaimed by the people as Mahatma
(meaning literally a high-souled man or saint). That
was the highest tribute that the Indian people could
give him.

Throughout the year 1919, lightning and thunder
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had raged in the political sky of India—but towards the
end of the year the clouds lifted and the Amritsar Con-
gress seemed to herald an era of peace and quiet. But
the promise of Amritsar was not fulfilled. Once again
the clouds began to gather and towards the end of 1920
the sky was dark and threatening. With the new year
came whirlwind and storm. And the man who was
destined to ride the whirlwind and direct the storm was
Mahatma Gandhi.



CHAPTER TWO
THE STORM BREAKS (1921)

The defection of the Moderates from the Congress
was responsible for lowering to some extent the intellec-
tual level of that body. But this loss was more than
compensated by the rallying of the masses round the
Congress banner. Moreover, Mahatma Gandhi did get
as his trusted colleagues some veteran Congressmen
whose reputation stood high in the country and who
now renounced their professional work in order to give
their whole time to the Congress. Mr. C. R. Das,’ the
pleader of Calcutta Bar, who had already made a name
in Indian politics as also in Bengali literature, gave up
his princely income and plunged into the Non-co-
operation Campaign. From Allahabad came Pandit
Motilal Nehru, the leader of the Allahabad Bar, who
also gave up his professional work. He was joined by
his son—Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru—also an advocate by
profession, who was destined to make a name for him-
self in the days to come. From the Punjab, Lala
Lajpat Rai, the uncrowned king of that province who
had been a lawyer in his earlier life, came forward to join
the Mahatma. From the Bombay Presidency, the
Mahatma got the support of the Patel Brothers, Mr.
Vithalbhai and Mr. Vallabhbhai, both advocates by pro-
fession—and also Mr. N. C. Kelkar of Poona, who was
the successor of late Lokamanya Tilak in Maharashtra
(the southern and eastern portion of Bombay Presi-

' So great was the popularity of Mr. C. R. Das at the time that he
was spontaneously given the title of ‘Deshabandhu’ by the people. ‘Desha-
bandhu’ means literally ‘friend of the country’.



THE STORM BREAKS 75

dency). The leaders of the Central Provinces who
joined the Mahatma were Dr. Moonje, an eye-physician
and Mr. Abhayankar, an advocate. The leader of Bihar
was Mr. Rajendra Prasad, who renounced a fat income
and a most promising career at the Patna Bar in order to
work for the Congress. From the Tamil-speaking
portion of Madras Presidency came Mr. Rajagopala-
chari, Mr. A. Rangaswami Iyengar and Mr. Satyamurti,
and from the Telegu-speaking portion Mr. Prakasam,
all lawyers by profession. On the supreme executive of
the Congress there also sat the Ali brothers—Moulana
Mohammed and Moulana Shaukat Ali, Moulana Abul
Kalam Azad, one of the most learned of the Moslem
divines and Dr. Ansari of Delhi—all of whom represent-
ed the new awakening among the Indian Moslems.
Thus it will be seen that it was a very good team that
Mahatma Gandhi was able to collect at the outset of his
campaign.

Among those who gave up their professional work
in response to the appeal of the Congress, the lawyers
played a most important part. The example of lawyer-
princes like Deshabandhu Das and Pandit Motilal Nehru
was followed by lesser lights among the lawyer-fraternity
throughout India and as a result, the Congress ranks
were replenished by a large number of the whole-time
workers of standing and influence. The appeal of the
Congress for boycott of law-courts met with a fair mea-
sure of success. Wohile a large number of lawyers gave
up their practice for good, there was, on the other hand,
an intensive campaign to dissuade litigants from ap-
proaching British law-courts and persuade them to settle
their disputes by arbitration. As a matter of fact, arbi-
tration-boards under the control of the Congress came
into existence all over the country and owing to their
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efforts the Government revenue from litigation was
considerably reduced. Along with the boycott of law-
courts, a campaign was started for promoting temper-
ance and stopping the use of intoxicants of all kinds.
The success of this campaign was remarkable through-
out India and in many provinces the excise rcvenue (that
is, the revenue from the trade in liquor and other intoxi-
cants) was reduced to one-third of what it formerly was.
In some provinces, as in Bihar, the Government felt
obliged to conduct a campaign for popularising the use
of liquor and other intoxicants in order to increase their
revenue.

The temperance movement was exceedingly popular
among the masses and it fulfilled a moral as well as an
economic purpose, while it caused considerable em-
barrassment to the Government. This movement was
accompanied by a campaign for the removal of untouch-
ability. In certain parts of India, especially in the
south, some castes like sweepers, scavengers, etc., had
been treated as untouchables. That is to say, the other
castes would not dine with them, would not take food or
drink served by them and, in some places, would not
allow them to enter the temples. This custom was a
factor working against the solidarity of the Indian
people and from the moral and human standpoint was
quite unjustifiable. It was therefore but natural that
when the Congress resolved to launch a campaign for
winning political freedom for India, it should also seek
to emancipate the masses from the shackles of social
bondage of every kind.

In order to afford some measure of economic relief
to the masses, the Congress advocated the boycott of
foreign cloth and the revival of hand-spinning and hand-
weaving on a large scale. The idea of boycotting
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foreign cloth was not a new one—since the cry of boy-
cott of British cloth had been first raised in Bengal as
early as 1905. The revival of hand-weaving was also
not a new proposal, since the Indian handloom industry
had held its own against the competition of foreign and
Indian mills. But the idea of reviving hand-spinning,
which had practically gone ou} of use, was a novel and
a daring one. It was difficult at first to find the men
or women who could teach others to spin. The
Mahatma, who was himself a good spinner, arranged to
turn out batches of men and women who themselves
could spin and teach spinning. Within a short time
thousands of men and women were sent out all over the
country, including the remotest villages, to teach the
villagers how to spin. It was also difficult at first to get
or Buy spinning-wheels. They had to be manufactured
in the cities and sent out to the villages, till the village
carpenters learned how to make them once again. The
cloth woven in hand-looms out of hand-spun yarn was
called ‘Khadi’ or ‘Khaddar’ and was more coarse than
mill-made cloth. As the production of this cloth began
to increase, it automatically became the uniform of all
Congressmen in India. They were required to set an
example to the people by voluntarily wearing coarse
‘Khadi’ and discarding fine mill-made cloth.

To undertake the above work, both men and money
were required. The Mahatma therefore appealed to the
nation for ten million members for the Congress and a
fund of ten million rupees (183 rupees=one pound
approximately). The response to this appeal proved to
be most encouraging but in order to go round collecting
money and enlisting members, an initial band of workers
was necessary. This band of workers had to be supplied
by the student community and the year 1921 therefore
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opened with an extensive campaign for the boycott of
schools and colleges. Students responded to the appeal
in large numbers and the response was the greatest in
Bengal where the imagination of the youths had been
stirred by the colossal sacrifice made by Deshabandhu
C. R. Das. It was these student-workers who carried
the message of the Congress to all corners of the coun-
try, who collected funds, enlisted members, held
meetings and demonstrations, preached temperance,
established arbitration-boards, taught spinning and
weaving and encouraged the revival of home industries.
Without them, all the influence of Mahatma Gandhi
would not have carried the country very far.

There has been much criticism of the policy of with-
drawing students from educational institutions in 1921.
Nevertheless, if one dispassionately reviews the situation
in the country in 1920-21 the conclusion will be irresist-
ible that the Congress had no option in the matter, if it
desired its resolutions to be translated into action. It
should also be stated that though originally the Congress
did not take in hand the task of establishing ‘national’
institutions, later on such institutions were started all
over the country. Those students who had withdrawn
from state-owned or state-controlled institutions in a
spirit of non-co-operation but who desired to continue
their studies under more salutary conditions, could join
the newly-started national institutions and continue
their studies. Such institutions were started in Bom-
bay, Ahmedabad (in Bombay Presidency), Poona (in
Bombay Presidency), Nagpur (in Central Provinces),
Benares (in the United Provinces), Patna (in Bihar),
Calcutta and Dacca (in Bengal). Some of these were
for literary education, while others were for technical or
medical education—but spinning was compulsory in all
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of them. In many places there were separate institu-
tions for girls. Many of these institutions still exist
and some of them are in a flourishing condition. Be-
sides these educational institutions, another set of insti-
tutions spontaneously grew up all over India. These
were called ‘ Ashramas’. Built on the model of the her-
mitage of old, they were homes for the whole-time
political workers. New recruits were also trained there
and the local office of the Congress wguld often be
housed in the same premises. The Ashramas also served
sometimes as centres for spinning and weaving. From
these centres raw cotton and yarn would be distributed
among the spinners and weavers and would be received
back as yarn and cloth respectively. In many Ashramas
there would also be a reading-room and a library for the
use of the Congress workers and of the local public.

In the programme of progressive non-co-operation
adopted at Nagpur in December 1920, there was, be-
sides the triple boycott, an item regarding the renuncia-
tion of titles conferred by—and resignation of all posts
held under—the Government. A comparatively large
number of men gave up their titles but an insignificant
number resigned their jobs and among the latter was
myself. I had passed the Indian Civil Service in Eng-
land in 1920, but finding that it would be impossible to
serve both masters at the same time—namely the British
Government and my country—I resigned my post in
May 1921, and hurried back to India with a view to
taking my place in the national struggle that was then
in full swing. I reached Bombay on July 16th and the
same afternoon I obtained an interview with Mahatma
Gandhi. My object in seeking an interview with
Mahatma Gandhi was to get from the leader of the
campaign I was about to join, a clear conception of his
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plan of action. During the last few years I had made
some study of the methods and tactics employed by re-
volutionary leaders in other parts of the world and in
the light of that knowledge I wanted to understand the
Mahatma’s mind and purpose.

I remember vividly the scene of that afternoon. On
arriving at Mani Bhawan, the usual residence of
Mahatma in Bombay, I was ushered into a room covered
with Indian ogrpets. Almost in the centre, facing the
door, sat the Mahatma surrounded by some of his closest
followers. All were clad in home-made Khadi. As 1
entered the room, I felt somewhat out of place in my
foreign costume and could not help apologising for it.
The Mahatma recéived me with his characteristic hearty
smile and soon put me at ease and the conversation
started at once., I desired to obtain a clear under-
standing of the details—the successive stages—of his
plan, leading on step by step to the ultimate seizure of
power from the foreign bureaucracy. To that end I
began to heap question upon question and the Mahatma
replied with his habitual patience. There were three
points which needed elucidation. Firstly, how were
the different activities conducted by the Congress going
to culminate in the last stage of the campaign, namely,
the non-payment of taxes? Secondly, how could mere
non-payment of taxes or civil disobedience force the
Government to retire from the field and leave us with
our freedom? Thirdly, how could the Mahatma
promise ‘Swara)’ (that is, Home Rule) within one year
—as he had been doing ever since the Nagpur Congress?
His reply to the first question satisfied me. The
response to his appeal for ten million members and ten
million rupees having been found to be satisfactory, he
had proceeded to the next item in his plan—namely,
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the boycott of foreign cloth and the propagation of
home-made Khadi. During the next few months, his
efforts would be concentrated on the Khadi campaign.
And he expected that the Government would take the
initiative in attacking the Congress, the moment it
realised that the peaceful constructive activities of the
Congress were proving to be successful. When the
Government did so, the time would come for disobeying
governmental decrees and marching to prison. The
prisons would before long be filled to overflowing and
then would come the last stage of the campaign—
namely, the non-payment of taxes.

The Mahatma’s replies to the other two questions
were not convincing. I asked him if he expected that
the boycott movement would create so much distress in
Lancashire that pressure would be brought to bear on
Parliament and the Cabinet to make peace with India.
But the Mahatma gave me to understand that he did
not consider that to be the means whereby the Govern-
ment would be forced to come to terms with the
Congress. What his real expectation was, I was unable
to understand. Either he did not want to give out all
his secrets prematurely or he did not have a clear con-
ception of the tactics whereby the hands of the Govern-
ment could be forced.® Altogether, his reply to the
second question was disappointing and his reply to the
third was no better. What was to him a question of
faith—namely, that Swaraj would be won within one
year—was by no means clear to me and personally
speaking, I was prepared to work for a much longer
period. However, I had no other course but to feel

! Looking back on the incident today, it strikes me that possibly the
Mahatma expected a ‘change of heart’ on the part of the British Govern-
ment, leading to an acceptance of India’s national demands.
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thankful for what I had been able to learn after
an hour’s conversation. But though I tried to persuade
myself at the time that there must have been a lack of
understanding on my part, my reason told me clearly,
again and again, that there was a deplorable lack of
clarity in the plan which the Mahatma had formulated
and that he himself did not have a clear idea of the
successive stages of the campaign which would bring
India to her cherished goal of freedom.

Depressed and disappointed as I was, what was I to
do? The Mahatma advised me to report myself to
Deshabandhu C. R. Das on reaching Calcutta. I had
already written to the latter from Cambridge that I
had resigned the Indian Civil Service and had decided
to join the political movement. Stories had reached us
in England that he had given up his princely career at
the Bar and was going to devote his whole time to
political work, while making a gift of his entire property
to the nation. In my eagerness to meet this great man,
I overcame the somewhat depressing effect of my inter-
view with Mahatma Gandhi and I left Bombay with the
same excitement and the same enthusiasm with which
I had landed there. On reaching Calcutta, I went
straight to the house of Deshabandhu Das. Once again
I was disappointed. He was out on a long tour in the
interior of the province and I had no option but
to wait for his return. When I heard that he was -
back, I called again. He was out at the time but I was
received with great kindness and cordiality by his wife,
Srijukta Basanti Debi. Before long he arrived on the
scene. I can still picture before my mind’s eye his
massive figure as he approached me. He was not the
same Mr. Das whom I had once approached for advice
when he was one of the leaders of the Calcutta Bar and
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I a student, expelled from the University for political
reasons. He was not the same Mr. Das who was
earning thousands in a day and spending thousands in
an hour. Though his house was no longer a palace, he
was however the same Mr. Das, who had always been
a friend of youth, could understand their aspirations and
sympathise with their sorrows. During the course of
our conversation I began to feel that here was a man
who knew what he was about—who could give all that
he had and who could demand from others all they could
give—a man to whom youthfulness was not a short-
coming but a virtue. By the time our conversation
came to an end my mind was made up. I felt that I
had found a leader and I meant to follow him.

On settling down in Calcutta I proceeded to take
stock of the situation in the country and particularly in
the province of Bengal. Throughout the country there
was unparalleled enthusiasm. The ‘triple boycott’ had
been fairly successful. Though the legislatures were
not empty, no Congressmen had gone there. The
lawyers had on the whole made a good response and the
student community had come out of the ordeal with
flying colours.® The appeal for Congress members and
for funds had borne good fruit, and feeling highly
encouraged at the state of affairs the Mahatma had
launched in July a campaign for the boycott of foreign
cloth and the revival of spinning and weaving. On the
anniversary of the death of Lokamanya Tilak, August
1st, 1921, there were huge bonfires of foreign cloth all
over the country. A symbolic meaning was also given
by the Congress leaders to these bonfires which were

! The people had taken up enthusiastically the propaganda for the
removal of untouchability and for the stoppage of the drink and drug
traffic.
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to burn to ashes all the dross, all the dirt and all the
weakness that was in the country. The whole-hearted
support of the Moslem community and the novelty of
the method of non-co-operation brought more strength
to the movement, while the slogan of ‘Swaraj within
one year’ drew into the field many people who would
have been appalled by the prospect of a long period of
suffering.

In Bengal two important events took place—the
Assam-Bengal Railway Strike and the no-tax campaign
in Midnapore District. The railway strike paralysed
completely all rail and steamer traffic in East Bengal
and Assam. The strike was conducted under the
leadership of Bengal Congress Committee and in the
earlier stages it was so successful that it made the
people conscious of the power that they could wield if
only they could combine against the authorities. As
a timely settlement was not made, the strike dragged
on for a long period and it ultimately collapsed, bringing
disaster in its train. It was in connection with this strike
that Mr. J. M. Sen Gupta first came into prominence
before the public eye. The other event of importance
was the no-tax campaign in Midnapore District. In
1919 at the instance of Sir S. P. Sinha (afterwards
Lord Sinha), a member of the Executive Council of the
Governor of Bengal, an Act had been passed purporting
to introduce a measure of Self-Government for the
villages—whereby union-boards would be established
for every group of villages in the province. There had
been considerable criticism of this measure mainly on
two grounds—firstly, the power that should be
transferred to the villagers was still retained in the hands
of the district officials (for instance, the power to
appoint and dismiss village policemen) and secondly, the
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establishment of union-boards entailed additional taxa-
tion in return for which no advantages would accrue.
The Act provided that it was open to the Provincial
Government to introduce it in any district or to with-
draw it therefrom. Under the leadership of Mr. B. N.
Sasmal, an advocate, the people of Midnapore started
an agitation for the withdrawal of the Act from their
district, and to strengthen their demand they refused
to pay the taxes imposed by the newly-established
union-boards. The usual repressive measures were
taken to force the new Act on the district. Forcible
seizure of property, harassment and prosecution of the
villagers, intimidation by military police and by
soldiers—all were tried but without success. The orgy
of repression continued throughout the year 1921, but
the Act had ultimately to be withdrawn in 1922. The
success of this no-tax campaign gave considerable
strength and self-confidence to the people of Midnapore
and popularity to their leader, Mr. B. N. Sasmal.

It is necessary to interrupt our narrative here and
to refer to the attitude adopted by the authorities in
1921. At first, the Viceroy, Lord Chelmsford, did not
take Mahatma Gandhi seriously. In January, the
Duke of Connaught, uncle of the present King, visited
India with the object of inaugurating the new legis-
latures. His visit was boycotted by the Indian National
Congress and there were boycott demonstrations
wherever the Duke went. These demonstrations an-
noyed the Government of India and their attitude of
indifferent neutrality began to change slowly. In April,
Lord Chelmsford was succeeded by Lord Reading,
the brilliant ex-Lord Chief Justice of England. Soon
after his arrival, in the month of May, an interview was
arranged between him and Mahatma Gandhi. At this
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interview, Lord Reading gave an assurance to the
Mahatma that he would not interfere with the work
of the Congress as long as there was no resort to
violence. He further stated that in a speech of his,
Moulana Mohammed Ali, the right-hand man of the
Mahatma, had made an appeal for resorting to violence
and that the Government were thinking of prosecuting
him. The Mahatma promised to see to it that the
Moulana gave a public assurance that he would eschew
violence in every way and this promise was duly carried
out. Though there was nothing wrong or humiliating
in the whole affair, to the public eye it appeared as if
both the Mahatma and the Moulana had been out-
manoeuvred by the astute Viceroy. Though the con-
templated prosecution of Moulana Mohammed Ali was
dropped after this interview, he and other Moslem
leaders were arrested in September for their participa-
tion in the Khilafat Conference at Karachi in August
and were sentenced to two years’ ‘rigorous imprison-
ment’. At this Conference, a resolution was passed
calling upon all Moslems to give up service under the
Government, whether in a civil or in a military capacity
and this constituted a breach of the law. After the
conviction of the Ali brothers and their associates,
Mahatma Gandhi came forward to take up the challenge.
The same resolution was signed and published by forty-
six Congress leaders, and it was repeated from a thousand
platforms all over India. But the Government did not
make a single arrest and took no notice of this defiance
on the part of the Congress. In September, the
Indian Legislative Assembly—the Central Parliament
set up under the New Constitution—passed a resolution
urging an examination and revision of the constitution
earlier than 1929. No immediate reply to this came
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from the side of the Government but the following year,
the Secretary of State for India, Lord Peel, in a despatch
on the subject dated November 8rd, 1922, stated that it
was too early to contemplate a revision of the consti-
tution.

From the above narrative it might appear as if
throughout 1921 Mahatma Gandhi was riding on the
crest of a wave and had no obstacles to encounter. This
impression is not altogether correct. No doubt there
was a tremendous volume of mass opinion on his side
—but so far as the intelligentsia were concerned, there
were certain elements opposed to him. In the first
place, the Indian Liberals were everywhere arrayed
against him and in most provinces they had accepted
office as Ministers. This co-operation on the part of the
Liberals was the direct result of the efforts of Mr.
Montagu, the Secretary of State for India, and as long
as he remained in office—that is, till March 1922—they
were enthusiastically in support of the Constitution.
After his resignation from the British Cabinet, reaction
set in and Liberal leaders began to feel that it was be-
coming increasingly difficult for them to continue their
co-operation. In April 1922, Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru
resigned from the IExecutive Council of the Viceroy and
in May 1928, Mr. Chintamani, Liberal Leader of the
United Provinces, resigned the office of Minister of
Education in that province. Gradually the Liberals all
turned against the Government and by 1927 the change
was so great that when the Simon Commission was
appointed, Congressmen and Liberals could preach
boycott from the same platform.

Closely allied with the Indian Liberals in mentality
and outlook were the University authorities who had
been hard hit by the Congress policy of boycott of
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educational institutions. Though their influence had
been drowned for the time heing by the rising tide of
non-co-operation, they continued to exert what influence
they still possessed against the Congress. In this effort
they had the support of no less a personality than India’s
illustrious poet, Dr. Rabindranath Tagore. The poet
arrived in Bombay from Kurope about the middle of
July. As a matter of fact, I travelled in the same boat
with him. During our voyage, I had occasion to discuss
with him the new policy of non-co-operation adopted
by the Congress. He was by no means hostile to the
idea. He was only anxious that there should be more
of constructive activity, so that ultimately a state within
the state could be built up, entirely on the ca-operation
and support of the people. What he suggested was
analogous to the constructive side of the Irish Sinn Fein
movement and was completely in accord with my views.
But immediately after his arrival in India, he was sur-
rounded by a group of people who were opposed to the
Non-co-operation Movement and who began to point
out to him only the shortcomings of that movement—
as well as the personal views of the Mahatma on modern
science and modern medicine, which had no connection
with the political programme of the Congress. Under
the impression that the Non-co-operation Movement
was aiming at a break with Western science, culture and
civilisation, the poet delivered a forceful address in
Calcutta under the caption ‘Unity of Culture’ and
roundly condemned any aticmpt to isolate India from
the culture and civilisation of the rest of the world and
deprecated the boycott of educational institutions. Con-
gress circles could not take this assault lying down but
it was impossible to find a literary man of the same stand-
ing as the poet to reply to his attack. However, the



THE STORM BREAKS 89

premier novelist of Bengal. Sarat Chandra Chatterji,
ventured to give a reply in an address on ‘The Conflict
of Cultures’. The burden of his address was that though
culture had a universal basis, each country had its own
specific culture which was the creation of its national
genius. India had to preserve and develop her own
culture and if in doing so, she had to boycott the educa-
tional institutions which were under British influence,
there was nothing objectionable in it. An attack
from the poet was exceedingly unwelcome to the
Mahatma, particularly because they had been great
friends ever since the latter’s return to India from South
Africa. The Mahatma had therefore to pay several
visits to the poet in order to pacify him. With the lapse
of time the poet’s opposition was completely disarmed
and he became one of the staunchest supporters of the
Mahatma in his subsequent campaigns.

While opposition to the Mahatma’s policy of non-
co-operation came from the intellectuals, opposition to
his cult of non-violence came from another quarter—
namely, the Revolutionary Party. During the Great
War, thousands of revolutionaries had been imprisoned
and most of them were subsequently released as a result
of the amnesty declared in 1919. Many of them did not
approve of the doctrine of non-retaliation which they
apprehended would demoralise the people and weaken
their power of resistance. There was a possibility that
the ex-revolutionaries as a class would go against the
Congress owing to ideological differences. As a matter
of fact, a section of them had already started propaganda
in Bengal against the Non-co-operation Movement.
Strangely enough, funds had been provided by the
British Mercantile Community under the name of the
Citizens’ Protection League. The money was distri-
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buted through the medium of an Indian advocate who
did not disclose the source of the funds. Deshabandhu
C. R. Das was anxious to disarm the hostility of the
ex-revolutionaries and, if possible, to win their active
support for the Congress campaign. He, therefore,
arranged a conference in September between them and
the Mahatma, at which he also was present. The
ex-revolutionaries had a heart-to-heart talk with the
Mahatma and he and the Deshabandhu tried to convince
them that non-violent non-co-operation, instead of
weakening or demoralising the people, would strengthen
their power of effective resistance. The upshot of the
conference was that all those present promised to give
a full chance to the Congress to strive for Swaraj and
promised to do nothing to hamper its work, while many
of them agreed to join the Congress organisation as loyal
and active members.

The conference between the Mahatma and the
ex-revolutionaries took place behind closed doors in
September 1921, when he and other members of the
Congress Working Committee were staying as guests
of Deshabandhu C. R. Das. This was the first occasion
when I had an opportunity of coming into personal con-
tact with the prominent leaders of the Congress.
Besides the Deshabandhu, the outstanding personalities
then were Pandit Motilal Nehru, Lala Lajpat Rai and
Moulana Mohammed Ali. It is difficult to say how far
the Mahatma would have succeeded in 1921 without
their active support. To realise the importance of
Lalaji and Deshabandhu one has only to visualise the
political situation in the Punjab and in Bengal in their
absence. And in 1921, Nehru Junior (Pandit Jawaharlal
Nehru) was not so well known or experienced that he
could have replaced his father. Besides the influence
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which the first three leaders had in their own provinces,
their importance was also due to the fact that they were
the three outstanding intellectual stalwarts of the Con-
gress. Many of the blunders committed by the
Mahatma as a political leader could have been avoided if
they had been in a position to advise him. Since the
death of these three giants, the leadership of the
Congress has fallen to a low intellectual level. The
Congress Working Committee today is undoubtedly
composed of some of the finest men of India—men who
have character and courage, patriotism and sacrifice.
But most of them have been chosen primarily because of
their ‘blind’ loyalty to the Mahatma—and there are few
among them who have the capacity to think for them-
selves or the desire to speak out against the Mahatma
when he is likely to take a wrong step. In the
circumstances, the Congress Cabinet of today is a one-
man show.

In 1921, besides the above three leaders, the Al
brothers (Moulana Mohammed and Moulana Shaukat
Ali) had a unique position among the public. This was
due partly to their own activities and their suffering
during the Great War—partly to the new awakening
among the Moslems—but largely to the propaganda
conducted in their favour by the Mahatma. The
Mahatma associated himself so closely with them that
they came to be looked upon as the right and the left
hand of the Mahatma. In their company the Mahatma
toured the country and one clearly remembers that in
those days whenever there was a popular shout of
‘Victory to Mahatma Gandhi’ (Mahatma Gandh
Ki Jai), it would be accompanied by a shout of
‘Victory to the Ali Brothers’ (Ali Bhai-o-Ki Jai).
Though after some years the Ali brothers parted
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company with the Mahatma, I do not think one could
find fault with the latter for his intimate association with
them. The real mistake in my opinion did not lie in
connecting the Khilafat issue with the other national
issues, but in allowing the Khilafat Committee to be set
up as an independent organisation throughout the
country, quite apart from the Indian National Congress.
The result of this was that when later on Ghazi Mustafa
Kemal Pasha, as the leader of the New Turkey, forced
the Sultan to abdicate and abolished the office of Khalifa
altogether, the Khilafat question lost all meaning and
significance and the majority of the members of the
Khilafat organisations were absorbed by sectarian, re-
actionary and pro-British Moslem organisations. If no
separate Khilafat Committees had been organised and
all Khilafatist Moslems had been persuaded to join the
ranks of the Indian National Congress, they would prob-
ably have been absorbed by the latter when the Khilafat
1ssue became a dead one.

After the middle of the year, the political situation
began to grow tense. Neither the Government nor the
Congress knew at the time when the storm would break,
but signs of the coming clash began to appear in different
parts of the country. Throughout all these episodes the
public took the offensive and the Government played a
defensive role. Reference has already been made to the
no-tax campaign in Midnapore District in Bengal and
to the defiant conduct of the Congress leaders after the
incarceration of the Ali brothers in September, follow-
ing the Khilafat Conference at Karachi. Two other in-
cidents are worth mentioning—the ‘Akali’ movement
in the Punjab and the Moplah rebellion in Malabar in
the south. The Akalis were a section among the Sikhs
analogous to the Puritans among the Christians. They
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wanted primarily to reform the administration of the
Sikh shrines or Gurudwaras. These shrines were mostly
very rich and were administered by a set of ‘Mohants’,
who though required to act merely as trustees living an
ascetic and abstemious life, generally lived a thoroughly
disreputable life at the public expense. The Akalis
wanted to dispossess these Mohants and bring the
shrines under the administration of popular committees.
As always happens in an enslaved country, the Govern-
ment rallied to the support of the vested interests—the
Mohants. Thus a movement directed against the
Mohants soon developed into a movement against the
Government. The tactics of the Akalis were ih keeping
with the Congress policy of non-violent non-co-operation
and consisted in sending ‘Jathas’ or groups of men and
women to take possession of the shrines. They were
arrested and put into prison or mercilessly beaten and
torcibly dispersed. This movement went on for a year
till, in November 1922, the Government came to its
senses and introduced legislation in the Punjab Legisla-
tive Council to concede what the Akalis had demanded
from the beginning. The Moplahs of Malabar were a
section of the Moslem community. Their rising was
directed against the local Hindus; nevertheless it was
also an attack on the Government and as such, caused
them considerable anxiety and embarrassment. It has
significance also because it was the first incident to loosen
Hindu-Moslem unity.

In spite of these isolated phenomena of revolt, till
November 1921, there was no sign of a country-wide
conflict, far less of the Swaraj promised ‘within one
year’. Congress circles were therefore getting uneasy
and depressed, when the Government came to the res-
‘cue. An announcement was made that the Prince of
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Wales would visit India and that he would land in
Bombay on November 17th. The motive behind the
visit was, of course, to assuage public feeling and rally
public support for the Government. The Congress
Working Committee promptly issued instructions for
a boycott of the Prince’s visit. It was stated that,
though the people had nothing against the Prince per-
sonally, since he was coming to strengthen the bureau-
cracy which they were engaged in fighting, they had no
option but to boycott his visit. As a first step towards
this boycott, a ‘hartal’ or boycott demonstration was
called for November 17th, when there should be a
complete suspension of business all over the country.
On that day, the boycott demonstration in Bombay was
not a success. There was a clash between supporters
of the Government and those of the Congress which
resulted in prolonged rioting. But in Northern India,
especially in Calcutta, the demonstration was a unique
success, due largely to the wholehearted co-operation of
the Khilafat organisations. So great was the success in
Calcutta that the Anglo-Indian Papers, the Statesman
and Englishman, wrote the next day that Congress
volunteers had taken Possession of the city and
the Government had abdicated and they demanded
immediate and drastic action against the Congress
volunteers. Within twenty-four hours, the Govern-
ment of Bengal issued a notification declaring them to be
illegal. This was followed by similar notifications in
other parts of the country.

We had been spoiling for a fight in Calcutta and the
official notification therefore was thrice welcome to us.
The general opinion was in favour of an immediate reply
to the official challenge. But our leader, Deshabandhu
Das, was cautious. He wanted time to take stock of
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his following in the province and to consult Mahatma
Gandhi and the Working Committee. Secret circulars
were sent out at once to different parts of the province
for a report as to the measure of public support that
would be forthcoming if the Congress started open
defiance of the official ban. In less than a week en-
couraging reports began to pour in from the districts.
A meeting of the Provincial Congress Committee of
Bengal was thereupon summoned behind closed doors
towards the end of November to decide our course of
action. This committee was a body of about 800 mem-
bers representing the Congress organisations of Bengal.
By that time I had become a member of that body and
I was able to participate in the deliberations. It was
unanimously decided to start civil disobedience and in
view of the state of emergency, all the powers of the
committee were vested in its President, Deshabandhu
Das,—and he was further authorised to nominate his
successors. Thus he was appointed the Congress Dic-
tator for the province—a procedure which was to be
tollowed subsequently all over the country.

Contrary to the advice given by the younger hot-
heads of the party who wanted to commence with a big
demonstration, the leader decided to make a modest
beginning. He wanted, he said, to work up the move-
ment slowly and restrict the fight to a single clear issue.
That issue was—would the Government take action if
batches of five volunteers went out peacefully to hawk
Khadi cloth—not in uniform as we had suggested, but
in mufti? If they did so, then the public would regard
the action of the Government as wholly arbitrary and
unjustified and all sections would then rally to the sup-
port of the Congress. On this issue the fight began and
I was put in charge of the campaign. My work as the
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Principal of the National College could not be continued
and more so, because the students and some members
of the staff were anxious to join the campaign. We
1ssued an appeal for volunteers who would go out to defy
the official ban and accept all the consequences. The
response was discouraging. Apparently the public were
still lukewarm and some stimulus was required to stir
them up. The leader suggested that his son and his
wife should go out as volunteers in order to set an
example to others. We opposed the idea especially on
the ground that no lady should be permitted to go out
as long as there was a single man left. But the leader
was adamant in his decision. So the next day young
Das, who was about the same age as myself—went out
at the head of the volunteers and was at once taken to
prison.’ There was an immediate change in the atmo-
sphere and more volunteers began to enlist—but even
that was not enough. So the turn came for Mrs. Das.
Accompanied by her sister-in-law, Mrs. Urmila Devi
and another associate, Miss Suniti Devi, she went out at
the head of volunteers. When the news spread in the
city that Mrs. Das and other ladies had been taken to
prison, there was wild excitement. In utter indigna-
tion young and old, rich and poor began to pour in as
volunteers. The authorities were alarmed and they
converted the city into an armed camp. But our battle
was half-won.

Indignation was not confined to the public but spread
within the ranks of the hitherto loyal police. At the
police-station, as Mrs. Das stepped into the prison-van,

! According to the rules of non-co-operation, a Congressman was re-
quired not to put up a defence when brought up for trial before a British
law-court, The prosecution therefore had an easy time and it would not
generally take more than a few minutes to dispose of the cases.
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to be conveyed to prison, numbers of police constables
came up to her and vowed that they were going to resign
their jobs the same day. There was consternation in
Government circles. No one knew at the time how far
the contagion would spread. Orders were issued at once
by Government that the pay of police constables would
be substantially increased. The same evening at a din-
ner party in the Government House there was a sensa-
tion. Mr. S. N. Mullick, a leading Liberal politician
(who was afterwards a member of the Council of the
Secretary of State for India)—when he heard of Mrs.
Das’s arrest—Ileft Government House immediately as
a protest. So tense was the excitement that before mid-
night the Government had to order the release of Mrs.
Das and her associates, and the public were given to
understand that the arrests had been made through a
mistake. From the next day thousands of students and
factory-workers began to enlist as volunteers. Within
a few days the two big prisons in the city were filled with
political prisoners. Camp-prisons were then opened but
they too were filled in no time. 'Thé Government then
resorted to drastic action. Orders were issued for the
arrest of Deshabandhu Das and his close associates, and
by the evening of December 10th, 1921 we were all in
prison.

But these arrests acted as a further stimulus and as
more people were arrested the prison-administration be-
came more unmanageable. Orders were given for the
release of a large number of political prisoners but no
one would leave the prison, and moreover, it was im-
possible to identify them. Sometimes they would be
taken to the prison office on the pretext of being trans-
ferred to some other prison or of being interviewed by
their relatives and there they would be set free. When

7
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this trick was discovered, no prisoner would leave his cell
when called by a prison-official. Prisoners were there-
upon taken forcibly to the prison-gate and set at liberty.
Outside prison, tactics were changed. Arrests were
stopped and orders were given that sticks and batons
should be used freely by the police in dealing with crowds
and demonstrators. In some cases demonstrators were
removed in police-vans to out-of-the-way places thirty
miles from the city and there asked to walk back home.
A liberal use was also made of the hose in order to give
the demonstrators free cold baths in winter.

But it was clear to everybody that these makeshift
arrangements and tactics would not do. The situation
was going out of hand from the official point of view.
The novelty of the tactics employed by the Congress
had nonplussed the Government. They could of course
have made a reckless and ruthless use of force on a large
scale to put down the movement as they did subsequent-
ly, but they were embarrassed by the presence of the
Prince of Wales in India. The Prince of Wales was
due to arrive in Calcutta—the storm centre of the 1921
movement—on December 24th, and about a week before
that, the Viceroy, Lord Reading, arrived there. The
members of the Calcutta Bar had previously agreed to
invite him to a banquet, as he was ex-I.ord Chief Justice
of England. But in view of the arrest of Deshabandhu
Das, they cancelled the engagement. The Government
of India thus found themselves in an exceedingly diffi-
cult position as they met with opposition everywhere.
In the first place, though the civil disobedience move-
ment was strongest in Bengal, it was fairly strong
throughout Upper India and no province was free from
it. In addition to this the Akali movement in the
Punjab, the no-tax campaign in the Midnapore District
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in Bengal, and the Moplah Rebellion in Malabar in
South India intensified the crisis. Outside India, the
Sinn Fein Movement in Ireland had been largely
successful, a treaty with Great Britain having been
signed on December 6th, 1921. Some months earlier,
Afghanistan had entered into a treaty with Mustafa
Kemal Pasha and this was followed by a treaty between
Persia and Soviet Russia. In Egypt, the Nationalist
Wafd Party of Syed Zaghlul Pasha was strong and
active. Thus it was apparent that the entire Moslem
world was combining against Great Britain and this had
an inevitable reaction on the Moslems of India. In
these circumstances it was no surprise that the Govern-
ment of Lord Reading should be anxious for a settlement
with the Congress. A peace-maker was found in Pandit
Madan Mohon Malaviya, the veteran nationalist leader,
who for reasons of his own, had kept away from the 1921
movement. He came to interview Deshabandhu Das in
the Presidency Jail with a message from the Viceroy.
The offer that he brought was that if the Congress agreed
to call off the civil disobedience movement immediately,
so that the Prince’s visit would not be boycotted by the
public, the Government would simultaneously withdraw
the notification declaring Congress volunteers illegal and
release all those who had been incarcerated thereunder.
They would further summon a Round Table Conference
of the representatives of the Government and the Con-
gress to settle the future constitution of India.

The leader had a long discussion with Moulana Abul
Kalam Azad, the outstanding Moslem leader of Calcutta
and with Pandit Malaviya. Some other points had to be
decided, including the question of the release of the Ali
brothers and their associates, who had been sentenced
to two years’ hard labour at Karachi in September.
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On this point the official reply was that since they had
not been sentenced in connection with the civil disobe-
dience movement, the Congress should not press for
their release as a part of the terms of settlement. But
the Viceroy was prepared to give an assurance that they
would actually be released in due course. When
Deshabandhu Das broached the subject to us and asked
for our opinion, the younger section, including myself,
vehemently opposed the idea of an armistice on those
terms. Thereupon he entered into an elaborate dis-
cussion with us and advanced the following arguments
in support of his contention that a compromise should be
made at once. Rightly or wrongly, he said, the
Mahatma had promised Swaraj within one year. That
year was drawing to a close. Barely a fortnight was left
and within this short period something had to be achiev-
ed in order to save the face of the Congress and fulfil the
Mahatma’s promise regarding Swara). The offer of the
Viceroy had come to him as a godsend. If a settlement
was made before December 81st and all the political
prisoners were released, it would appear to the popular
imagination as a great triumph for the Congress. The
Round Table Conference might or might not be
a success, but if it failed and the Government re-
fused to concede the popular demands—the Congress
could resume the fight at any time and when it
did so, it would command greater prestige and public
confidence.

The above logic was irrefutable and I felt convinced.
Under the joint signatures of Deshabandhu Das and
Moulana A. K. Azad, a telegram was sent to Mahatma
Gandhi recommending for acceptance the proposed
terms of settlement. A reply came to the effect that
he insisted on the release of the Ali brothers and their
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associates as a part of the terms of settlement and also
on an announcement regarding the date and composi-
tion of the Round Table Conference. Unfortunately, the
Viceroy was not in a mood for any further parleying and
wanted an immediate decision. All that the Desha-
bandhu could do in the circumstances was to send for
his friends who were then outside prison and urge upon
them that they should use all possible means to get the
Mahatma to agree. These friends did so and many
telegrams passed between Calcutta and Sabarmati, the
usual residence of the Mahatma near Ahmedabad.
Ultimately the Mahatma did come round, but by then
it was too late. The Government of India, tired of
waiting, had changed their mind. The Deshabandhu
was beside himself with anger and disgust. The chance
of a lifetime, he said, had been lost.

The feeling among the political prisoners, as also
among the Congress rank and file, was that the Mahatma
had committed a serious blunder. Only a minority,
who had blind faith in him, refused to pass any judg-
ment. However, since the opportunity had been lost,
there was no option but to make the best of a bad situa-
tion. The Deshabandhu had been elected President of
the ensuing Congress which was to meet at Ahmedabad
in the last week of December. His half-written speech,
which was a vindication of the principles and methods
of the non-co-operation movement, was sent to the Con-
gress and the presidential chair was filled, in his absence,
by Hakim Ajmal Khan, the outstanding leader of Delhi.
There was great enthusiasm at the Ahmedabad Congress
and the main resolution was one which called upon the
whole country to adopt a policy of individual and mass
civil disobedience. Every man and woman was exhort-
ed to join the National Volunteer Corps, defy the
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emergency ordinances and court imprisonment. The
Congress further appointed the Mahatma as the Dicta-
tor for the whole country, following the precedent of the
Bengal Congress Committee, who had appointed the
Deshabandhu as the Dictator for the province.

There was an interesting episode at the Ahmedabad
Congress. Moulana Hasrat Mohani, an influential
Moslem leader of the United Provinces, moved a reso-
lution to the effect that the goal of the Indian National
Congress should be defined in the constitution as the
establishment of a republic (the United States of India).
So impassioned was his eloquence and so responsive was
the audience, that one felt as if the resolution would be
carried by a large majority. But the Mahatma rose to
oppose the resolution and with great sobriety argued
against the proposition, with the result that it was
thrown out by the house. The proposition was, how-
ever, to be brought up over and over again at subsequent
Congresses till it was accepted at the Lahore Congress
in 1929, the mover on that occasion being none other
than the Mahatma himself.

W ith the dissolution of the Congress, the year 1921
came to an end. Nothing of a startling character hap-
pened on or before December 81st. The promised
Swaraj did not come. A few months earlier, at the
conference with the ex-revolutionaries of Bengal, the
Mahatma had said that he was so sure of getting Swaraj
before the end of the year that he could not conceive of
himself as living beyond December 81st, without having
won Swaraj. He had further said that provincial auto-
nomy and diarchy in the Central Government he could
have for the mere asking, but he wanted full Dominion
status and if he had that, he would be prepared to unfurl
the Union Jack over his Ashrama. As the curtain was
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rung down on December 81st, 1921, these words floated
like dreams before my mind’s eye.

Before the end of the year, with the exception of
Mahatma Gandhi, all the other important leaders were
in prison. As a matter of fact, at the time of the negotia-
tions between the Deshabandhu and the Viceroy, none
of the outstanding intellectual stalwarts was in a position
to advise the Mahatma as to the proper course for him
to adopt. If they had done so, then, in all probability,
events would have taken a different course. There can
of course be no doubt that within twelve months the
country had made tremendous progress and much of the
credit for that belonged to the Mahatma. But what has
to be regretted is that he did not show sufficient diplo-
macy and prudence when the crucial hour arrived. In
this connection I am reminded of what the Deshabandhu
used frequently to say about the virtues and failings
of Mahatma Gandhi’s leadership. According to him,
the Mahatma opens a campaign in a brilliant fashion;
he works it up with unerring skill ; he moves from suc-
cess to success till he reaches the zenith of his campaign
—but after that he loses his nerve and begins to falter.

Before we close this chapter it would be desirable to
take stock of the year’s achievements and failures. The
year 1921 undoubtedly gave the country a highly-
organised party-organisation. Before that, the Congress
was a constitutional party and mainly a talking body.
The Mahatma not only gave it a new Constitution and
a nation-wide basis—but what is more important,
converted it into a revolutionary organisation. The
trocolour national flag—red,” green and white—
was adopted all over the country and assumed great

! The colour red in the national flag has now been altered to saffron.
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importance. Uniform slogans were repeated every-
where and a uniform policy and ideology gained cur-
rency from one end of India to the other. The English
language lost its importance and the Congress adopted
Hindi (or Hindustani) as the lingua franca for the whole
country. Spontaneously, Khadi became the official
uniform for all Congressmen. In short, all the features
of a modern political party became visible in India. The
credit for such achievements naturally belongs to the
leader of the movement—Mahatma Gandhi. He has
unfortunately been guilty of many serious blunders—
‘Himalayan blunders’ to use his own language. And
the fact that even today he is enthroned in the hearts of
his countrymen does not mean that he has been free
from errors of judgment but that his positive achieve-
ments have been really so great that his countrymen are
prepared to forgive his mistakes.

It is necessary, in this connection, to refer to some
of the shortcomings inherent in the movement from the
very beginning and which were to reveal themselves
more and more with the lapse of time. In the first
place, too much power and responsibility was handed
over to one man. The disadvantages of such a state of
things were not so great, while Deshabandhu C. R. Das,
Lala Lajpat Rai and Pandit Motilal Nehru were alive,
since they could control the Mahatma to some extent.
But since their death the entire intellect of the Congress
has been mortgaged to one man and those who dare to
think freely and speak out openly are regarded by the
Mahatma and his disciples as heretics and treated as such.
Secondly, the promise of ‘Swara)’ within one year was
not only unwise but childish. It made the Congress
appear so foolish before all reasonable men. No doubt
the Mahatma’s disciples have tried subsequently to
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explain away the point by saying that the country did
not fulfil the conditions and so Swaraj could not be won
within one year. The explanation is as unsatisfactory
as the original promise was unwise—because arguing in
the same way, any leader can say that if you fulfil certain
conditions you can be free in one hour. In making
political forecasts, no leader worth the name should im-
pose impossible conditions. He should estimate what
conditions are likely to be fulfilled and what results are
likely to be achieved in a given set of circumstances.
Thirdly, the introduction of the Khilafat question into
Indian politics was unfortunate. As has already been
pointed out, if the Khilafatist Moslems had not started
a separate organisation but had joined the Indian Na-
tional Congress, the consequences would not have been
so undesirable. In that case, when the action of the
Turks themselves made the Khilafat issue a dead one,
the Khilafatist Moslems would have been completely
absorbed into the ranks of the nationalists.

The storm that was brewing in 1920 actually broke
in November 1921. During November and December
it raged with great intensity and when the new year
dawned, such was the prospect that it was impossible to
predict how long it would last. The year 1922 was,
however, destined to provide an anti-climax, as we shall
presently see.



CHAPTER THREE
THE ANTI-CLIMAX (1922)

It is not possible at this distant date to understand
how profoundly the people of India believed in 1921 that
Swaraj would be won before the end of that year. Even
the most sophisticated people shared this optimism. I re-
member listening once to the speech of an able Bengalee
advocate at a public meeting in 1921, in the course of
which he asserted in all seriousness: ‘We are surely
going to get Swara) before the year is out. If you ask
me how we are going to win it, I cannot answer. But
we are going to win it all the same.” On another occa-
sion in 1921, I was discussing with an exceptionally able
Calcutta politician some instructions issued by the
Mahatma. He had declared that all funds at the dis-
posal of the Congress should be spent before the end
of the year and that nothing should be left over for the
next. To anormal rational mind this seemed improper,
but defending the Mahatma, this friend said, ‘We have
deliberately chosen not to look beyond December 81st.’
All this may appear now as madness; nevertheless, it

-gives some idea of the exuberance of naive enthusiasm
and optimism that had taken possession of the country
that year.

With the dawn of the new year, 1922, a special effort
was made by the Mahatma to whip up public enthusiasm.
It was therefore decided to proceed to the last item in his
plan—namely, the non-payment of taxes. On February
1st, 1922, he sent an ultimatum to the Viceroy, Lord
Reading, saying that if within seven days the Govern-
ment did not demonstrate a change of heart, he would
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commence general non-payment of taxes in Bardoli sub-
division in Gujerat (northern part of Bombay Presi-
dency). It was reported that in Bardoli sub-division
there were many people who had worked with Mahatma
Gandhi in the passive-resistance movement in South
Africa and had acquired experience in work of that kind.
The beginning of the no-tax campaign in Bardoli would
be the signal for starting a similar campaign all over the
country. KElaborate arrangements were also made to
start a no-tax campaign' in Bengal simultaneously, and
the United Provinces and Andhra (northern portion of
Madras Presidency) were also well-prepared for a cam-
paign of that sort. The ultimatum of the Mahatma
threw the whole country into a fever of excitement.
With bated breath everybody began to count the hours
as they sped by. Suddenly there came a bolt from the
blue which left the people speechless and dumbfound-
ed. That was the incident at Chauri-Chaura.

On February 4th, at a place called Chauri-Chaura
in the United Provinces, the villagers in a fit of exas-
peration set fire to the police-station and killed some
policemen. When this news reached the Mahatma, he
was horrified at the turn of events and immediately sum-
moned a meeting of the Congress Working Committee
at Bardoli. At his instance, the Committee decided to
suspend the civil-disobedience movement (that is, the
defiance of laws and governmental decrees, including
non-payment of taxes) entirely throughout India for an
indefinite period and all Congressmen were enjoined to
confine themselves to peaceful constructive work. The
‘constructive programme’ included hand-spinning and
hand-weaving, removal of untouchability, promotion of

! Non-payment of the Chowkidari tax, which all villagers then had to
pay for the upkeep of the village police, etc.
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intercommunal unity, suppression of the drug traffic,
extension of ‘national’ education, suppression of litiga-
tion and establishment of arbitration-boards—without
voluntarily violating any law or governmental ordinance
existing at the time. \

The Dictator’s decree was obeyed at the time but
there was a regular revolt in the Congress Camp. No
one could understand why Mahatma should have used
the isolated incident at Chauri-Chaura for strangling
the movement all over the country. Popular resent-
ment was all the greater because the Mahatma had not
cared to _consult representatives from the different
provinces and because the situation in the country
as a whole was exceedingly favourable for the suc-
cess of the civil-disobedience campaign. To sound
the order of retreat just when public enthusiasm
was reaching the boiling-point was nothing short
of a national calamity. The principal lieutenants of
the Mahatma, Deshabandhu Das, Pandit Motilal Nehru
and Lala Lajpat Rai, who were all in prison, shared
the popular resentment. I was with the Deshabandhu
at the time and I could see that he was beside himself
with anger and sorrow at the way Mahatma Gandhi was
repeatedly bungling. He was just beginning to forget
the December blunder when the Bardoli retreat came
as a staggering blow. Lala Lajpat Rai was experienc-
ing the same feelings and it is reported that in sheer
disgust he addressed a seventy-page letter to the
Mahatma from prison.

In semi-official circles another explanation has been
given of the sudden wolte-face of the Mahatma.
It is alleged that elaborate arrangements had been
made by the Government in secret to render his no-tax
campaign at Bardoli a debacle and that a large portion
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of the next instalment of taxes had been already collect-
ed. Official circles, sympathetic to the Mahatma,
conveyed secret information to him regarding the
counter-measures adopted by the Government and
warned him of the possibility of a failure, in case he
launched the campaign. When Mahatma Gandhi was
brought face to face with these facts, he realised the
hopelessness of the situation and thinking that without
a successful campaign at Bardoli, he could not work up
the movement in the country, he decided to use the
Chauri-Chaura incident as a pretext for calling off the
civil-disobedience movement. Those who know the
Mahatma more intimately will not, however, accept
this explanation.

While the followers were fretting and fuming
against the Dictator, the astute ex-Lord Chief Justice
of England was not idle. Throughout 1921 he had
given the Mahatma a long rope, but since the Ahmeda-
bad Congress he began to look for an opportunity for
putting a stop to his activities. In his weekly paper
Young India, the Mahatma had written some articles
—the finest he has ever written and which will
rank for all time among his inspired writings—which
the Government held to be seditious. They could
therefore arrest him and get him sentenced to a long
term of imprisonment. But the point they had to con-
sider was what the effect of such an action would
be on the masses who idolised the Mahatma. Lord
Reading, it was reported, was genuinely afraid that in
spite of all the non-violence which the Dictator preach-
ed, his arrest would be followed by widespread disorder,
rioting and bloodshed. And coming after Lord
Chelmsford, under whose regime the Amritsar massa-
cres had taken place, he had no desire to repeat the
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terrible events of 1919. He was therefore anxiously
and nervously looking for an opportunity to strike at
the Mahatma when the latter himself took a step which
had a depressing effect all over the country and pro-
duced a revolt within the Congress itself. That was
the proper psychological moment for Lord Reading to
act—if the only Secretary of State for India, Mr.
Montagu, would not stand in his way. Fortunately for
the Government of India, early in March, owing to
differences with the Cabinet in England, Mr.
Montagu was forced to resign. The last obstacle was
therefore removed and on March 10th, 1922, Mahatma
Gandhi was made a prisoner.
The trial of Mahatma Gandhi was an historic event.
In describing the trial proceedings, Deshabandhu C. R.
Das in his presidential speech at the Gaya Congress in
December 1922, drew an analogy with the trial of Christ
before Pontius Pilate. A similar comparison was also
drawn by the well-known Y.M.C.A. leader, the late
Mr. K. T. Paul.’ In the trial, the Mahatma who des-
cribed himself as a farmer and a weaver, made a lengthy
statement describing how ‘from a staunch loyalist and
co-operator I have become an uncompromising disaffec-
tionist and non-co-operator’. And he ended his state-
ment with these words: ‘The only course open to you,
the Judge and the Assessors, is either to resign your
posts and thus dissociate yourselves from evil if you feel
that the law you are called upon to administer is an evil
and that in reality I am innocent, or to inflict on me the
severest penalty if you believe that the system and the
law you are assisting to administer are good for the
people of this country and that my activity is therefore
injurious to the public weal.’
! The British Connection with India, by K. T. Paul, London, 1927, p. 50,
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The English Judge, Mr. Broomfield, sentenced him
to six years’ imprisonment.

The resignation of Mr. Montagu was an indication
of the growing power of the Conservatives in the Co-
alition Cabinet of Mr. Lloyd George, the Premier.
Under pressure from the Tory members, Mr. Lloyd
George delivered in August his famous ‘steel-frame’
speech in which he described the Civil Service as the
steel-frame of the Indian administration which must re-
main British, no matter what other changes may over-
take India. 'This speech caused widespread resentment
in India, because people were looking forward to the
day when the power and the emoluments of the Civil
Service would be curtailed and the people given thereby
a due place in the administration of their country.
About this time, Lord Winterton, the new Under-
Secretary of State for India, visited India. One of the
purposes of his visit was to herald a new policy with re-
gard to the Indian Princes and Ruling Chiefs. The
vear before, when the Prince of Wales visited India, he
had noticed a great difference betwen his reception in
British India and in the Indian States. In British
India, his visit had been boycotted by the public, where-
as in the States he had no such unpleasant experience.
Since that moment, the British Government were led
to adopt a new attitude towards the Princes—an atti-
tude of greater friendship and cordiality. The Princes,
on their part, utilised the occasion for persuading the
Government of India to introduce legislation with a
view to suppressing hostile agitation and propaganda
conducted against the Princes from British India.
Accordingly in September 1922, a Bill was introduced
in the Assembly called the Indian States (Protection
against Disaffection) Bill. The Bill was thrown out by
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the Assembly but the Viceroy ‘certified’ it as urgent
and necessary and it became law. It is noteworthy in
this connection that the new Under-Secretary of State
for India, Liord Winterton, in his conferences with the
Viceroy and the Governors of Bombay, Madras and
Bengal, advocated this new attitude towards the Princes
and after his visit representatives of the Government of
India began to sing praises of the Princes whenever a
suitable opportunity presented itself.

In October there was a General Election in England.
The Coalition Government broke up and the Conser-
vatives came into power with Mr. Bonar Law at their
head and with Viscount Peel and Lord Winterton as
Secretary and Under-Secretary of State for India res-
pectively. The next month, Sir Basil Blackett was sent
out to India as the Finance Member to the Government
of India. The current of reaction began to grow
stronger and stronger in India. The Indian Liberal
readers, who under the influence of Mr. Montagu had
been led to work the Constitution and to accept office
as Ministers, found their position increasingly difficult.
Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru had already resigned from the
Viceroy’s Executive Council in April, following the re-
signation of Montagu in March. And in March 1928,
when the situation became unbearable for him, Mr.
Chintamani, the Minister for Education in the United
Provinces, resigned. During the whole of 1922 the
only decent acts which the Government did was to con-
cede the demands of the people in Midnapore district in
Bengal and of the Akali Sikhs in Punjab. In Midna-
pore, the new Village Self-Government Act, as a pro-
test against which the no-tax campaign had been start-
ed, was withdrawn, and in Punjab a new law was passed
under which all the Sikh shrines were taken out of the
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control of the Mohants and handed over to popu-
lar committees.

We must now interrupt our narrative and enquire
as to what the leaders had been doing in the meantime.
In the first week of December 1921, Lala Lajpat Rai
and most of his principal colleagues had been rounded
up by the police at a meeting of the Punjab Congress
Committee. A few days later, Deshabandhu Das and
most of his colleagues, including the Secretary of the
Bengal Congress Committee, Mr. B. N. Sasmal, and
myself had been placed under arrest. Following this,
Pandit Motilal Nehru and most of the important
Congressmen in the United Provinces had been clapped
into prison. According to the rules of non-co-opera-
tion, no Congressman could put up a defence before a
British Court of Law. Consequently, everywhere the
prosecution had an easy task. Most of the trials would
not last more than a few minutes and the same magis-
trate would dispose of hundreds of cases in one after-
noon. In the case of Deshabandhu Das, however, the
trial dragged on for two months and since Mr. Sasmal
and I had been made his co-accused in the same case, we
had to suffer the agony of a uselessly long trial. It was
freely talked about at the time that in view of the pres-
tige and influence commanded by the Deshabandhu, the
magistrate was unwilling to conviet him without some
show of legality. 'Time was therefore given again and
again to the prosecution to collect evidence to prepare
their case against him. 'The prosecution case rested on
certain notices, alleged to have been signed by
him, which were in violation of the Government procla-
mation, banning as illegal all volunteer organisations.
Those who worked in the office of the Bengal Congress
Committee knew, as a matter of fact, that these notices

8
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had not been signed by him. Nevertheless, the official
expert in handwriting gave evidence on oath that the
signatures were genuinely of the Deshabandhu and on
the strength of this so-called expert evidence, he was
convicted and sentenced to six months’ imprisonment.
These as well as other illegalities relating to his arrest
were pointed out in a statement made by him before
the court towards the end of his trial, in the course of
which he sought to prove that the Government never
hesitate to break the law when it suits their own pur-
pose. Before sentence was passed, a message was sent
on behalf of the prosecution saying that if he accepted
the Bardoli resolution, regarding the suspension of
civil disobedience, the Government would set him free
at once, but he refused to entertain any such proposal.
Soon after our conviction we were transferred
to another prison in Calcutta, the Alipore Central Jail,
where we had an opportunity of meeting representatives
from all the districts in Bengal. Except among the
orthodox followers of the Mahatma who were in a minor-
ity, the general feeling was one of resentment at the Bar-
doli decision. This feeling was directed more against the
Mahatma, since he was the Dictator of the All-India
Congress Committee and the Bardoli resolution had
been passed at his instance. Accepting the Bardoli re-
treat as an accomplished fact, the Deshabandhu tried to
devise means for rousing public enthusiasm once again
by a change in tactics. He thus conceived of his plan
of non-co-operation within the legislatures. Accord-
ing to this plan, Congressmen, instead of boycotting the
elections, would stand as candidates at the polls and
after capturing the elected seats, would carry on a policy
of uniform, continuous and consistent opposition to
the Government. The boycott of the legislatures, as
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conceived by the Calcutta Congress in 1920, had proved
to be a failure. While the nationalists had kept away
from the legislatures, undesirables had captured those
bodies. These people, instead of assisting the popular
movement in the country, had lent their support to the
Government. Through their help the Government
was able to demonstrate to the world that in their policy
of repression they had the support of the elected
members of the legislatures. According to the Desha-
bandhu, in a revolutionary fight, the points of vantage
should not be left in the hands of the enemy. There-
fore all elected seats in the legislatures, as also in all
public bodies (namely, municipalities, district boards,
etc.), should be captured by Congressmen. Where
there was room for doing any solid constructive work,
they could do so. But failing that, they could at least
keep up a systematic opposition to the members and
agents of the Government, and thereby prevent them
from doing mischief. Further, the election campaign
would give the Congress an occasion and an opportunity
for doing its own propaganda simultaneously all over
the country. The adoption of this new policy did not
imply that they were to abandon any of the other acti-
vities of the Congress, but simply meant an extension
of those activities to include capture of the elected seats
in the legislatures and all public bodies.

Discussions regarding this new plan were carried
on vigorously from day to day in the Alipore Central
Jail. It soon appeared that in all these discussions the
main contention of the opponents was that the Gov-
ernment of India Act, 1919, hardly left any room for
useful opposition within the legislatures. Owing to the
presence of Britishers and of other members nominated
by the Government, it was difficult, if not impossible,
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for the elected members to secure a majority either in
the Indian Legislative Assembly (the Central Legisla-
ture) or in the Provincial Legislatures. Further, the
Viceroy, in the case of the former and the Governors, in
the case of the latter, had powers of veto and certifica-
tion, whereby they could always override the decision
of the legislatures. The reply to this was that even if
the elected members did not have a majority, they could
still keep up a continuous opposition against the Gov-
ernment and thereby strengthen the agitation outside
the legislatures. Secondly, it would be possible for the
elected members to secure a majority in at least some of
the legislatures and if the Viceroy or the Governor set
aside the decision of any legislature, the Government
would stand condemned before the bar of public opi-
nion, both inside India and outside. Lastly, under the
existing constitution, a vote against the Ministers or
their departments could not be overridden by the
Governor of any province, and if the provincial legisla-
ture voted down the salaries of Ministers, they would
automatically be thrown out of office and the working
of the diarchical constitution would have to be suspend-
ed. As these discussions went on for some weeks, two
parties crystalled among the political prisoners in the
Alipore Jail and they proved to be the nuclei of the
future ¢ Swara) > and ° No-Change ’ parties. In May
1922, the annual conference of Congressmen in Bengal,
called the ‘Provincial Conference’, was held in Chitta-
gong. Mrs. C. R. Das was elected President of the
Conference because of the gallant part she had played
in last year’s movement. In her presidential speech,
she stated that the Congress might have to consider a
change in tactics and suggested. among other things,
that the policy of non-co-operation within the legisla-
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tures was worth considering. It was not difficult to
guess who had inspired her speech and taking it as a
feeler sent out by her husband, a storm of controversy
was at once let loose all over the country. It was clear
therefrom that the orthodox followers of the Mahatma
would not think of any deviation from the plan that he
had laid down before his arrest and that a stiff fight
would take place before the new plan could be adopted
by the Congress. This prospect, far from discouraging
us, helped to whip up our enthusiasm. The Desha-
bandhu had frequent discussions with his supporters in
prison and he chalked out his future line of action
in great detail. Among the measures that he con-
templated was the starting of daily papers in English
and in the vernacular—and out of this speculation came
the birth of .his paper Forward, which was started
in 1923 and soon attained distinctions as one of
the leading nationalist papers in India.

During 1922 conflicts between political prison-
ers and the prison authorities took place in many prisons
in India. Matters came to a head in two prisons in
Bengal—at Barisal and Faridpur. Political prisoners in
these prisons demanded decent treatment at the hands
of the authorities and refused to submit to the humiliat-
ing treatment generally meted out to prisoners in
Indian Jails. The authorities were stubborn and re-
sorted to flogging, but even that could not break the
backbone of the political prisoners. Meanwhile, in-
tense public indignation was roused by the news of the
flogging. Even the tame Bengal Legislative Council
was stirred to action and within the Government itself,
differences of opinion broke out. The Member in
charge of Jails, Sir Abdur Rahim, disapproved flog-
ging of political prisoners, but he could not carry the
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Government with him. As a protest he resigned the
portfolio of Prisons which was taken up by the then
Home Member of the Bengal Government, Sir Hugh
Stephenson.

After the arrest of Mahatma Gandhi, in March, the
Congress Working Committee was at a loss to decide
what to do. Thereupon, a Committee was appointed,
called the ‘Civil Disobedience Enquiry Committee’, for
the purpose of touring the country and reporting on the
possibility of starting civil disobedience again. The
general feeling among the members of this committee
was that it was not possible to start civil disobedience so
soon. But the point that it was difficult to settle was
what the Congress should do in the meantime. Should
the Congress be content with carrying on its peaceful
constructive work or should it adopt the mew plan sug-
gested by the Deshabandhu? The committee made an
extensive tour of the country and submitted a report
after some months. The members of the Committee
were equally divided in their conclusions. Hakim
Ajmal Khan (Delhi), Pandit Motilal Nehru (Allahabad)
and Mr. Vithalbhai J. Patel (Bombay) were in favour
of adopting the Deshabandhu’s plan of entering the
legislatures and Dr. M. A. Ansari' (Delhi), Mr. K. R.
Iyengar (Madras) and Mr. C. Rajagopalachari (Madras)
were against it. As the report was published shortly
before the Gaya session of the Congress to be presided
over by Deshabandhu Das, his hands were strengthened
by the report.

Towards the end of September 1922, there were un-
expected floods in the northern districts of Bengal.
Though floods and famines are of frequent occurrence

' In the light of this fact it is surprising that Dr. Ansari should be
one of the sponsors of the Council-entry proposal in 1984.
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in the India of today, the floods of 1922 were of an un-
precedented magnitude. Four large districts of Bengal
were affected, crops were destroyed, houses washed away
and cattle killed. As a result of the floods, there were
several cases of death also. The whole countryside was
one vast expanse of water. The Congress organisations
throughout the province promptly responded to
the appeal for relief and I was among the first batch to
arrive at the flooded area for the purpose of organising
relief. Thanks to the efforts of Sir P. C. Roy, the
famous chemist and the President of the Relief Com-
mittee and to the generosity of the public, a fund of
more than 400,000 rupees was raised, besides large con-
tributions in cloth, foodstuffs and fodder (for the
cattle). On this occasion the Government of Bengal
contributed a sum of 20,000 rupees and in justifying the
niggardliness of the Government, the Maharaja of
Burdwan, a member of the Governor’s Executive Coun-
cil, stated that the Government was not a charitable
institution. The relief operations conducted by the
public, without any aid from the Government were so
successful that they added greatly to the prestige of the
Congress, whose members were largely responsible for
them. In fact, we had the good fortune to be compli-
mented on our work by the Governor of Bengal, Lord
Lytton, personally when he inspected the flooded areas.
Since then, the Congress has always taken a leading part
in organising relief operations on the occasion of floods
and famines.

Between August and December two other note-
worthy events took place. The first was the meeting
of the All-India Trade Union Congress at Lahore,
which was presided over by Deshabandhu Das. In his
presidential speech he made a striking declaration to the

SALAK JUNG BaHA;
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effect that the Swaraj he was striving to win was not for
a section of the people—but for the masses who com-
prised 98 per cent of the population. Before and after
this meeting, he always took a keen interest in the trade
union movement and was for some time the President
of the Labour Association of the Tata Iron & Steel
Company at Jamshedpur. The other event was the
meeting of the Young Men’s Conference in Calcutta
which was the precursor of the youth movement in the
province. This Conference revealed the desire on the
part of the youth to have a movement and an organisa-
tion of their own, quite apart from the Indian National
Congress.

Towards the end of November, a meeting of the All-
India Congress Committee was held in Calcutta at
which there was a trial of strength between the support-
ers of Deshabandhu and of the Mahatma. This was a
prelude to the annual session of the Congress. In the
last week of December in an atmosphere tense with ex-
citement the plenary session of the Indian National
Congress assembled at Gaya. According to preli-
minary forecasts, Mr. Das’s plan was likely to be de-
feated. But no one could tell at the time how the voting
would go. It was clear, however, that Mr. Das would
have influential support from all the provinces, espe-
cially from Bengal, the United Provinces, the Punjab,
Central Provinces and Maharashtra (part of Bombay
Presidency). After stormy debates in the Subjects
Committee, the matter came up for voting before the
open session of the Congress. Mr. Srinivasa Iyengar,
a prominent leader from Madras, who was the leader of
the Madras Bar and had resigned the post of Advocate-
General of Madras, moved an amendment to the effect
that representatives of the Congress should contest the
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elections but should not participate in the work inside
the legislatures. On this amendment the principal
voting took place and resulted in a big majority for the
supporters of the Mahatma. Great was their enthu-
siasm and the hero of the day was the Madras leader,
Mr. Rajagopalachari, who stood up before the Congress
as the apostle of Gandhism.

The position of Mr. Das became rather anomalous.
He was the President of the Congress, but the plan he
advocated had been rejected. To settle his future
course of action, he summoned a meeting of his support-
ers. It was decided that he should resign the member-
ship of the Congress and organise his party under the
name of ‘Swaraj Party’. The next day when the All-
India Congress Committee met for the purpose of lay-
ing down the programme of work for the next year, that
is 1923, Pandit Motilal Nehru stood up to make
an announcement about the formation of the Swaraj-
Party. The announcement came as an unexpected
blow and cast a shadow on the jubilant faces of the
Mahatma’s supporters. Most of the outstanding in-
tellectuals were on the side of the Deshabandhu and
there was no doubt that without them, the Congress
would lose much of its strength and importance. The
announcement first made by Pandit Motilal Nehru was
confirmed when Mr. Das in winding up the delibera-
tions, submitted his resignation of the office of presi-
dent, since he desired to work in opposition to the official
resolutions with the object of persuading the country to
accept his plan of work.

The supporters of Gandhiji left Gaya satisfied at
their victory but not happy, because of the split that
had taken place. The Swarajists parted with a sense of
defeat, but with the determination to fight and win.



CHAPTER FOUR

THE SWARAJIST REVOLT (1928)

The Swarajist leaders returned from Gaya to their
own provinces with a stiff programme of work before
them. The general understanding was that Desha-
bandhu Das should conduct the propaganda in Bengal,
Central Provinces and South India; Pandit Motilal
Nehru in Upper India and Mr. Vithalbhai Patel
in Bombay Presidency. The Nationalist Press as
a whole was anti-Swarajist. Therefore the Swarajists
had to depend mainly on lecturing as a means of propa-
ganda. In Calcutta we published a daily paper of four
pages, called Banglar Katha, to supplement our
propaganda and I had to become editor overnight
under the orders of the leader. In Madras, Mr. A.
Rangaswami Iyengar, afterwards editor of Hindu,
was very helpful. His paper, Swadesamitram, a
Tamil daily, became an exponent of the Swarajist policy
and he also started an English weekly under the same
name, to help our propaganda. In Poona the extreme-
ly influential Marathi paper, Kesari, became a champion
of our cause. After Lokamanya Tilak’s death,
Mr. Kelkar had been the editor of Kesari and as he
became a staunch supporter of the Swaraj Party, the
resources of his paper Kesari were placed at the disposal
of the party.

When the Deshabandhu returned to Bengal after the
Gaya Congress, he found his position considerably
weakened. The Congress machinery had passed into
the hands of our political opponents, who now came to
be known as ‘‘No-Changers”’, because they were against
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any change in the existing plan and programme of the
Congress. When we first took stock of our following,
we found that we were in a minority. It was difficult
for us at first to raise funds because we had rebelled
against the official programme of the Congress.
Nevertheless, we were a disciplined and determined
band of workers and with unbounded enthusiasm we
addressed ourselves to our task. One of the tactics we
followed at the time, consisted in summoning frequent
meetings of Congress organisations throughout the
country and asking for a reversal of the resolutions
passed at the Gaya Congress. At first our party used
to be defeated at such meetings but we gradually made
headway and when our party was able to secure a
majority in one place, the news would encourage our
fellow-workers in other places.

After preliminary propaganda had been done all
over India, the first Swarajist Conference was held in
March at Allahabad at the house of Pandit Motilal
Nehru. The constitution and plan of campaign of the
Swaraj Party was drawn up at the Conference. When
the constitution was being discussed, a controversy
arose with regard to the ultimate aim of the Swa-
raj Party. Was Dominion Status to be the goal of the
Party or Complete Independence? On this point the
constitution of the Congress was not clear. It merely
stated that Swaraj was our goal but did not define what
was meant by Swaraj. As the Swaraj Party was more
practical, it wanted to define clearly what Swaraj meant,
but a complete agreement was not possible on the
question, because there were two groups among the
Swarajists. It was therefore decided, as a compromise,
to declare in the constitution that the ‘immediate’
objective of the party was the attainment of Dominion
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Status. Thus was the conflict between the young and
the old settled for the time being.

The Swarajist Conference over, Mr. Das set out on
a long tour in South India. It was a tremendously up-
hill work. The Madras Presidency was at the time one
of the strongholds of Gandhism and Mr. Das deliberate-
ly undertook to storm that citadel first. In spite of the
grilling heat of a South Indian summer he had a very
successful tour. His success there had repercussions in
other parts of the country. On his return to Calcutta
he undertook the direction of the propaganda in Bengal
with very good results. About this time the party de-
cided to requisition frequent meetings of the All-
India Congress Committee. At each successive meet-
ing it was found that the votes of the Swarajists were
increasing. By the middle of the year 1928, such
progress was made that the Working Committee (the
Cabinet of the Congress) composed entirely of ‘no-
changers’, could no longer command a majority in the
All-India Congress Committee and had therefore to re-
sign. But though the ‘no-changers’ were not strong
enough to hold office, neither was the Swara) Party.
So a third party, which in the absence of a better name
may be called the ‘Centre Party’, came into office.
This party did not accept the Swarajist plan but they
were not die-hard Gandhists either. 'They advocated
some sort of understanding between the two rival
groups in the Congress. About the same time the ‘no-
changers’ were also defeated in Bengal and in the Bengal
Congress Committee, a Centre Party, which was under
the influence of the Swarajists, came into office. Un-
der this arrangement, Moulana Akram Khan became
the President of the Bengal Congress Committee.
But the former Secretary, Dr. P. C. Ghosh, refused to
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hand over office. Therefore, two rival Congress Com-
mittees began to function simultaneously, each claiming
to be the representative body. Some months elapsed
before the constitutional question was settled by the
Working Committee, when a decision was given
in favour of the Committee of which Moulana Akram
Khan was the president.

In most provinces, especially in Bengal, feelings
between the two parties were exceedingly bitter,
though their aim was a common one, namely to win
Swaraj for India. The prevailing bitterness made res-
ponsible Congressmen think seriously as to how they
could bring about some sort of compromise between
the warring groups. Then came the suggestion to hold
a special session of the Congress in Delhi in September,
1928. 'This decision was a blow for the supporters of
Gandhiji, because the Swarajists were sure to press their
plan at the Delhi Congress once again and with better
chances of winning than they had at Gaya. Moulana
Abul Kalam Azad, one of the most intelligent
and distinguished Mohammedan leaders, was elected
President of the Delhi Congress and in his presiden-
tial speech he advocated the Swarajist policy of
contesting the elections and carrying on fight within
the legislatures.

Shortly before the Delhi Congress, Moulana
Mohammed Ali, the younger and more influential of
the Ali brothers and Dr. Kitchlew, the well-known
Punjab leader, were released from prison. Their
arrival was welcomed by the ‘No-Change’ Party whose
policy and action they supported. Nevertheless, the
Swarajists had made so much progress that nothing
could hamper them any more. Deshabandhu Das
attended the Congress at the head of a large contingent
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of delegates and the Bengal votes served to turn the
scales. As soon as it was clear that the Swarajists would
win the day, the ‘No-Change’ Party agreed to compro-
mise. Moreover, Moulana Mohammed Al claimed to
have received some secret message (which he called
‘wireless message’) from the Mahatma, asking him to
bring about a compromise between the rival Congress
groups. Therefore, without much wrangling, a com-
promise resolution was passed at the special Congress in
Delhi in September 1928, to the effect that Congress-
men were permitted to take part in the forthcoming
elections and carry on a uniform, continuous and con-
sistent opposition against the Government within the
legislatures, but the Congress as an organisation would
have no responsibility in the matter.

The Swarajists left Delhi overjoyed. After nine
months of hard and untiring work in the teeth of oppo-
sition and in the face of considerable unpopularity, they
had won the day. But they could not rest on their oars.
They had barely two months’ time to prepare for the
forthcoming elections. And they had a tough fight in
front of them.

Luck, however, favours the brave. So it did the
Swarajists. In spite of gloomy forecasts they had re-
markable success. In the Central Provinces, the elec-
tion returns were excellent and it was clear that by their
obstructive tactics the Swarajists would be able to para-
lyse the work of the Local Legislative Council. The
election returns for Bengal were also encouraging and
for the Indian Legislative Assembly a strong contin-
gent of Swarajists was returned. By mutual agree-
ment it was arranged that Pandit Motilal Nehru would
lead the Swaraj Party in the Assembly, while the
Deshabandhu would lead the party in the Bengal Legis-
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lative Council, where he was hopeful of bringing about
a constitutional deadlock.

The success of the Swarajists in capturing the elected
seats in the Central and Provincial legislatures was fol-
lowed by similar success in other directions. The elec-
tions to the local bodies (municipalities and district
boards) in the United Provinces were held in 1928 and
under the direction of Pandit Motilal Nehru the Swaraj
Party in that province had considerable success and as a
result many of the municipalities and district boards
came under Swarajist control. In the field of journalism,
too, the Swarajists made much progress. In Calcutta,
the Deshabandhu launched his daily paper Forward in
October, soon after his victory at Delhi. As some of
the organisers of the paper were suddenly put into prison
without trial, I was entrusted with the organisation of
the paper. Though the launching of the paper entailed
very hard work on our part, success followed rapidly and
in its career the paper was able to keep pace with the
growing popularity and strength of the Party. Within
a short time Forward came to hold a leading position
among the nationalist journals in the country. Its
articles were forceful, its news service varied and up-to-
date and the paper developed a special skill in the art
of discovering and exposing official secrets.

During 1928 the movement was on the whole of a
constitutional nature with the exception of a civil-dis-
obedience (or Satyagraha) campaign in Nagpur. The
authorities in Nagpur prohibited the carrying of national
flags along certain streets in Nagpur. As a protest against
this order, processions were sent into the prohibited area
with flags, etc. The campaign went on for some months
and a large number of people were sent to prison. The
issue soon became an All-India one, because the order



128 THE INDIAN STRUGGLE

in question was regarded as an insult to the National
Flag and people began to pour in from all parts of the
country in order to defy the order and court imprison-
ment. Ultimately, better counsels prevailed in Gov-
ernment House and a compromise was arrived at, where-
by the demand of the people in this connection was sub-
stantially conceded. It should be observed in this con-
nection that the above campaign—generally known as
the Nagpur Flag Satyagraha Campaign—was run by the
orthodox Gandhists who were anxious to demonstrate
that the Gandhi method had not become sterile and was
still capable of stirring up the country.

While the Swarajists represented the main body of
rebels against orthodox (Gandhism in 1928, the same
year saw the birth of another revolt against Gandhism
which was to acquire greater importance in the years to
come. Being dissatisfied with the Gandhian ideology,
a small group in Bombay under the leadership of Mr.
Dange,' took to studying Socialist literature. They
had a club of their own and published a weekly journal
for preaching socialism. Among the Congress leaders
the only patron they had at the time was the late
Mr. Vithalbhai Patel. They soon took up labour
organisation in Bombay and before many years elapsed,
they became the first group of Communists in India.
Following Bombay, a similar group was started some
time later in Bengal under the name of the ‘‘Workers
and Peasants’ Party’’—but it was never able to acquire
as much importance or make as much headway as the
Bombay Group. The reason is not far to seek.
Bengal, of which Calcutta is both the heart and the

! Mr. Dange was convicted in 1925 in connection with the Cawnpore
Bolshevik Conspiracy Case and again in connection with the Meerut Com-
munist Conspiracy Case in 1988, after a trial lasting nearly four years.
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brain, has for a very long time been one of the strong-
holds of the nationalist movement. There the move-
ment is based on an influential and patriotic petit-
bourgeois class. Moreover, Bengal does not possess an
indigenous and influential capitalist class, as does
Bombay. Consequently, class-differentiation has never
appeared in Bengal in that sharp and acute form in
which it has appeared in Bombay. The petit-bourgeois
element is not so strong or influential in Bombay as it
is in Bengal and the national movement there is of more
recent growth than in Bengal. In these circumstances
it 1s not to be wondered at that the intellectual revolt
against Gandhism in Bombay should take a Socialist or
Communist turn. In Bengal, on the other hand, the
revolt against Gandhism took a revolutionary more than
a Communist turn. This phenomenon we shall consi-
der in a later chapter on the ‘Bengal Situation’.

We have already seen in the previous chapter that
when in March 1922, Mr. Montague resigned from the
Cabinet, the forces of reaction got the upper hand both
in England and in India. The Coalition Cabinet of
Mr. Lloyd George soon came to an end and a General
Election took place in October 1922, which brought the
conservatives into power. In November 1922, Sir Basil
Blackett was appointed Finance Member to the Gov-
ernment of India. One of his first deeds was to double
the Salt Tax in February 1928, when he produced his
first budget. Now the Salt Tax is traditionally unpopu-
lar in India—partly because the people are prevented by
law from making salt out of the soil or the water given
them by nature and partly because the Salt Tax hits the
poor hardest. The doubling of the Salt Tax, therefore,
was the worst move which the Government could have
taken. The Indian Legislative Assembly promptly

9
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threw out this provision of the Finance Member but the
Viceroy, Lord Reading, as promptly restored it by the
virtue of his power of certification. In June, the Gov-
ernment gave further offence by appointing a Commis-
sion—called the Lee Commission—to inquire into the
status, position and grievances of the All-India services
which are manned mainly by Britishers. Everyone felt
at the time that the only result of the appointment of
this commission would be to enhance the pay and emo-
luments of Britishers in India.® Thus, while the Gov-
ernment showed a readiness to incur more expenditure
in order to please Britishers—they showed reluctance in
curtailing unnecessary expenditure, though the Inch-
cape Committee had made several useful recommenda-
tions in this behalf.? In addition to this measure, the
Government of India took another step which was
severely criticised at the time and which roused resent-
ment in certain parts of the country. This was the
deposition of the Maharaja of Nabha from his throne (or
Guddee).; Though the Government made certain alle-
gations against the Maharaja as a justification for their
action—the popular feeling in the country was that the
Maharaja was neither better nor worse than the general
run of Maharajas in India that he was deposed solely
because of his avowedly nationalistic views. Since the
Maharaja was a Sikh and he was reported to have
cherished sympathy for the Akali movement, his depo-
sition roused a great deal of indignation among the Sikh
community.

! This apprehension was fully justified when the Lee Commission submit-
ted its report and the Government of India gave effect to the recommen-
dations in a lavish manner.

? A Retrenchment Committee presided over by Lord Inchcape had been
appointed by the Government for suggesting possible lines of economy.
This Committee submitted its report in March 1928.
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While the forces of reaction were gaining in strength
in official circles and the Swarajists were preparing their
great onslaught on the bureaucratic citadel, the Indian
Legislative Assembly, even without the nationalists,
was neither tame nor inactive. During the year,
resolutions demanding a speedy constitutional advance
were passed twice. Moreover, towards the end
of its term, the Assembly passed a Reciprocity
Bill which was introduced by Dr. (now Sir) H. S.
Gour. This Bill was aimed at the Dominions and
Colonies of the British Empire where Indians were not
given equal rights and it provided for retaliation against
all those countries, which placed disabilities on Indians,
inflicting on their nationals in India the same disabilities
which Indians had to suffer there. This Bill was the result
of the injustice meted out to Indians in the Crown
Colony of Kenya in Africa. In Kenya where the Indian
settlers outnumbered the white settlers by three to one,
the latter wanted to usurp all political power and exclude
the former altogether. In the Kenya legislature they
had a law passed giving the vote to all white settlers
above twenty-one. They refused at first to extend the
vote to Indian settlers, but ultimately offered them a
separate electorate with a more limited franchise. This
offer was declined by the Indians because it would put
the stamp of second-class citizenship on them. The
Kenya Indians appealed to India for help and in April
1923, the Rt. Hon. V. S. Sastri’ led a deputation to
England to plead their cause before the authorities
at Whitehall. A fairly satisfactory agreement was
drawn up between the India Office and the Colonial

! Mr. V. S. Sastri who became the head of the Servants of India Society
after Mr. Gokhale’s death had been made a Privy Councillor, while
Mr. Montagu was Secretary of State for India.
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Office—called the Wood-Winterton® Agreement but
the Tory Cabinet did not give effect to it. Mr. Sastri
therefore had to return disappointed. After his return
to India, the Reciprocity Bill was introduced in the
Assembly by Dr. H. S. Gour.

The above picture of India in 1923 would not be
complete without reference to some of the communal
dissensions which appeared in 1928 and which were to
assume a more ugly shape in the yvears to come. Punjab
was the scene of most of the troubles in 1928. FEarly in
the year there was a Hindu-Moslem riot in Multan and
this was followed by a similar riot in Amritsar, near the
scene of the Jallianwala Bagh massacre in 1919. About
this time, Mr. (now Sir) Mian Fazli Hussain became a
minister in the PPunjab and his extreme partiality for
Moslems in the matter of appointments to public ser-
vices caused considerable heart-burning among Sikhs
and Hindus. Later in the year, a movement was
started among Indian Moslems in opposition to the
Indian National Congress—called ‘Tanzeem’ and
‘Tabligh’—which aimed at organising the Moslems as a
strong and virile community. This movement gained
adherents for some time but before long it fell into dis-
favour and was replaced by communal or secretarian
organisations of a different kind. While the above
movement was going on among the Moslems, the
Hindus were not altogether idle. Their communal
organisation—called the Hindu Mahasabha—sought to
strengthen itself by deciding at its annual meeting in
August to admit the depressed classes to all the rights
and privileges enjoyed by high-caste Hindus. Corres-

! The Hon. Edward Wood, better known as I.ord Irwin and now as
Lord Halifax, was the Under-Secretary of State for the Colonies, while Lord
Winterton was the Under-Secretary of State for India.
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ponding to the ‘Tanzeem’ and ‘Tabligh® movement
among the Moslems, a ‘Sangathan’ movement was
started among the Hindus. Further, in order to re-
claim those Hindus who for some reason or other had
left the Hindu fold in the past, the ‘Shuddhi’ (or puri-
fication) movement was started. By performing the
Shuddhi ceremony, it was made possible for a non-Hindu
to become a Hindu. The apostle of this movement was
Swami Shraddhananda,’ a highly-respected leader of the
Hindu Mahasabha, through whose influence thousands
of non-Hindus, including Moslems and Christians, were
converted to Hinduism. About this time, the Swami
was endeavouring to reconvert the Malkana Rajputs
who had originally been Hindus but had subsequently
embraced the Islamic faith and this attempt caused
annoyance to many of the Moslem leaders.

While the communal storm was brewing in India,
the Ali brothers remained true to their nationalist creed.
Moulana Mohammed Al, the younger brother, was
elected to preside over the annual session of the Con-
gress at Coconada in Madras Presidency. There was
no heated controversy as at Gaya and the deliberations
took place in an atmosphere of extreme cordiality.
There was, however, a breeze over the Hindu-Moslem
question which fortunately did not develop into a storm.
Deshabandhu Das had drawn up a Hindu-Moslem Pact
for settlement of the communal question in Bengal and
he desired the Congress to put the seal of approval on it.
The Coconada Congress, however, did not do so and the
Pact was rejected on the alleged ground that it showed
partiality for the Moslems and violated the principles of
Nationalism. Another Pact which had been drawn up

! Swami Shraddhananda was subsequently murdered by a Moslem fana-
tic probably out of his resentment at the Shuddhi movement,
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by Lala Lajpat Rai and Dr. M. A. Ansari for the settle-
ment of the communal question was referred by the
Coconada Congress to the All-India Congress Com-
mittee for consideration. These pacts indicated that
the better minds among the Congress leaders had begun
to realise the possibility of a communal rift and
the necessity for making some sort of settlement before
the breach widened. But sufficiently speedy or suffi-
ciently drastic action was not taken, with the result that
the differences did become more acute and grave and the
country had to face a communal storm as soon as the
political tension created by the Swaraj Party subsided
after the death of Deshabandhu Das in June 1925.

From the Nationalist point of view, the year 1928
had begun badly but it ended well. In January, there
was division and depression. In December, there was
hope and confidence. Despite signs of communal dis-
turbance here and there, the political barometer had
once again begun to rise. In England too, the forces
of reaction had received a temporary setback. In May
1928, Mr. Baldwin replaced Mr. Bonar Law as Premier
and in November of the same year he appealed to the
country on the issue of Protection versus Free Trade.
The Conservatives were thrown out of office as a conse-
quence and the beginning of 1924 saw a Labour Govern-
ment installed in office for the first time in British
history. The Near East policy of the previous Cabinets
had failed. Before the end of 1922, Mustapha Kemal
Pasha had succeeded in driving the Greeks out of
Anatolia. Before the end of 1928 he succeeded in driv-
ing the allied troops out of Constantinople. And by
March 1924, he felt sufficiently strong to abolish the
Khalifate altogether and bring into existence a new and
powerful Turkey.



CHAPTER FIVE

DESHABANDHU C. R. DAS IN POWER
(1924-25)

The year 1924 opened with an outlook hopeful in
every direction, but the Swarajists had no time to rest.
The elections to the Calcutta Municipal Corporation,
the largest municipality in India, were to be held in
March. Thanks to the Minister for Local Self-Govern-
ment, Sir Surendranath Bannerji, the Calcutta Muni-
cipal Act had been amended in 1923. Therein, larger
powers had been conferred on the municipality, the
franchise had been considerably enlarged and the elec-
tive element strengthened. Under the constitution, it
was possible for the Swaraj Party to capture the muni-
cipal administration if they were successful at the polls.
An intensive campaign was therefore started early in
1924 with the object of capturing the elected seats. So
great was the enthusiasm of the people who attended in
their thousands the meetings addressed by the Swarajist
leaders that the election forecast was a very favourable
one. Asamatter of fact the Swaraj Party was returned
with a very safe majority, a large number of the success-
ful Swarajist candidates being Moslems. This result
was all the more creditable because the elections were
held on the basis of separate electorate, whereby Hindu
voters alone could vote for Hindu candidates and
Moslem voters for Moslem candidates. At the first
meeting of the newly-elected municipal councillors,
Deshabandhu Das was elected Mayor and Mr. Saheed
Subrawardy, a Moslem gentleman, Deputy-Mayor.
The Corporation soon after appointed me as the Chief
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Executive Officer, that is, the head of the municipal
administration." Though my appointment to this im-
portant post at the age of twenty-seven was generally
approved in Swarajist circles, it did not fail to cause a
certain amount of heart-burning in some circles within
the party. To the Government it gave great annoy-
ance and it was not without a great deal of hesitation
that they decided to give their approval, as they were
required to do under statute.

The election of the Deshabandhu as the first Mayor
under the new constitution symbolised our capture of
the Calcutta Municipality and was attended by popular
demonstrations. Under the new regime, new measures
calculated to benefit the citizens were set in motion in
quick succession. The newly-elected Swarajist Coun-
cillors and Aldermen, including the Mayor, all came
dressed in home-made Khadi. Among the employees
of the Municipality, Khadi became the official uniform.
Many of the streets and parks were renamed after
India’s greatest men. For the first time an Education
Department was started and a distinguished Indian
graduate of Cambridge® was put in charge. Free
primary schools for boys and girls sprang up all over the
city. Health-Associations, financed by the Muni-
cipality, were started in every ward of the city by public-
spirited citizens for carrying on health propaganda
among the people. Dispensaries were opened by the

! Under the new constitution of the Calcutta Municipal Corporation there
was a division of function—the Chief Executive Officer being the head of
the administration and the Mayor being the head of the Corporation as a
whole. Under the old constitution both these functions were combined in
the ‘Chairman’.

2 K. P. Chattopadhyaya who has continued to hold office till the present
day. At present there are about 40,000 boys and girls in the Municipal
Schools.



DESHABANDHU DAS IN POWER 187

Municipality in the different districts for giving free
medical treatment to the poor. In purchasing stores,
preference was given to Swadeshi (i.e., home-made)
goods. In making new appointments, the claims of
Moslems and other minorities were recognised for the
first time. Infant clinics were established in different
parts of the city and to each clinic was added a milk-
kitchen for supplying milk free to the children of the
poor. Last, but not least, the Municipality arranged to
give civic receptions to Nationalist leaders like Mahatma
Gandhi, Pandit Motilal Nehru and Mr. V. J. Patel,
when they visited the city and the previous custom of
giving civic receptions to Viceroys, Governors and
officials was discontinued once for all.

The above measures adopted for promoting the
welfare of the citizens brought about a new civie con-
sciousness.' People for the first time began to look
upon the Municipality as their own institution and upon
Municipal officers and employees as Public Servants and
not bureaucrats. But the British vested interests in the
city felt that they were losing their imiportance and that
they could no longer dominate the Municipality. At
that time nearly all the departmental heads were
Britishers, but with one or two exceptions, 1 had no
difficulty whatsoever in dealing with them. The
majority of them were quite loval to the new Swarajist
administration and some of them were even enthusiastic
in praising it. Though within a few months the effi-
ciency of the administration was considerably raised and
citizens’ complaints were attended to more promptly
than before, the official bloc in the Corporation, as also
the Government, continued their policy of opposition,

1 To give expression to this new consciousness, a weekly journal called
the Calcutta Municipal Gazette was started by the Municipality.
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with the result that constant friction used to take place.
In the mater of appointments, they were opposed to the
Swarajist policy of doing justice to the minorities.
With regard to the drainage problem of the city, they
were also in conflict with the Swarajists. The scheme
sponsored by the Government for the new drainage
works was rejected by the Swarajists as being unscienti-
fic and useless. In this they had the support of the
Drainage Engineer of the Municipality, the late Mr.
O. J. Wilkinson and of the Director of Public Health,
Dr. C. A. Bentley, while the Chief Engineer, Mr. J. R.
Coats, was on the side of the Government. The
drainage controversy between the Municipality and the
Government continued for a long time and it took the
Government ten years to give in to the Municipality on
the drainage question.’

The doings of the Swaraj Party in the Calcutta Cor-
poration would not have embarrassed the Government so
much but for the fact that there was a simultaneous
pressure on the latter from many quarters. In the
Indian Legislative Assembly the Swaraj Party was
fairly strong, and on behalf of the party notice of
a resolution was given demanding the release of
Mahatma Gandhi. Mahatma Gandhi had fallen
seriously ill on January 12th and had been operated
upon. This news had caused anxiety and alarm
from one end of the country to the other and
there was a very strong public demand for his release.
On the morning of February 5th, the day on which the
above resolution was to be moved, the Mahatma was
quietly released. A few days later, on February 8th,
Pandit Motilal Nehru, the leader of the Swaraj Party

! The drainage scheme which has been adopted now was drawn up by
the Indian Chief Engineer, Dr. B. N. Dey, who is still holding that office.
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in the Assembly, moved a resolution demanding that a
Round Table Conference be convened for drawing up a
Constitution for India, establishing full responsible Gov-
ernment and that the new Constitution be placed before
a newly-elected Indian Legislature and be submit-
ted before the British Parliament for being embodied
in a statute. Replying to this resolution on behalf of
the Government of India, Sir Malcolm Hailey pro-
mised an investigation into the complaints against and
criticism of the Constitution. If after the investiga-
tion it was found that there was possibility of constitu-
tional advance within the four corners of the Act, the
Government would have no objection in making recom-
mendations to the British Cabinet to that effect. But
if, on the other hand, further constitutional advance in-
volved an amendment of the Government of India Act,
1919, then the Government could not promise any
action at that stage. This reply was extremely disap-
pointing and as a retort, the Assembly threw out some
of the demands for grants and refused leave to introduce
the entire Finance Bill. The Finance Bill had therefore
to be restored with the help of the special powers of
certification vested in the Viceroy.

The debate over the demand for a Round Table
Conference was followed by the appointment of a
Committee with the following terms of reference—to in-
quire into the difficulties arising from or the defects
inherent in the working of the Government of India
Act, 1919 ; to investigate the feasibility and desirability
of securing remedies for such difficulties and defects,
consistent with the structure, policy and purpose of the
Act, either by action taken under the Act and the rules
or by such amendments of the Act as appear necessary
to rectify any administrative imperfections. This
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Committee was presided over by the Home Member,
Sir Alexander Muddiman and among the members were
Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru (Allahabad), Sir Sivaswami
Aiyer (Madras), Mr. M. A. Jinnah (Bombay) and Dr.
Paranjpye (Poona)—all of them being Liberal (Moder-
ate) politicians—who submitted a minority report.
The Committee as a whole reported that there were
serious defects in the Constitution and in the manner in
which it had been worked. The majority of the mem-
bers, consisting mostly of officials, recommended a
number of minor modifications which would help the
working of the Constitution. The minority reported
that such modification of the Constitution would be of
little avail and that a satisfactory operation of the Con-
stitution would be possible only when it was revised with
a view to introducing responsible government in the
provinces and at least a measure of responsibility in the
Central Government. It should be noted in this
connection that the Swaraj Party in the Assembly
did not co-operate with the Muddiman Committee in
any way and the report of the Committee was al-
together disappointing from the Swarajist point
of view.

While the major issues were being tackled by
its members in the Assembly, the Swaraj Party was fol-
lowing obstructive tactics in all the provincial legisla-
tures. In the Assembly there was hardly any room for
obstruction or deadlock because the Viceroy could easily
override the legislature by his special powers of ‘veto’
and ‘certification’. Moreover, all the departments of
the Central Government were administered by members
who were under the full control of the Viceroy and were
neither elected members of the Assembly nor remov-
able by a vote of that body. In the provinces, on the
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other hand, the departments called ‘transferred’ depart-
ments were administered by ‘ministers’ who were elected
members of the provincial legislature and were subject
to the vote of that body—while the other departments,
called ‘reserved’ departments, were administered by
members who were quite independent of the vote of the
legislature.” The Swarajist tactics in the provincial
legislatures therefore consisted in attacking the minis-
ters and their ‘transferred’ departments. The salaries
of the ministers would be either rejected altogether, in
which case no ministers could be appointed at all—or
votes of no-confidence in the ministers would be moved
repeatedly so that no set of ministers could continue in
office long. At the same time attempts would be made
to throw out the Budget of the transferred departments
which could not be restored by certification. By such
tactics, the Governor of the province would be forced to
suspend the working of the transterred departments,
take over the administration into his own hands and go
on ruling as he would in the pre-reform days. In the
Central Provinces Legislative Council where the Swa-
rajists had an absolute majority—the entire Budget was
thrown out without any difficulty and no ministers could
therefore be appointed. In Bengal the situation was
somewhat similar to that in the Central Provinces. The
salaries of the ministers were rejected and repeated
attempts to restore them proved unavailing. The minis-
ters had therefore to lay down their office. Thus, in
the Central Provinces and in Bengal, the working of the
constitution was rendered impossible. It is not possible
to describe the enthusiasm of the public when diarchy
was overthrown in these two provinces. It was regard-
ed as a great triumph for the Swarajists and this victory

! Because of this dual system, the constitution was called ‘diarchy’.
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brought a sense of elation all over the country. In
1920, the Congress had tried to paralyse the new
constitution, by boycotting the polls but this attempt
had failed, because not a single seat had remained vacant
and undesirable men had flooded the legislatures. In
1924, on the other hand, the Swarajists, by carrying the
fight inside the legislatures, were able to wreck the con-
stitution, in at least some of the provinces.

People belonging to the Liberal Party and even
‘No-Changer’ Congressmen have not sometimes been
able to understand the utility of the Swarajist policy of
constitutional obstruction. They argue that if minis-
ters are allowed to continue in office they could do more
good than if those departments are taken over by the
Governor and his officials. As against that, the Swaraj-
ists argue that three years’ experience (1920-1928) has
shown that there is hardly any scope for useful work for
a minister under the constitution of 1919. All the
more important departments, like public security,
justice, prisons, finance, etc., are in the hands of officials
and the budget allotments for these departments are
made first. What is left is handed over to the ministers
and this amount is so inadequate that it barely suffices
for their minimum establishment, rendering it quite
immpossible to undertake nation-building® work on a
decent scale. Moreover, the principal officials working
under the ministers, including their secretaries, cannot
be subjected to disciplinary action by them and being
quite independent of the legislature in the matter of
their pay and emoluments, they are not responsive to
popular sentiment. In these circumstances, the un-
hampered working of the constitution cannot benefit
the country in any way—whereas successful obstruction
not only brings pressure to bear on the Government by
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putting obstacles in its path, but also develops a spirit
of resistance in the country as a whole. As a matter of
fact, when the constitution of the Swaraj Party was first
drawn up in March 1928, it was explicitly stated in the
preamble that the object of the Swarajist policy was to
create an atmosphere of resistance to the bureaucracy,
without which the Government could never be made to
respond to popular demands.

While the Swarajists were enjoying the first flush of
victory, the Labour Secretary of State for India, Lord
Olivier, in a striking speech delivered in the House of
Lords, analysed the causes which led to the birth of
Swarajism in India. Among the causes he mentioned
were—firstly, the resolution passed by the House
of Lords supporting General Dyer, the author of the
Jallianwalla Bagh massacre ; secondly, the ‘steel-frame
speech’ of the Premier, Mr. Lloyd George, in 1922,
eulogising the Indian Civil Service ; thirdly, the doubl-
ing of the Salt Tax by the Government of India, in
1928, in the teeth of tense popular opposition and despite
the adverse vote of the Indian Legislative Assembly ;
and fourthly, the injustice meted out to Indians in the
Crown Colony of Kenya in Africa. This clever and
sympathetic analysis of the causes of the Indian unrest
leading to the birth of the Swara) Party, showed that
for once at least the India Office in London was able to
appreciate public sentiment and public opinion in India.
It is to be regretted, therefore, that this understanding
was not followed up by appropriate action.

Not content with his activities in the legislature, the
Municipality and in other directions, the Deshabandhu
launched another important movement at this time—
the Tarakeswar Satyagraha movement. Not far from
Calcutta, at a place called Tarakeswar, there is an old
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temple of ‘Baba Taraknath’ or ‘Shiva’. As in the case
of other holy shrines, there was considerable property
attached to the temple, which had been endowed in
order to provide for its upkeep. Following the Hindu
custom, there was a trustee, called the Mohunt, in
charge of the temple and the attached property.
Though the Mohunts are expected to live a chaste and
abstemious life, there were allegations against the
Mohunt of Tarakeswar with regard to his personal
character and to his administration of the endowed pro-
perty. As Tarakeswar happens to be one of the most
holy places of piligrimage in Bengal and is visited every
vear by people from all parts of the province, the allega-
tions made against the Mohunt were widely known.
After the success of the Akali movement in the Punjab,
pressure was brought to bear on the Bengal Congress
Committee for starting a similar movement at Tarakes-
war. Notices were served on the Mohunt calling upon
him to mend his ways but as these attempts were of no
avail, in April 1924, the Deshabandhu launched a move-
ment for taking peaceful possession of the temple and
the attached property, with a view to placing them under
the administration of a public committee. The Mohunt
appealed to the Government for help and as soon as
volunteers began to move towards temple and the palace
of the Mohunt—the police appeared on the scene. The
usual Satyagraha scenes were re-enacted at Tarakeswar
—peaceful volunteers moving up from one side and the
police attacking them mercilessly on the other and occa-
sionally making arrests. Owing to the intervention of
the Government, the issue became a political one.
Once again, in order to set an example to the people,
the Deshabandhu sent his son to prison at the head of
the volunteers. Within a short time, the movement
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became extremely popular and there was a warm res-
ponse from every corner of the province.!

In May 1924, the annual conference of Bengal
Congressmen, called the Provincial Conference, was
held at a place called Sirajganj. Prior to this the Desha-
bandhu had drawn up an agreement between Hindus
and Moslems, covering religious as well as political
questions, but it had been rejected by the Coconada
Congress in December 1923, on the ground that it con-
ceded too much to the Moslems. This agreement,
known as the Bengal Pact—was placed before the
Sirajgan) Conference for ratification. There was a
stormy debate and the political opponents of the Desha-
bandhu, joined by some reactionary Hindus, put up a
formidable opposition. Nevertheless, the passionate
eloquence of the leader carried the day and the Bengal
Pact was adopted by a large majoritv. After this,
another resolution was discussed and passed which was
to stir up a hornet’s nest in the days to come. This
was the Gopinath Saha resolution. Some months
earlier, a young student, named Gopinath Saha, had
attempted to assassinate the Commissioner of Police of
Calcutta, Sir Charles Tegart. Through mistaken iden-
tity, he shot at and killed another Englishman, Mr.
Day. At the trial before the High Court of Calcutta,
Shah made a statement which created a sensation at
the time. He stated in effect that he really had intended

' The Satyagraha campaign went on for several months. The Mohunt
ultimately. was forced to come to a compromise with Deshabandhu C. R. Das
and an agreement was drawn up whereby the temple and the major portion
of the property was to be handed over to a public committee. This agree-
ment had to be placed before a court of law but at this stage a third party,
under the name of the Brahman Sabha, raised objections. While the whole
matter was under consideration, the Deshabandhu died. After his unfor-
tunate death, the agreement was set at nought and the result of the
Satyagraha campaign was nullified.

10
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to murder the Police Commissioner and expressed
his sincere sorrow for having killed the wrong person.
He was glad to pay with his life and hoped that every
drop of his blood would sow the seeds of freedom in
every Indian home. Saha was sentenced to death by
High Court and duly hanged. But, after his death,
resolutions were passed in several meetings in Bengal
appreciating his courage and spirit of sacrifice, while
condemning his action. A similar resolution was un-
animously passed at the Sirajgan) Conference and it
caused considerable annoyance to the Government.
While these stirring events were happening in
Bengal, interesting developments were taking place
elsewhere. Mahatma Gandhi, as we have already seen,
was released on February 5th. He went to a seaside
resort near Bombay for rest and change of climate. After
some weeks he was able to take interest once again in
public affairs and gradually to assume his normal activi-
ties. Speculation at once arose as to what attitude
Gandhiji would take up with regard to the Swaraj Party.
On principle he was of course bitterly opposed to the
Swarajist policy of ‘Council-entry’, nevertheless, he did
not adopt a hostile attitude. It may be that he found
the position of the Swarajists to be too strong in the
country to be able to overthrow them and so he bowed
to the inevitable. Or it may be that he felt that the
changed circumstances in the country warranted a
change in tactics. Be that as it may, he met the Swaraj-
ist leaders, Deshabandhu Das and Pandit Motilal
ﬂNehru and arrived at an understanding with them. This
‘agreement, known as the Gandhi-Das Pact, was to the
effect that the Mahatma was to devote himself to the
Khadi campaign, while the Swarajists were to be in
charge of the political campaign. In order to carry on
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his work without any interference on the part of the
Congress or the Swara] Party, the Mahatma was
empowered to organise an autonomous body to be
called the All-India Spinners’ Association. This body
was to have its own funds and its own Secretariat.

The Swaraj Party, on the other hand, was to carry
on its work as an autonomous body independently of
the Congress and to have its own Secretariat.” The
alliance thus struck between the Mahatma and the
Swaraj Party soon ripened into friendship as a result
of conciliatory statements made by the former from time
to time. On one occasion, for instance, he said in his
characteristic style, ‘My political conscience is in the
keeping of the Swarajists.” On another occasion he is
reported to have remarked : ‘I shall cling to the Swaraj
Party as a child clings to its mother.’

After establishing peace within the Congress camp
through his understanding with the Swaraj Party, the
Mahatma turned to another acute problem. Since
1928, Hindu-Moslem dissensions had appeared in differ-
ent parts of India and’ Mahatma Gandhi was far-
sighted enough to realise that if the evil was not nipped
in the bud, it would soon grow into a national calamity.
The communal storm might not break while the Swaraj-
ist campaign, supported by both Hindus and Moslems,
was in full swing—but the moment there was a lull in
the campaign, the evil was sure to rear its head. So in
September 1924, at his instance a Unity Conference
was convened at Delhi. The Conference was largely
attended, even the Anglican Metropolitan of India and
representatives of the Britishers in India, participating
init. Atthe time of the Conference the Mahatma

! This agreement was ratified at the annual session of the Congress held
at Belgaum in December, over which Mahatma Gandhi presided.



148 THE INDIAN STRUGGLE

embarked on a three weeks’ fast as a self-imposed pen-
ance for the wrongs committed by members of different
communities who by their action disturbed inter-
communal peace in India. The Conference was a success-
ful one. A formula was devised for promoting unity
between the different communities in India and a Con-
ciliation Board of fifteen members was set up which was
to intervene whenever and wherever any communal
trouble arose. In spite of the success of the Unity
Conference, practical results did not follow. In March
1924, Mustapha Kemal Pasha took the extraordinary
step of abolishing the Khalifate altogether. Those
Moslems who had been drawn towards the Indian Na-
tional Congress owing to the desire to secure support for
the Khilafat campaign, no longer felt any urge to re-
main friendly towards the Congress. The Khilafat
Committees themselves went out of existence in most
parts of India and many of the erstwhile members of
those organisations were absorbed into reactionary
mushroom organisations. About this time the All-
India Moslem League came back to life again. This
body had been the premier organisation for Moslems in
India till 1920. Since that year it had been practically
replaced by the All-India Khilafat Committee which
had succeeded in drawing most of the active elements
among the Indian Moslems. The abolition of the
Khalifate by the Turks themselves, struck at the root of
the Khilafat Committees in India and indirectly helped
the revival of the All-India Moslem League. In
December 1924, when the All-India Moslem League
met once again, the Khilafatists were defeated for the
first time since 1920. The newly-revived All-India
Moslem League, as we shall see later. became more sec-
tarian and reactionary than it had been prior to 1920.
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About the middle of 1924, matters began to
approach a crisis once again. This crisis was of course
different in character from that of 1921-22. The Gov-
ernment felt hard-pressed from all sides. Not only in
Bengal, but throughout the country, the local bodies
(municipalities, district boards, etc.) were coming under
the control of the Nationalists, and to that extent official
power and influence were being eliminated. In all the
legislatures, a stiff fight was being waged and in two
provinces, Central Provinces and Bengal, the working
of the new constitution was paralysed. In Bengal, the
Tarakeswar Satyagraha, though it began as a movement
for the reform of the temple administration, soon deve-
loped into a political movement and gradually assumed
serious proportions. Over and 2bove this, according to
the Government, there was a strong undercurrent of
revolutionary activity and the Government were parti-
cularly annoyed by public resolutions, praising the
revolutionary Gopinath Saha, though the appreciation
was of a qualified and conditiona! character. In August,
when the influence of the Swaraj Party was at its height,
the annual conference of the Party was held in Calcutta.
Leaders from the different provinces were present on
the occasion. The attendance was large and the enthu-
siasm very great. That was the signal for the Govern-
ment to strike. During the last twelve months they
had not been altogether inactive and had been closely
following events. Soon after the Delhi Congress in
September 1923, a number of Congress workers belong-
ing to the Swaraj party of Bengal had been suddenly
arrested and put in prison without any trial under an
old regulation called ‘Regulation III of 1818’. The ex-
planation given by the Government at the time was that
the revolutionary movement was raising its head again
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and it was therefore necessary to resort to speedy sup-
pression. Though the arrests created considerable
resentment at the time, it was not followed by any
further developments and the excitement gradually
subsided. After a year, the Government decided to
repeat those tactics again. They did not know how to
suppress the Swaraj Party otherwise. The activities of
the Party, except in the case of the Tarakeswar Satya-
graha and similar campaigns, were carried on within the
bounds of the law, but they caused considerable embar-
rassment to the Government ; nevertheless the Govern-
ment could not take any legal proceedings against the
Swarajists. All attempts to suppress the Tarakeswar
Satyagraha campaign had not only failed but had served
to evoke greater enthusiasm on the part of the people.
In sheer desperation the Government therefore decided
to strike at the root of the organisation and since that
was not possible through a trial in a court of law, they
resolved to imprison some of the principal organisers of
the Swaraj Party without trial.

On October 25th, 1924, in the early hours of the
morning, they made a clean sweep of a large number
of Congressmen in Calcutta and other places in Bengal.
These arrests were made partly under Regulation ITI
of 1818, and partly under an emergency ordinance
(called the Bengal Ordinance) promulgated by the
Viceroy at midnight on October 24th. This ordinance
conferred on the Government of Bengal powers of
arrest and imprisonment similar to those conferred on
the Government of India by Regulation III of 1818,
and the ordinance was issued in order to help the Gov-
ernment of Bengal to order arrest and imprisonment
without trial of persons in Bengal, without any refer-
ence to the Government of India. Among those
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arrested were two prominent Swarajist members of the
Bengal Legislative Council, Mr. Anil Baran Roy and
Mr. S. C. Mitra,' and myself. Some of the warrants,
as 1n the case of three of us, had been issued under the
Regulation, whereas in the case of the others, they had
been issued under the newly-promulgated Bengal
Ordinance. The warrants under the Regulation had
been signed as early as July last, the day after the Gov-
ernment were finally defeated in their attempt to retain
the ministers in office and work the diarchical constitu-
tion. It has not been explained yet as to why
the warrants had not been executed for nearly three
months. The conjecture generally made is that the
Bengal Government waited for sanction to a larger
number of arrests and also for the promulgation of the
Bengal Ordinance. Moreover, the whole matter had
to be placed before the then Labour Secretary of State
for India, Lord Olivier, and so the delay was unavoid-
able. With regard to the raison d’étre of these
arrests, the public notion at the time was that the pres-
sure of the Swarajists in the local bodies (especially the
Calcutta Municipality), in the legislatures and at
Tarakeswar had unnerved the Government. And the
reason why they struck only in Bengal, was that the
anti-Government forces were strongest in that province.

The large number of arrests made so suddenly and
unexpectedly on October 25th, created tremendous
excitement in the country. Official circles came out
with the excuse that a revolutionary conspiracy was on
foot and the arrests had to be made before anything

! Mr. Anil Baran Roy has since retired from politics and joined the
Ashrama of Sri Aurobindo Ghosh at Pondicherry. Mr. S. C. Mitra has
since joined the Assembly and been a prominent member of the opposition
between 1928 and 19384.
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serious happened. But it was hard to persuade the
public that those who had been arrested were engaged
in a revolutionary conspiracy. Public clamour against
the arrests continued to be very strong and one month
after my arrest, Government began to think seriously
of releasing me. But the prestige of the police,
at whose instance the arrests had been made, stood in
the way and the proposal had to be dropped. The
agitation over my arrest was the strongest at the time
because the: public thought that the object of the Gov-
ernment was to strike at the Swarajist administration
of the new Corporation. KEveryone knew, including the
extreme loyalists, that I was engaged day and night in
my municipal duties and had heen forced to give up
politics altogether, since I was appointed Chiet Execu-
tive Officer of the Calcutta Corporation. Official and
semi-official circles were therefore at pains to put for-
ward an excuse for the arrests which would find some
credence among the public. The Anglo-Indian papers
of Calcutta, The Statesman and The Englhshman
(now defunct), came out with statements to the effect
that I was the brain of the rcvolutionary conspiracy.
My solicitors at once filed legal proceedings against
both the papers for defamation. The proceedings
dragged on for months and in the meantime at-
tempts were made to secure the help of the Govern-
ment in the suit in the matter of obtaining proofs to
substantiate the charges made against me in the
Press in support of the Government. As the Gov-
ernment did not agree to help in the matter, an attempt
was made to secure the assistance of the India Office
in London. By that time there had been a change in
the Cabinet in England. A General Election had taken
place in October and as a result of the scare created by
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the Zinovieff letter, there had been a landslide in favour
of the Conservative Party. Following the defeat of the
Labour Party at the polls, the Labour Secretary
of State for India, Lord Olivier, had made room for the
Conservative Secretary of State, Lord Birkenhead.
Though the India Office was inclined to help the Anglo-
Indian papers in the suit brought against them for
defamation, they were unable to find any documentary
evidence to prove my complicity in a revolutionary
conspiracy. Forward, the Swarajist paper of Calcutta,
happened to get hold of and publish a letter,
written to Calcutta from London on the subject, in
which an agent of the India Office was reported to have
said that I had been arrested on the verbal testimony
borne against me by certain people, but that there was
no documentary evidence against me. The publication
of this letter further embarrassed the Government.

No one in India felt these persecutions more than
Deshabandhu Das did. In a magnificent speech deli-
vered from the Mayoral chair of the Calcutta Corpora-
tion, he gave vent to the deep indignation which stirred
the public at the time. He accepted tull responsibility
for what the Chief Executive Officer had done and
challenged the Government to arrest him. The Gov-
ernment did not accept the challenge but replied in a
different way. They opened negotiations with him for
a settlement of the entire Indian question. At that
time, Mahatma Gandhi was politically a back-number.
He had confined himself to the Khadi campaign, having
retired from the political movement which was under
the control of the Swarajist leaders. The memory of
the negotiations in December 1921, had left an impres-
sion on the official mind that it was possible to come to
an understanding with the Deshabandhu if the major
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issues were tackled in an earnest and sincere manner.
Lord Lytton personally had a very high appreciation
of him as a man. And at the time no official felt the
pressure of the popular movement more than the
Governor of Bengal did. In those days, to settle with
the Congress meant to settle with Deshabandhu C. R.
Das. Therefore, unknown to the outside world, nego-
tiations between the Deshabandhu and the Governor of
Bengal, Lord Lytton, went on for some months.
With his shrewd political instinct, the Deshabandhu
thought of making use of the public feeling roused by
the arrests of October 1924. He appealed at once for
a fund to be used for national reconstruction. The
economic situation in the country was not favourable
and many people thought that the response to the
appeal would be disappointing. But the leader knew
better. In spite of unfavourable forecasts, he had a
very good response and that was a further proof of pub-
lic confidence in him. At the end of the year, the
annual session of the Congress was held at Belgaum in
Bombay Presidency. This Congress was presided over
by Mahatma Gandhi and it was the last Congress attend-
ed by Deshabandhu. The proceedings were marked by
extreme cordiality between the Mahatma and the
Swarajists. The principal programme of work adopted
for the coming year was the extension of home-spinning
and home-weaving and it was enjoined on every member
of the Congress to produce a certain quantity of yarn as
his membership subscription. The only other signi-
ficant fact about the Belgaum Congress was the attempt
of Mrs. Annie Besant to get her Commonwealth of
India Bill ratified by the Congress. This Bill, which
was to confer Home Rule on India, had been drafted
by her and her intention was to have it introduced in
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the British Parliament as a private Bill. She felt that
her hands would be considerably strengthened if the
Congress gave the stamp of approval to her pet consti-
tution, but none of the Congress leaders would be drawn
into her net. She therefore had to leave the Belgaum
Congress disappointed.

The political situation remained unchanged when the
year 1925 was ushered in. Deshabandhu Das continued
in power. In the early part of 1925, there was a further
trial of strength between the Government and the
Swarajists in Bengal. The Ordinance which the
Governor-General had promulgated in October 1924,
conferring on the Bengal Governor powers of summary
arrest and imprisonment without trial, was to expire in
April 1925. Thereafter, if the Bengal Government
desired to have those powers, they would have to intro-
duce legislation to that effect in the Bengal Legislative
Council. A Bill was therefore duly introduced and the
Government strained every nerve to have it passed into
law. As the Swarajists were really in a minority in the
Legislative Council, the Government felt hopeful that
they would be able to carry the legislation through.
The Deshabandhu was then taking rest at Patna as he
had been suffering from a nervous breakdown. But in
spite of his ill-health, he resolved to inflict a crushing
defeat on the Government in person. On the appoint-
ed day he arrived at the Council Hall in time and had
actually to be carried in an invalid-chair. Once again
the laurels of the day were his. The Bill was thrown
out, but by virtue of the extraordinary powers given
to the Governor under the Constitution, he was able to
certify the Bill as law.

Soon after this incident the annual conference of
Bengal Congressmen was summoned at Faridpur and
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in view of the critical situation in the country, Desha-
bandhu Das was elected President. Against all medi-
cal advice, he resolved to go there and preside over the
deliberations. People did not understand at the time
why he was so insistent on attending this conference.
Anything that he said would have drawn the same
amount of attention even if it happened to be a Press
statement. The real reason, however, as to why he
wanted to go there was that he had to give a public indi-
cation of his demands, for the benefit of the Govern-
ment. Moreover, he wanted to demonstrate to the
Government that his views were acceptable to the bulk
of Congressmen so that the Government would feel that
in the event of a settlement being arrived at, the Desha-
bandhu was in a position to deliver the goods. At that
time the Government attached a great value to the
Bengal Provincial Conference, because Bengal was then
the storm centre and contained some of the most radical
elements in the Indian National Congress. 'Therefore
a proposal which was carried in Bengal, would in all
probability be acceptable to Congressmen elsewhere.
Deshabandhu Das made a speech which was regarded
as rather tame for a Bengal audience. He discussed the
question of Dominion Status versus Independence as
the goal of Congress, and declared that he stood for the
former. Moreover, he spoke in condemnation of ter-
rorism. The speech as a whole appeared to be an appeal
to the Government and to the more extreme elements
among Indians to adopt a compromising attitude so that
the ground could be prepared for a settlement. 1t was,
however, not welcomed by the youthful section of the
audience and there was a possibility that he would be
defeated when the matter was put to the vote. Never-
theless, so great was his personal influence at the time
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and so transparent his sincerity of purpose that he car-
ried the day. The deliberations of the Faridpur Con-
ference were on the whole satisfactory to the authori-
ties with whom the Deshabandhu was engaged in
negotiating.

Soon after this, Lord Reading left India for London,
as the Conservative Cabinet and the Secretary of State
for India, Lord Birkenhead, wanted to consult him.
By that time it was in the air that negotiations had been
going on between Deshabandhu Das and the Govern-
ment, though hardly anyone knew any details. It was
announced that after consulting IL.ord Reading, Lord
Birkenhead would make an important pronouncement
about India. KEveryone in India awaited his speech
with the greatest interest and eagerness.

Then came a sudden bolt from the blue. In June
1925, when Deshabandh Das was having a rest in the
hill-station of Darjeeling, the summer capital of the
Bengal Government, he fell seriously ill. After a brief
attack he suddenly died. The whole country was at
once plunged in grief. He was at the height of his
glory and was expected to achieve great things for his
country. While in memoriam meetings and proces-
sions were going on in the country, the British Cabinet
in London made up their mind as to what they should
do. Their arch-enemy was dead; therefore, things
would settle down now for a while. They would accord-
ingly not decide anything in a hurry but would watch
developments. But it had already been announced that
Lord Birkenhead would make an important pronounce-
ment about India on July 7th, 1925. Therefore, the
announcement carefully prepared on behalf of the Cabi-
net had to be entirely suppressed and in its place Lord
Birkenhead, on the previously announced date, made
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an uninteresting speech. Besides talking about plati-
tudes, he merely endorsed Lord Reading’s panacea for
India’s ills in the form of development of industry and
the stabilisation of finance.

The death of Deshabandhu on June 16th, 1925, was
for India a national calamity of the first magnitude.
Though his active political career consisted of barely five
years, his rise had been phenomenal. With the reck-
less abandon of a Vaishnava devotee, he had plunged
into the political movement with heart and soul and he
had given not only himself but his all in the fight for
Swaraj. When he died, whatever worldly possessions
he still had, were left to the nation. By the Govern-
ment he was both feared and admired. They feared
his strength, but admired his character. They knew
that he was a man of his word. They also knew that
though he was a hard fighter, he was none the less a
clean fighter, and further, he was also the man with
whom they could bargain for a settlement. He was clear-
headed, his political instinct was sound and unerring and
unlike Mahatma he was fully conscious of the réle he
was to play in Indian politics. He knew, more than
anyone else, that situations favourable for wresting poli-
tical power from the enemy do not come often and when
they do come, they do not last long. Wohile the crisis
lasts, a bargain has to be struck. He knew also that to
sponsor a settlement, when public enthusiasm is at its
height, needs much courage and may involve a certain
amount of unpopularity. But he was nothing if not
fearless. He was conscious of his exact réle, namely
that of a practical politician, and he was therefore never
afraid of courting unpopularity

In contrast with the Deshabandhu, the réle of the
Mahatma has not been a clear one. In many ways he
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is altogether an idealist and & visionary. In other
respects, he is an astute politician. At times he is as
obstinate as a fanatic ; on other occasions he is liable to
surrender like a child. The instinct, or the judgment,
so necessary for political bargaining is lacking in him.
When there is a real opportunity for a bargain, as in
1921, he is liable to stick out for small things and there-
by upset all chances of a settlement ~Whenever he does
go in for a bargain, as we shall see in 1981, he gives
more than he takes. On the whole. he is no match in
diplomacy for an astute British politician.

After the death of Deshabandhu Das the Mahatma
spent several months in Bengal trying to raise a memo-
rial fund in honour of the departed great and helping
to reorganise the Congress machinery in the absence of
the leader. His public activities, nevertheless, continu-
ed on the whole to be non-political in character and the
political mantle of the Deshabandhu therefore fell on
Pandit Motilal Nehru, the Swarajist leader in the
Assembly. While Lord Reading was still in England
and Lord Lytton, the Governor of Bengal, was acting
as the Governor-General of India, the Pandit attempt-
ed to resume the threads of the negotiations which the
Deshabandhu had been carrying on with the Govern-
ment. But the Government in London had already
decided to drop the negotiations for the time being and
watch developments. Nothing therefore came out of
this attempt of Pandit Motilal Nehru.

June,1925 proved to be a turning point in the recent
history of India. The disappearance of the towering
personality of the Deshabandhu from the political arena
was for India a colossal misfortune. The Swara) Party,
which owed so much to him, was paralysed after his death
and dissensions gradually arose within the Party.
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Nevertheless, the Party at the time of his death was an
institution of which anyone would be proud. The
Capital of Calcutta, the organ of British commer-
cial interests, writing after his death, compared the
Swaraj Party with the Sinn Fein Party of Ireland and
remarked that during forty years of its existence, it had
seen nothing like it before. The discipline of the Party,
according to the paper, was German in character. The
weakening of the Swaraj Party served to strengthen the
forces of reaction in India and in England, while it let
loose a flood of communal strife in India which had, up
till then, been held back by the superior forces of Na-
tionalism. Today, as we look back on the year 1925, we
cannot help feeling that if Providence had spared the
Deshabandhu for a few years more, the history of India
would probably have taken a different turn. In the
affairs of nations, it often happens that the appearance
or disappearance of a single personality often means a
new chapter in history. Thus has been the influence
of Lenin in Russia, of Mussolini in Italy and of Hitler
in Germany in recent world-history.



CHAPTER SIX
THE SLUMP (1925-27)

Considering the influence of Mahatma Gandhi in
1921 and 1922, the rise of the Swaraj Party must be
regarded as something unaccountably remarkable.
Though the leaders and the rank and file of the party
had the highest respect for the personality of the
Mahatma, the Party was frankly an anti-Gandhi Party
and it was strong enough to force the Mahatma
to voluntary retirement from politics. This retirement
continued virtually till the Calcutta Congress in Decem-
ber 1928. Now what was the secret of the Swaraj
Party’s success? 'T'o understand that one must know
more about the practical shape which Gandhism took,
and as to how the mass mind reacted to the personality
of the Mahatma, during the period 1920-22.

Though Hindu society has never had an established
church like Europe, the mass of the people have been
profoundly susceptible to the influence of Avatars,’
priests and ‘gurus’.® The spiritual man has always
wielded the largest influence in India and he is called
a ‘Saint’ or ‘Mahatma’ or ‘Sadhu’. For various reasons,
Gandhiji came to be looked upon by the mass of the

! According to many Hindus, God incarnates Himself from age to age
in order to save the good and destroy the wicked and in order to establish
the reign of Truth on earth. These incarnations are called Avatars. Ac-
cording to other Hindus, these Avatars are not divine incarnations but
human souls in the highest stage of development—that is, when they have
realised their oneness with Godhead. According to popular belief there

have been nine Avatars up till now—and the tenth is to come at the end
of the present wicked age.

2 ‘Gurw’ is a religious preceptor. In India only a truly spiritual man
can be a religious preceptor.

11
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people as a Mahatma before he became the undisputed
political leader of India. At the Nagpur Congress in
December 1920, Mr. M. A. Jinnah, who was till then
a Nationalist leader, addressed him as ‘Mr. Gandhi’, and
he was shouted down by thousands of people who
insisted that he should address him as ‘Mahatma
Gandhi’. The asceticism of Gandhiji, his simple life,
his vegetarian diet, his adherence to truth and his conse-
quent fearlessness—all combined to give him a halo of
saintliness. His loin-cloth was reminiscent of Christ,
while his sitting posture at the time of lecturing was
reminiscent of Buddha. Now all this was a tremendous
asset to the Mahatma in compelling the attention and
obedience of his countrymen. As we have already
seen, a large and influential section of the intelligentsia
was against him, but this opposition was gradually worn
down through the enthusiastic support given by the
masses. Consciously or unconsciously, the Mahatma
fully exploited the mass psychology of the people, just
as Lenin did the same thing in Russia, Mussolini in
Ttaly and Hitler in Germany. But in doing so, the
Mahatma was using a weapon which was sure to recoil
on his head. He was exploiting many of the weak traits
in the character of his countrymen which had accounted
for India’s downfall to a large extent. After all, what
has brought about India’s downfall in the material and
political sphere? It is her inordinate belief in fate and
in the supernatural-—her indifference to modern scienti-
fic development—her backwardness in the science of
modern warfare, the peaceful contentment engendered
by her latter-day philosophy and adherence to Ahimsa
(non-violence) carried to the most absurd length. In
1920, when the Congress began to preach the poli-
tical doctrine of non-co-operation, a large number of
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Congressmen who had accepted the Mahatma not merely
as a political leader but also as a religious preceptor—
began to preach the cult of the new Messiah. As
a consequence, many people gave up eating fish and
meat, took the same dress as the Mahatma, adopted his
daily habits like morning and evening prayer and began
to talk more of spiritual freedom than of political
Swaraj. In some parts of the country the Mahatma
began to be worshipped as an Avatar. Such was the
madness that seized the country at the time that in April
1928 in a politically-minded province like Bengal,
a resolution moved at the Jessore Provincial Conference
to the effect that the goal of the Congress was not spiri-
tual Swaraj but political Swaraj was defeated at the end
of a heated debate. In 1922, when the writer was in
prison, Indian warders in the service of the Prisons’
Department would refuse to believe that the Mahatma
had been cast in prison by the British Government.
They would say in all seriousness that since Gandhiji
was a Mahatma, he could assume the shape of a bird and
escape from prison any moment he liked. To make
matters worse, political issues would no longer be consi-
dered in the cold light of reason, but would be unneces-
sarily mixed up with ethical issues. The Mahatma and
his followers, for instance, would not countenance the
boycott of British goods because that would engender
hatred towards the British. Even so intellectual a
personality as the celebrated poetess, Mrs. Sarojini
Naidu, in her speech at the Gaya Congress in Decem-
ber 1922, condemned the Swarajist policy on the
ground that councils were place of ‘Maya’,’ where Con-
gressmen would be tempted by bureaucratic overtures.
And worst of all was the tendency on the part of the

! ‘Maya’ means an illusion or something false that charms and tempts.
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orthodox followers of the Mahatma to regard everything
that he said as gospel truth without reasoning or arguing
and to accept his paper Young India as their Bible.
For a people so prone to mysticism and supernatural-
ism, the only hope of political salvation lies in the
growth of a sane rationalism and in the modernisation
of the material aspect of life. It was therefore distress-
ing to many sober Nationalists to find that through the
conscious or unconscious influence of the Mahatma,
some of the above weak traits in the Indian character
were again becoming prominent. Thus there arose a
rationalist revolt against the Mahatma and his philo-
sophy. As the Swaraj Party headed this revolt, elements
from the Right and from the Left that were tired of the
irrationalism of the Mahatma—were drawn towards it.
Among the Right elements were those who preferred
constitutional action to civil disobedience and the Desha-
bandhu by virtue of his social position and his vocation
as an advocate, was able to command their confidence.
Among the Left elements was the younger generation
of Congressmen who did not find the ideology and
method of the Mahatma to be sufficiently radical for the
modern world and who looked upon the Deshabandhu as
a more radical (or revolutionary) force in Indian poli-
tics. It was the unique personality of Deshabandhu Das
that was able to combine into one party such dissimilar
elements, to wrest the Congress machinery from the
hands of the orthodox ‘No-Changers’ and to carry on
a fight against the bureaucracy on many fronts. But in
his absence, there was no one competent enough to con-
tinue his many-sided activities or to keep together the
diverse elements that composed the Swaraj Party. The
result was that the Swaraj Party remained in power only
so long as the Mahatma did not emerge from his volun-
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tary retirement. When he did emerge in 1929, the
Swarajist leader, Pandit Motilal Nehru, surrendered
without even the show of a fight.

The death of Deshabandhu C. R. Das may be regard-
ed as the beginning of a period of all-round depression
in the country. If Mahatma Gandhi had come out of
his retirement exactly at this juncture, things might
have taken a different course, but unfortunatcly for
India, he did not do so. The Deshabandhu’s personality
was, among other things, a powerful cementing factor
within the Swara) Party and also in the domain
of Hindu-Moslem relations. It served, moreover, to
tone up the attitude of the Party to an extremist pitch.
In his absence, dissensions began to appear within the
Party. 'The most important of these was the revolt of
the Maharashtrian Swarajists led by Mr. M. R. Jayakar
of Bombay and Mr. N. C. Kelkar of Poona. The
Mabharashtrian Swarajists had never fully believed in the
‘uniform, continuous and consistent’ opposition of the
Swaraj Party, but they had nevertheless followed the
Deshabandhu and his policy with unquestionable loyalty.
They believed in the theory of ‘responsive co-operation’
propounded by Lokamanya Tilak at the time of the
Amritsar Congress in December 1919. 'This theory
implied that there should be co-operation with the Gov-
ernment in so far as they adopted measures calculated
to benefit the country, but non-co-operation or opposi-
tion in so far as their policy was harmful to the public
interest. The Maharashtrian Swarajists looked upon
the Deshabandhu as their leader since the time of Loka-
manya’s death and had therefore given their support
and allegiance to his policy, regardless of their personal
views. When Pandit Motilal Nehru assumed the
leadership of the Swaraj Party, differences broke out
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between hdm and his Maharashtrian followers. The
breach gradually widened until in an unlucky moment
the Pandit lost his patience with them and in a fit of
temper, characteristic of him, declared that ‘the diseas-
ed limb (viz. the Maharashtrian group) of the Swara}
Party should be amputated’. This statement so offended
the Maharashtrians that they resolved to sever all con-
nection with the Pandit and the Swaraj Party and to
start the Responsivist Party. Other dissensions also ap-
peared within the Swaraj Party, later on. These deve-
lopments indicated that while Pandit Motilal Nehru had
superior intellectual qualities and a personality that
could draw admiration and respect, he lacked that
emotional appeal which alone can keep a party together
through fair weather and foul.

In the domain of Hindu-Moslem relations, too, the
Deshabandhu was a unifying force. His ‘Bengal Pact’
which had been rejected by the Coconada Congress in
December 1928, but had been ratified by the Provincial
Conference in May 1924, had served to convince
all Moslems that he was their real friend. That such
a man was at the head of the Swaraj Party helped to
rally Moslem support for that Party and as a matter of
fact, the Swaraj Party in the Bengal Legislative Council
had a large number of Moslem members who had been
elected on a basis of separate electorate. With the
death of the Deshabandhu, the Moslem community no
longer retained their former confidence in the Swaraj
Party. Moreover, the political tension created by the
Swaraj Party which had served to hold back the rising
tide of communalism, subsided after his death and the
country was then plunged in intercommunal strife
which usurped the field for about two years. There was
another unfortunate development following the death
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of the Deshabandhu—namely the weakening of the ex-
tremist attitude of the Party. When the Swaraj Party
first came into existence, it had drawn elements both
from the Right and from the Left. During the life-
tine of the leader the Left elements had the upper hand
because he himself belonged to the Left. But in his
absence the Right elements were able to raise their head.
The emergency of intercommunal strife also helped to
bring to the fore people who generally fought shy of
politics and who were averse to doing anything which
involved suffering and sacrifice. In Bengal the Left
Wing was at a disadvantage for some time, because a
large number of Congressmen belonging to that group
were in prison either under Regulation III of 1818 or
under the Bengal Ordinance.

From the middle of 1925 onwards there was a
gradual watering down of the original Swarajist Policy
of undiluted opposition. In June, Pandit Motilal Nehru
accepted a seat on the Skeen Committee appointed by
the Government to report on the Indianisation of the
Army. Not long after this, Mr. S. B. Tambe,' a promi-
nent member of the Swara) Party of the Central Pro-
vinces, accepted an appointment as a member of the
Governor’s Executive Council and this step was ap-
proved of by Mr. N. C. Kelkar and other prominent
Maharashtrian Swarajist leaders. About this time the
Indian Legislative Assembly was given the right of
electing its own President and Mr. Vithalbhai J. Patel,
one of the most thorough-going obstructionists in the
Swaraj Party, stood as a candidate and was duly elected
to this office. Though the acceptance of that office in-
volved a certain amount of co-operation with the

! Mr. Tambe later on became the Acting Governor of the Central Pro-
‘vinces when the Governor went home on leave for some months.
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Government, Mr. Patel performed his functions with
remarkable ability and conspicuous success—so much so
that though he always acted within the limits of the
Constitution and with scrupulous fairness, he came to
be dreaded by the Treasury Benches for his independent
and impartial rulings. The popularity which the
Swara) Party gained during the period of its existence,
was due in no small measure to his work as President.
Working with a wretched Constitution and without any
parliamentary precedents to back him, Mr. Patel was,
nevertheless, able to maintain the rights and privileges
of the members of the House of which he became the
custodian and gave to the Opposition Party and its
leader the status they would be entitled to in a free
country enjoying a democratic Constitution.

In September 1925, the report of the Reforms En-
quiry Committee, better known as the Muddiman Com-
mittee, was placed before the Assembly. The Home
Member, Sir Alexander Muddiman, moved the accept-
ance of the Majority Report of the committee and as
an amendment to that, the Swarajist leader, Pandit
Motilal Nehru, put forward what has been called the
‘National Demand’. The National Demand, as formu-
lated by the Pandit, was the result of a compromise with
non-Swarajist members of the Assembly and represent-
ed the Greatest Common Measure of agreement among
the non-official members. The National Demand was
to the effect that constitutional reforms practically
amounting to the immediate grant of Dominion Status
should be conceded by the British Parliament and that
a Round Table Conference between the British and
Indian representatives should meet in order to discuss
the ways and means for implementing those reforms.
The reply given to the demand by the official spokesman



THE SLUMP 169

in the Assembly at the time and later on by the Viceroy,
amounted to a refusal.

Before the end of the year, Lala Lajpat Rai, joined
the Assembly as a Swarajist and was elected Deputy-
Leader of the Party. About this time the Responsivist
Party, headed by Mr. M. R. Jayakar and Mr. N. C.
Kelkar, the erstwhile Swarajist leaders, was launched.
It differed from the Swara) Party on two main points.
It advocated discriminate opposition, as opposed to the
Swarajist policy of indiscriminate opposition to the Gov-
ernment in the Legislatures. Further, it did not ap-
prove of the pro-Moslem attitude of the Swaraj Party
or of the Indian National Congress and on the contrary,
it allied itself more with the Hindu Mahasabha. The
accentuation of Hindu-Moslem differences in 1925 and
after, threw more Hindu Congressmen into the arms
of the Hindu Mahasabha and the politics of the Hindu
Mahasabha was, generally speaking, identical with that
of the Responsivist Party. Both the Hindu Mahasabha
and the Responsivist Party thought that the Moslem
community by co-operating with the Government was
able to strengthen its position and further its interests,
to the detriment of Hindu interests—while the Indian
National Congress through its policy of indiscriminate
opposition was unable to do anything for the Hindus.
This feeling was strengthened as a result of the conduct
of Mr. (Now Sir) Mian Fazil Hussain, who by accepting
the office of Minister in the Punjab, was able to promote
Moslem interests in that province to the exclusion of
Hindu and Sikh interests. The position of the Hindu
Mahasabha and of the Responsivist Party received fur-
ther support from the Hindu community through the
reactionary and communal attitude adopted by the
Moslem League at its sitting at Aligarh in December
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1925, in which prominent leaders like Moulana Moham-
med Ali, Mr. M. A. Jinnah, Sir Abdul Rahim and Sir
Ali Imam participated.

The next elections to the Legislatures being due in
1926, the 1925 session of the Congress held at Cawnpore
had to decide the attitude to be adopted by the Con-
gress on the occasion. It was considered desirable that
the Indian National Congress should itself take up the
task of running the elections, instead of leaving it to
the Swaraj Party. The Cawnpore Congress, presided
over by Mrs. Sarojini Naidu,' arrived at this decision
without much controversy, because by then the opposi-
tion of the Mahatma and his orthodox followers had
been disarmed, but the question that raised a storm was
as to the policy to be followed in the Legislatures.
Should it be a policy of unmitigated opposition, or non-
co-operation, as originally advocated by the Swaraj
Party, or should it be a policy of discriminate opposition
—or responsive co-operation—as urged by the newly-
formed Responsivist Party? In support of the Swaraj-
ist policy, there stood Pandit Motilal Nehru and Lala
Lajpat Rai, whereas opposed to them were Pandit
M. M. Malaviya, Mr. Jayakar and Mr. Kelkar. The
former won the day but before a year passed, Lala Laj-
pat Rai left the Swarajist fold and together with Pandit
Malaviya® formed the Independent Party which played

' Mrs. Naidu was the second woman to be elected President of the
Congress, the first being Mrs. Besant who presided over the Calcutta Con-
gress, in 1917. A distinguished poetess, she had been closely associated
with the Mahatma in the non-co-operation movement since 1920. She

continues till today as one of his closest adherents and has been a member
of the Congress Working Committee with hardly any break.

? Pandit Malaviya, though a veteran Congressman and an ex-President
of the Congress, did not accept the Swarajist policy. During the period
1928-26, he was a member of the Assembly but did not bhelong to the
Swaraj Party. After the general election of 1926 he continued as an
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the same role in Northern India as the Responsi-
vist Party in Central and Western India. By the time
Lala Lajpat Rai left the Swaraj Party another promi-
nent personality joined the Party. He was Mr. Srini-
vasa Iyengar, former Advocate-General' of Madras and
the leader of the Madras Bar. Mr. Iyengar on being
returned to the Assembly in 1926 was at once elected
Deputy-Leader of the Party and soon after, was elected
President of the 1926 session of the Congress held at
Gauhati in Assam.

The general attitude of the Government after the
death of Deshabandhu Das was on the whole reactionary.
The only exception was in the matter of the abolition of
the Excise Duty, which welcome event took place in
December 1925. The Excise Duty was first imposed as
a tax on Indian mill-made cloth in 1894. The osten-
sible object of this duty was to obtain revenue for the
Government but the real object was to help the British
textile industry, which did not view with equanimity
the growth of an indigenous textile industry in India.
Though since 1916 the duty on textile imports had been
kept at a higher level than the Excise Duty on Indian
mill products, the latter was keenly resented by Indian
Nationalists and especially by the Indian business com-
munity. The abolition of the duty was therefore meant
as a sop to the Indian textile interests. Beyond this
Act, no other friendly gesture was made by the Gov-
ernment of India or in England. The Labour Party,
however, made a friendly move by adopting the Com-
monwealth of India Bill drafted by Mrs. Besant for
Independent, The change in the politics of Lala Lajpat Rai was due to
the Hindu-Moslem tension in the Punjab and the influeace of the Hindu
Mahasabha.

! The position of the Advocate-General of Madras would correspond to
the position of the Solicitor-General in England.
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conferring Home Rule on India and authorised Mr.
George Lansbury to introduce it as a Private Bill in the
House of Commons. The Bill received its first reading
in December 1925, but it proved to be still-born. Never-
theless, it had some value as a gesture.

The history of 1926 is largely a history of Hindu-
Moslem strife. As happens everywhere, the slacken-
ing of the Nationalist movement diverted the energies
of the people to internal questions and disputes. The
abolition of the Khalifate by the Turks in 1924 led many
of the Nationalist Moslems in India to give up the Khila-
fat movement and to divert their whole attention to the
Nationalist cause. But some of the Nationalists as well
as the more reactionary Moslems continued to keep up
the Khilafat Committees, as Moulana Shaukat Ali did
in Bombay, and where that was not possible, they start-
ed other organisations of a sectarian and reactionary
character, under different names. This reactionary
movement among the Moslems called forth a similar
reactionary movement among the Hindus and branches
of the Hindu Mahasabha began to grow up all over
the country. The Hindu Mahasabha, like its Moslem
counterpart, consisted not only of erstwhile Nation-
alists, but also of a large number of men who were
afraid of participating in a political movement and
wanted a safer platform for themselves. The growth of
sectarian movements among both Hindus and Moslems
acc